

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Core Subject Area Vocabulary Instructional Strategies for Middle School English Language Learners

Tiffany N. Waller Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Curriculum and Instruction Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Tiffany Nadine Waller

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Billie Andersson, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Anastasia Metros, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Cheryl Burleigh, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2022

Abstract

Core Subject Area Vocabulary Instructional Strategies for Middle School English

Language Learners

by

Tiffany Nadine Waller

MA, Winston-Salem State University, 2010

BS, Winston-Salem State University, 1997

Submitted in Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

August 2022

Abstract

Academic vocabulary is one of the most important skills needed in language learning, but it may be difficult for students whose native language is not English. The purpose of this qualitative study is to investigate how classroom core subject teachers at Middle School 55 (pseudonym) perceive their ability to implement specific instructional model strategies to support explicit academic vocabulary building for ELL students. This study was grounded in Becker and Engelmann's direct instruction framework for effective and efficient teaching and involved providing research-based principles for teachers supporting ELLs in middle school who are developing academic vocabulary skills. Openended semistructured interviews were used to collect data about strategies being implemented by teachers at Middle School 55 to support the academic vocabulary and language development of ELL students in their classrooms. Twelve sixth through eighthgrade teachers who teach ELL students participated in this study. Data were transcribed, coded, and analyzed for emerging themes which included teachers' beliefs in their need to support scaffolding instruction and guided practice to support academic vocabulary building for ELLs and professional development and training. Findings show there is a need for teachers to have more professional development to gain useful and effective strategies and instruction for vocabulary development. The results from this study may contribute to positive social change by helping middle school teachers develop a link between academic and content-specific and evidence-based practices that will increase ELL students' academic vocabulary acquisition skills.

Core Subject Area Vocabulary Instructional Strategies for Middle School English

Language Learners

by

Tiffany Nadine Waller

MA, Winston-Salem State University, 2010

BS, Winston-Salem State University, 1997

Submitted in Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

August 2022

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to the memory of my mother and father, Roger and Shirley Waller. They both believed in me and my ability to do remarkable things. Although they were my inspiration to pursue my doctoral degree, they were unable to see my graduation. This is for them. Thank you to my doctorate chair, who guided me in this process, and the committee who supported me as well.

Acknowledgments

This project would not have been possible without the support of many people. Many thanks to my chair, Dr. Billie Andersson, who read my numerous revisions and helped me stay motivated and understand the process. Thank you, Dr. Andersson, for providing me with extensive personal and professional guidance. Also, thanks to my committee members, Dr. Cheryl Burleigh and Dr. Metros, who offered direction and support.

Thanks to Walden University for providing academic advisors who supported and continued to help whenever needed. And finally, thanks again to my parents, brother, and numerous friends who endured this long process with me, always offering support and love. I am grateful for Dr. Grant, Dr. Pitts, and Dr. Horton, who have helped with countless editing. I am thankful to all of those with whom I have had the pleasure to work during this project. Thank you to everyone who has supported my career goals and worked actively to provide me with the protected academic time to pursue those goals.

List of Tables	V
Section 1: The Problem	1
Definition of the Local Problem	3
Rationale	7
Evidence of the Problem at the Local Level	7
Evidence of the Problem from the Professional Literature	8
Definition of Terms	9
Significance of the Study	11
Research Questions	12
Review of the Literature	12
Conceptual Framework	133
Academic Vocabulary Instruction for English Language Learners	19
Research on ELL Students' Perspectives of Learning Experiences	29
Educator Preparation and Beliefs	32
Implications	35
Summary	37
Section 2: The Methodology	41
Methodology Overview	41
Qualitative Research Design and Approach	41
Description of the Qualitative Tradition	42
Justification for Research Design	43
Population and Sample	46

Table of Contents

Number of Participants Justification	
Establishing Rapport	
Participants' Rights and Protections	50
Data Collection	
Data Collection Instrumentation	53
Sufficiency of Data Collection	54
Role of the Researcher	58
Data Analysis	
A Priori Coding of Interview Data	59
Open Coding of Interview Data	60
Axial Coding of Interview Data	61
Evidence of Quality of Procedures	
Discrepant Cases	
Assumptions	64
Data Analysis Results	64
Review Process for Data	65
Procedures to Ensure Accuracy and Credibility of Findings	68
Themes and Descriptions	
Findings from RQ1	
Findings from RQ2	
Discrepant Cases	86
Evidence of Quality	87
Conclusion	87

Section 3: The Project	91
Theoretical Foundation	91
Project Rationale	92
Review of the Literature	93
Phonological and Phonemic Awareness	
Explicit Vocabulary Instruction	
Teacher Preparedness	
Project Reflection	102
Project Outline	102
Day 1: Language Acquisition	102
Day 2: Identifying Research-Based Vocabulary Instruction for ELLs	104
Day 3: Modeling of Research-Based Vocabulary Instruction for ELLs	105
Project Implications	106
Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions	108
Introduction	108
Project Strengths and Limitations	
Strengths	108
Limitations	110
Recommendations for Alternative Approaches	111
Scholarship, Project Development, and Leadership and Change	112
Scholarship	112
Project Development	112
Leadership and Change	114

Reflection on the Importance of the Work	115
Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research	116
Implications for Social Change	116
Applications	117
Directions for Future Research	118
Conclusion	119
References	121
Appendix A: The Project	159
Appendix B: Interview Protocol	178

List of Tables

Table 1.	Middle So	chool 55 ELL	Content Area	a Vocabulary	Assessments	2018-2019	5
Table 2.	Codes and	d Themes and	l Occurrences	from the Inte	erviews		71

Section 1: The Problem

The implicit goal for American English Language Learners (ELLs) is building academic vocabulary and fluency in academic and social contexts. Developing academic vocabulary skills is essential for language learning (Chen et al., 2021); however, ELLs continue to struggle with content area academic vocabulary acquisition (Ferlazzo & Sypnieski, 2018). Students must understand the core components of vocabulary and develop effective strategies, especially for technical academic vocabulary (Faraj & Kiliç, 2018). As they acquire language, ELL students may transition through five stages, from a preproduction silent period to performing with proficiency in their content area classes (Paradis, 2016). According to Malone (2018), the language success of ELL students ultimately depends on effective instruction for academic vocabulary acquisition, which requires language learners to be able to make connections between academic and contentspecific academic vocabulary words.

Additionally, Hunt and Feng (2016) said effective academic vocabulary instruction for ELLs should include incidental learning experiences and provide students opportunities to use content area academic vocabulary consistently. Teachers may lack the training to plan and implement effective targeted content area academic vocabulary instructional practices for ELL students (Correll, 2016). Targeted instruction involves systematic methods that help identify and support students' critical needs (Baecher et al., 2016). Teachers often do not understand how to provide appropriate targeted instruction or strategies to help ELL students develop their content area academic vocabulary skills for content knowledge (Irby et al., 2018). When ELL students have trouble with content

area academic vocabulary, comprehension is affected; they will likely not understand what they are reading in their language arts, science, social studies, or math classes (Haager & Osipova, 2017). Krashen (2015) said students need exposure to language that is both incidental and purposeful. ELL students are faced with learning new words and being able to use them appropriately (Krashen, 2015). They gain some word knowledge but may not be able to monitor their abilities to use words in different contexts. Without the appropriate supportive targeted instruction, gaps in content area academic vocabulary knowledge between ELLs and their peers will continue to widen (Richards-Tutor et al., 2016). ELL content area academic vocabulary development and monitoring skills can be enhanced by using targeted practices such as: supporting word consciousness, teaching word parts, use of context to include meaning and demonstrating self-check activities (Haager & Osipova, 2017). Word consciousness involves awareness of words and meanings and observing when and how to use new words. The strategy of teaching word parts can be effective because it teaches students how to break complex words into smaller parts to help recognize words, decipher words swiftly and accurately, and understand the meaning of words. Also, adding context means supporting the reader with a background picture of the vocabulary. Students use self-checking strategies during or after an academic task to review and check assignments using their vocabulary knowledge of the common errors they often make. While research has shown there are more successful ways than concentrating on learning word meanings and structure to support ELLs in the classroom, few studies have explored roadblocks that prevent ELLs from adequately developing content area academic vocabulary skills after implementing

targeted instruction. This chapter discusses the local problem, the rationale for the study, the definition of terms, and the study's significance.

Definition of the Local Problem

The problem explored through this study is that content area teachers (math, social studies, and science) at Middle School 55 (pseudonym), part of the Salem Public School District (pseudonym), are struggling to implement specific instructional model strategies to support explicit content area academic vocabulary building for ELL students. Teachers need more meaningful professional development focusing on best practices for teaching academic vocabulary to ELLs in content areas (Cirocki & Farrell, 2019). By improving their instruction, teachers may effectively promote students' content area academic vocabulary development by using specific techniques that help students make relevant connections between familiar and unfamiliar content area academic vocabulary (Stoller & Grabe, 2018). Moreover, core subject teachers need strategies to increase student engagement, time on task, and content area academic vocabulary coverage (Irby et al., 2018). Content area teachers must also provide specific academic vocabulary content scaffolding instruction and address different forms of academic vocabulary knowledge to offer instruction for ELL academic vocabulary building (Irby et al., 2018). The development of effective teaching practices should involve instructional strategies that are specific to the content area academic vocabulary development of ELLs.

The problem is documented via results from core subject teachers' content area academic vocabulary assessments at Middle School 55 during the 2018-2019 school year (see Table 1). Table 1 shows that ELL students are currently at 60% mastery and below on unit content area academic vocabulary assessments in all three core subject areas. This percentage is well below the district-established standard student mastery of 75%. To provide teachers with evidence-based strategies and resources for their ELL students, a professional development training session for Sheltered Instruction Protocol Observation (SIOP) was offered for a half-day at the beginning of the year. The Sheltered Instruction Observation Protocol is a teaching framework based on decades of research on best practices to provide teachers with strategies to help ELLs learn in a mainstream classroom. However, core subject area teachers at Middle School 55 expressed concern that SIOP training was not grade-level or core subject-specific. Furthermore, teachers felt that one training session was insufficient to support their efforts to provide effective instruction for ELLs. Lack of training opportunities causes teachers' knowledge of needed ELL instructional strategies for math, social studies, and science and their abilities to provide high-quality learning experiences for students whose first language is not English. Classroom core subject teachers are still challenged with implementing a specific instructional model that outlines direct instruction strategies that are particular to ELL students' core subject academic outcomes. Based on informal walkthroughs and snapshot visits, the assistant principal acknowledged a lack of consistency in how teachers integrated explicit English content area academic vocabulary instructional strategies in core subject area classrooms for ELLs at Middle School 55. Without professional development to facilitate their knowledge of effective instructional strategies for ELLs, classroom core subject teachers at Middle School 55 are struggling to implement specific instructional model strategies to support explicit academic content

area academic vocabulary building for ELL students in math, science, and social studies. By analyzing this local problem, teaching strategies and resources can be identified so that content area teachers can move toward creating more effective instructional plans for ELL students.

Table 1

Grade	Math Mastery Science Mastery		Social Studies Mastery	
	Percentage	Percentage	Percentage	
8	32.8%	60.0%	37.5%	
7	43.1%	27.2%	43.8%	
6	36.5%	37.8%	38.1%	

Middle School 55 ELL Content Area Vocabulary Assessments 2018-2019

Evidence of the problem is also documented in the Middle School 55 Report Card showing overall school letter grades. The North Carolina School Report Card, using A-F grading scale, was adopted in 2001 under the federal Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) (North Carolina Department of Public Instruction [NCDPI], 2019). The school report contains information about schools in North Carolina, including school performance grades, student academic growth, how prepared students are when they enter schools, and other measures such as grade-level proficiency and success predictions that may be valuable when exploring this problem. The school report card shows that Middle School 55's ELLs received letter grades in math, science, and social studies that ranged from D to F, and overall performance letter grades that ranged from C to D during the 2014–2019 school years (Middle School 55, 2019b). ELLs in this district make up 27% of the student population (NCDPI, 2019). Although district administrators verbalized the need for useful strategies in teaching and reaching ELL students, there are still discrepancies in their education, second language acquisition, and communication obstacles.

ELL students still did not meet the district and state standards for end-of-grade (EOG) assessments for 2018-2019 in science, social studies, and math. Assessments data from NCDPI (2019) show that 21% of students at Middle School 55 are grade-level proficient in math, 38% are proficient in science, and 21% are proficient in social studies. The performance of ELLs on the state assessment test showed a gap of 20-40% when compared to students not classified as ELLs (NCDPI, 2019.)

Currently, the Salem Public School District does not require subject area teacher certification in ELLs; only teachers that teach English as a second language are adequately trained to teach ELLs. They recently announced the intent to prioritize professional development for providing useful content area-specific instructional strategies that support ELLs' development of content area vocabulary; however, there have been no professional development workshops offered to date for subject area teachers. The one workshop scheduled for the year, English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL), was created specifically for ELLs, not subject area teachers. The district also offers training opportunities in subjects such as reteaching vocabulary concepts, using graphic organizers to dissect vocabulary, and using native language to help students understand second language vocabulary. Trainings are designed to offer research-based strategies that will help subject area teachers when they are teaching academic vocabulary, though trainings are neither mandatory nor specific to the needs of ELLs. Lack of professional development opportunities in terms of how to meet the needs of ELLs as they struggle to develop academic content area vocabulary has led to a further disconnect between teachers and their knowledge of research-based instructional practices. Even though there has been district one-day ESOL training for ELL teachers, as well as changes in terms of curriculum, assessment, and standards, there are still direct concerns at Middle School 55 for discipline areas teachers who do not receive adequate training. According to a district survey, content area teachers who provide academic vocabulary instruction for ELL suggested a need for more effective instructional strategies and resources than are currently being provided. Moreover, content area teachers indicated on the survey that district-developed word-to-word dictionaries for students provided little support in terms of addressing their needs. Teachers who are conscious of ELL students' needs to improve academic language fluency in English may be better equipped to help those students succeed academically (National Council of Teachers of English, 2020).

Rationale

Evidence of the Problem at the Local Level

This study was intended to investigate the perceptions of classroom core subject teachers about their ability to implement specific instructional model strategies to support direct content area academic vocabulary building for ELL students. Content area teachers in secondary classrooms and university teachers have pointed to a lack of knowledge and limited training about ELL strategies as primary reasons why they have not been able to adequately support ELLs in content areas (Siebert et al., 2016). Low achievement scores in core subjects have prompted this investigation into types of direct instructional strategies core subject teachers implement in their classrooms to support academic content area academic vocabulary needs of ELLs. This study used a basic qualitative research design to understand how classroom core subject teachers are executing specific instructional model strategies to support direct instruction in academic content area vocabulary building for ELL students. Responses to interview questions will help determine if and how core subject teachers at the study school are using direct instructional strategies to support academic content area academic vocabulary instruction in classroom core subject areas. Furthermore, I highlight gaps in instructional practices that may be impeding student learning, particularly as they relate to the extent to which core subject area teachers in the school know effective instructional practices for ELLs. The problem that was explored in this study is that classroom core subject teachers at Middle School 55 are struggling to implement specific instructional model strategies to support direct instruction academic vocabulary building for ELL students. Subject content area secondary school teachers are unfamiliar with how to support academic vocabulary development among their ELLs (Hellman, 2018).

Evidence of the Problem from the Professional Literature

The development of academic vocabulary knowledge is key to success in academic subjects, including science, social studies, and mathematics (Kessler et al., 2018). The importance of academic vocabulary in terms of academic success is clear. However, less appears to be known about how content area teachers can help support academic vocabulary development among their ELLs. Discipline area academic vocabulary knowledge is essential to reading and academic achievement (Gibson, 2106). Many teachers dedicate little time to intensive discipline area instruction in this area because they may lack relevant sound and pedagogical knowledge (Newton, 2018). Although challenging, teachers play a perilous role in supporting language development, which they need to help students learn and use language features connected with academic discourse.

Definition of Terms

The following terms are used throughout the study to clearly understand its scope. *Core subjects:* Traditional academic subject areas such as English language arts, reading, mathematics, the sciences, and history/social studies (Cirocki & Farrell, 2019).

Direct instruction: Research-based teaching strategy that includes well-developed lessons that have been planned and built around short learning increments. Learning activities have been explicitly outlined (Engelmann, 1980).

English language learners (ELLs): The term may be used to describe a diverse group of students with varying language and academic needs (Colorin Colorado, 2019). This may include students who are not fluent speakers of the English language and students who have basic communication skills but struggle with content area academic vocabulary (Renaissance, 2020).

Explicit instruction: Meticulous and strategic teaching of skills or concepts to students using structured techniques (Hughes et al., 2018). Instruction is teacher-led and

standards-based, with objectives that have been clearly established prior to the teaching and learning process (Hughes et al., 2018). The term explicit is related to instructional practices that have been definitively established in terms of planning and delivery (Clayton County Schools, 2021).

Professional development: Topic-specific training used to increase the knowledge and effectiveness of administrators, teachers, and nonlicensed personnel through sharing of common theories and research-based strategies involving curriculum, instruction, and learning (National Education Association [NEA], 2019).

Sheltered Instruction Protocol Observation (SIOP): A professional development model that helps teachers plan and deliver lessons that allow English learners to acquire academic knowledge as they develop English language proficiency (Koura & Zahran, 2017).

Scaffold instruction: A process through which a teacher adds support for students to enhance learning and aid in the mastery of tasks (Schall-Leckrone, 2018). As used in construction and development fields, the term scaffolding refers to support mechanisms as workers complete their job assignments. In the classroom setting, scaffolding is use of supportive resources and strategies that increase students' abilities to successfully complete assignments (Northern Illinois Center for Teaching and Learning, 2012).

Significance of the Study

This study may be significant in terms of understanding how gaps in teachers' use of specific instructional model strategies impact the academic vocabulary development of ELLs at a local level. Findings could be used to address teachers' knowledge and implementation of specific instructional model strategies. The findings of this study might also contribute to adopting a specific academic vocabulary instructional model for content subject area teachers to expand their understanding, skills, and confidence in providing effective teaching for ELLs. These findings may contribute to teachers developing a greater knowledge of specific strategies that help students meet mastery and proficiency standards. This project study may also contribute to the field of academic vocabulary instruction for ELLs in middle schools and subsequently lead to the development of a curriculum that supports teacher improvement and student success.

Results may lead to instructional practices which can be used by middle school teachers that may strengthen content academic vocabulary instruction for ELLs in core subject areas, as measured by local and state assessments. This present study may provide an original contribution to the field of English language teaching and learning, both locally and nationally, by offering specific perspectives regarding how to implement specific instructional model strategies to support direct instruction academic vocabulary building for ELL students. Academic vocabulary is the most critical area in need of development with ELL students (Brandes & McMaster, 2017). Core subject area teachers must be able to provide middle school ELLs with useful explicit academic vocabulary to increase their knowledge and be able to apply meaning in content areas (Gallagher et al., 2019). The findings of the study may contribute to a positive social change by identifying useful academic vocabulary instructional strategies that promote academic vocabulary development of ELL students and enhance teachers' self-reliance and abilities to provide consistent content area academic vocabulary instruction for ELL students. The ELL

population continues to grow both nationally (NCES, 2020) and locally, with the school district among the top three districts in the state with the largest ELL student populations. Although research studies support the need for useful strategies in teaching and reaching ELL students, there is a need to investigate the perceptions of classroom core subject teachers in terms of how they are implementing specific instructional model strategies to support direct academic vocabulary building for ELL students.

Research Questions

The study involved investigating perceptions of classroom core subject teachers regarding their ability to implement specific instructional model strategies to support direct academic vocabulary building for ELL students.

This basic qualitative study was guided by two research questions (RQs):

RQ1: How do core subject area teachers at Middle School 55 effectively implement teaching strategies to support ELL students' academic vocabulary acquisition, retention, and application in math, social studies, and science?

RQ2: What academic resources do core subject teachers perceive they need to effectively provide explicit academic vocabulary instruction for ELLs?

Review of the Literature

This doctoral project study investigated perceptions of classroom core subject teachers at Middle School 55 about how they implement specific instructional model strategies to support direct academic vocabulary acquisition for ELL students. An extensive review of the current literature was conducted to gain perspectives on how core subject teachers feel about their challenges involving implementing specific instructional model strategies to support direct academic vocabulary building for ELL students. The literature review is organized into two sections focusing on the conceptual framework and articles that support the need for the development of English language skills through core subject area academic vocabulary knowledge, and professional development as it applies to middle school students. To accomplish this literature review, I read peer-reviewed journal articles and reviewed research-based strategies, college textbooks, and other journal articles which were identified via the following databases over a 4-year period from 2016 to 2020: EBSCOHost, Education Research, Eric, ProQuest, and SAGE Journals. The following keywords were used in this review: *academic vocabulary for ELLs, core subject academic vocabulary instruction, best practices for ELLs, instructional practices for ELLs, teacher development, explicit instruction, direct instruction, ESL strategies, ELLs in the content area and core subject teachers' perspectives on ELL academic vocabulary learning.*

Conceptual Framework

The framework for this study was Becker and Engelmann's (1973a, 1973b) direct instruction model for effective and explicit teaching. Since Becker and Engelmann's effective and explicit teaching model provides research-based principles for teachers of all grade levels, teachers in Middle School 55 may benefit from using it with ELL students who are developing academic vocabulary skills. Bereiter and Engelmann (1966) initially designed explicit instruction, which became known as the direct instruction model for teaching to create equitable learning opportunities for children from lowincome families. Engelmann (1999) said poor instruction was at the core of student learning failure. Becker and Engelmann (1973b) said students who received direct instruction from effective teachers showed significant gains in reading as opposed to students who did not receive the same quality of instruction. Engelmann (2015) said a school in Nebraska grew in proficiency from 39% of ELLs meeting standards to 57% after using direct instruction.

The terms direct instruction and explicit instruction are often used interchangeably, referring to a specific teaching method. For the purposes of this study, the term direct instruction was used to explain or discuss the model of instruction as it relates to best practices for teaching ELLs. Direct instruction is compartmentalized into several instructional/assessment components, including planning and design, delivery and management, and evaluation/assessment (Engelmann, 1980). This type of instruction has been occasionally called systematic, explicit, or active teaching (Hackathorn et al., 2011; Kenny, 1980; O'Reilly et al., 1992; Rosenshine, 1986). Direct instruction originated mainly from curriculum development. The original direct instructional system for teaching and remediation (DISTAR) was used to provide students with a structured sequence of instructional tasks that were clearly defined so that the chances of students misinterpreting information would be eliminated (Becker & Engelmann, 1978). Eventually, DISTAR became simply known as direct instruction.

The purpose of direct instruction has changed since the model was first introduced in the field of education. Becker and Engelmann (1978) said social mobility was largely determined by students' abilities to read as well as their acclimation into societies in which they lived. Instructional time should be modeled after common practices embedded in many communities, where teachers establish a time for skills development and set additional time to allow students to explore other activities (Engelmann et al., 1988). Students with more diverse interests were more likely to become and remain more successful learners (Becker & Engelmann, 1978). It involves the use of small-group and face-to-face teaching by teachers using cautiously articulated lessons in which reasoning skills are broken down into small units, sequenced purposefully, and taught explicitly (Engelmann, 1999). Nisbet and Tindall (2015) said the direct instruction model involves skills development, and instructional practices are teacher-directed.

According to Becker and Engelmann (1978), there are six research-based principles and functions that have proven effective for structuring meaningful academic vocabulary connections throughout the academic year: optimizing engaged time/time on task, promoting high levels of success, increasing content coverage, scaffolding instruction, more time in instructional groups, and addressing different forms of knowledge. A sequence of supports or scaffolds characterizes the direct instruction model's principles, with guidance in how students are directed through the learning process with a clear understanding of objectives and rationales for learning (Engelmann, 1999). Students are given clear explanations, modeling, and supported practice with feedback until independent mastery has been accomplished (Becker, 1977). Mastery is determined via progress monitoring and benchmarks included in the model.

Mastery learning is an important part of the direct instruction model. However, explicit curriculum planning, and effective lesson planning and delivery are the foundation for the model (Becker & Engelmann, 1978). Teaching methods included teaching in small mini-lessons with student practice following each mini-lesson, scaffolding students through initial practice, and guaranteeing that all students are engaged in a high level of successful practice (Carnine et al., 1988). The direct instruction model emphasizes teacher instruction's effectiveness rather than deficits children may have.

There are differences that separate direct instruction from other models of explicit instruction, such as the SIOP model. Direct instruction emphasizes curriculum design and effective instructional implementation (Becker & Engelmann, 1978). Moreover, it provides an explicit and structured approach to language instruction that effectively supports children with language deficits, including students with disabilities and ELLs (Becker & Engelmann, 1973a, 1978). There are more opportunities for students who struggle with language to actively engage in the learning process by learning academic vocabulary concepts and developing their language skills.

Rosenshine and Stevens (1986) described direct instruction as a successful teaching model for teaching any content area, including reading, science, social studies, or mathematics. According to Rosenshine and Stevens, direct instruction involves how students generalize from prior knowledge and understanding to new concepts and skills. Direct instruction consists of sequencing classroom tasks for students and how teachers facilitate students through those tasks (Stockard et al., 2018). Explicit lessons include a multifaceted system of scripted conversations, questions, and signals in which students provide varying responses during extended and interactive activities (Rosenshine &

Stevens, 1986). Professional and explicitly scripted lesson plans that reduce laborious preparation tasks allow teachers to be more productive.

Another area of focus was teacher-student response, where teachers offer frequent signals and students respond to gather mastery. Lessons that target specific skills are also at the core of the direct instruction model (Hammond & Moore, 2018). Additionally, appropriate pacing involves students being taught lessons in small segments and assessing and practicing material taught in those short sessions. These assessments must be appropriate to allow differential corrective feedback. Direct instruction involves drill and practice, supporting student engagement in terms of learning processes with direct teaching, guided practice, and relevant activities (Engelmann et al., 1988). Active engagement and high-impact teaching are essential.

Although there are six principles of the framework, only three principles were used for this study: The first principle, optimizing time on task by delivery with models and demonstrations, involves teachers establishing appropriate responses by performing desired behaviors during instructional periods and explaining to students why responses are appropriate. Teachers use a show (modeling) and tell (explaining) model to guide students through processing and applying information to successfully complete a task (Hughes et al., 2017). The second principle is scaffolding instruction, during which teachers provide support to students using guided practice. Breaking learning tasks into smaller units helps students process information at once. Keshavarz and Taherian (2018) said using a chunk-by-chunk rather than a word-by-word approach is more effective when teaching ELLs how to use language correctly. Chunk-by-chunk activities allow students to break difficult words or text into sections that help them to gather meaning by using surrounding contextual clues, whereas word-by-word activities focus on words in isolation, making the meaning more difficult. ELLs working in instructional groups can receive more individualized support as they work towards learning new academic vocabulary with intensive teacher support (Casey et al., 2018). Using instructional groups allows teachers to gradually shift students from full support toward independent performance.

Once they transition from instructional group support to independent performance, students can demonstrate proficiency in terms of academic vocabulary through oral and written expression (Hunt & Feng, 2016). Freeman (2017) described the gradual release approach as teachers and students working together to complete a portion of a task and students being given the responsibility to complete the rest of the task independently. T, Al-Ghazo (2016) said direct instruction helps ELL students expand their knowledge of academic vocabulary as well as read for comprehension. Gallagher et al. (2019) said middle school ELLs did not demonstrate significant improvements in word knowledge when incidental teaching was used, demonstrating the importance of direct academic vocabulary instruction to support learning new words. One of the challenges currently faced by secondary teachers is how to meet the learning needs of ELL students with limited vocabularies that prevent them from accessing academic content (Soland & Sandilos, 2021). The complexity of text and content-specific academic vocabulary demonstrates the importance of teachers providing direct academic vocabulary instruction; moreover, students need to be taught evidence-based strategies that will allow them to independently learn new academic vocabulary (Swanson et al., 2017). Examples of strategies that may be beneficial when teaching academic vocabulary to ELL students include preteaching academic vocabulary concepts and peer collaborations (Denne, 2017), using technology to find and review definitions of academic vocabulary terms (Hilgenkamp, 2019), and visual supports (United States Census Bureau, 2020).

Finding specific methods to support ELLs as they develop their academic vocabulary skills is the basis for this study. Becker and Engelmann's direct instruction model was chosen to frame this research because identifying and using evidence-based instructional practices in content area classrooms could possibly meet ELL students' needs and increase achievement. When ELL students are learning a new language, direct teaching provides them with the best learning opportunities (Le-Thi et al., 2017). Direct instruction has served as the basis for ELL-focused programs and models, including sheltered instruction (SI), content-based instruction (CBI), and dual immersion. Within these programs, teachers and researchers look for effective practices that meet the needs of ELL students.

Academic Vocabulary Instruction for English Language Learners

The literature review provides an opportunity to explore the development of English language skills through core subject area academic vocabulary knowledge as it applies to middle school students. Literature, including scholarship on the direct instruction framework for effective and efficient teaching, may support future research in terms of identifying specific academic vocabulary strategies that will help core area teachers support the academic vocabulary growth of middle school ELL students. Also, Ostayan (2016) said as elementary students' level of language academic vocabulary proficiency increased, so did their assessment outcomes, underscoring the need for specific academic vocabulary strategies for ELLs in middle school.

Academic Vocabulary Development

To be successful in language learning, ELLs must develop a strong academic vocabulary foundation. ELLs are challenged with the arduous task of learning a second language, building an academic vocabulary foundation for the language, and striving to meet grade level expectations (Gibson, 2016). As students learn new languages, their success largely depends on their ability to acquire content-area academic vocabulary to experience academic success (Brandes & McMaster, 2017). An effective curriculum is one that emphasizes improving instructional strategies by targeting academic vocabulary concepts specifically for ELLs; this will support their ability to make connections with text (Ardasheva et al., 2019). ELLs have limited or no success accessing content area curriculum without a firm grasp of content area academic vocabulary (Crosson & Moore, 2017).

Because students at the secondary level are expected to have acquired basic reading skills in elementary school, emphasis on explicit academic vocabulary instruction cannot be understated, particularly for ELLs who are struggling readers. ELLs have a better chance of academic success as they become more proficient with their academic vocabulary skills (Jackson et al., 2017). Direct strategies such as interactive word walls that use graphic organizers or data tables and highlight connections between academic vocabulary and concepts can increase students' ability to learn and successfully use academic language (Jackson et al., 2107). Rasinski et al. (2017) supported that inadequate knowledge of content area academic vocabulary may result in gaps in students' learning as they attempt to build new knowledge. As students encounter content area academic vocabulary primarily in the school setting, it is the educator's task to help students master new academic vocabulary while teaching content knowledge.

There is a link between ELL students and content-area classes where the students find limited academic vocabulary knowledge as a hurdle when learning. Putra (2016) supported that in the ELL context, academic vocabulary supports the four language skills of listening, speaking, reading, and writing. Putra (2016) suggested strategies focused on language acquisition and the academic vocabulary language learning process. Meaning-focused input, planned learning, and fluency activities are proposed strategies useful for academic vocabulary development of ELLs (Putra, 2016, p. 187). Nushi and Jenabzadeh (2016) supported that focusing on direct strategies that allow ELL students to learn academic vocabulary in context is most beneficial. Teaching strategies involving using content academic vocabulary instruction textbooks with themes and passages evolved around real-world ideas and tools that allow ELLs to connect new information to prior knowledge was proven very helpful in their research.

Content Area Academic Vocabulary

In the past, students in middle grades have struggled in their abilities to read and comprehend texts, resulting in frustration that causes them to lose interest in and disconnect from learning (Protacio, 2017). At the elementary level (K-6), teachers reported using the SIOP model with fidelity to provide instruction for their ELLs, pulling in differentiated instruction methods to help bridge learning gaps in their core content area classes. However, no consistent efforts have been reported at the middle school level to identify and implement strategies such as direct academic vocabulary instruction to improve the academic experiences of their ELL students. There is also a need for supportive instructional practices for middle and high school English learners to access grade-level content academic vocabulary, become proficient speakers of the language, acquire new vocabularies, and advance their ability to reading for clarity and understanding (Peercy et al., 2019). Babinski et al. (2018) found a positive correlation between high-quality, consistent professional training and teachers' use of research-based resources and strategies designed specifically to support ELLs' academic vocabulary development and increase their literacy outcomes. The results of the study indicated that teachers who had participated in professional development were able to implement the instructional strategies with a high level of fidelity. The study is relevant to this project study as it supports that teachers need high-impact instructional strategies for ELLs to show significant academic vocabulary growth in their English language and literacy skills.

Improving direct academic vocabulary instruction is a fundamental element of academic language and literacy acquisition for ELL students (Abbas, 2017). Helping identify similar strategies for this study and draw conclusions that will be used to inform teacher instruction and practices (Kim et al., 2018). One such method was discussed in

the research of Iqbal and Komal (2017), who examined how the Academic vocabulary Knowledge Scale could be used to support ELL's language acquisition. Because this current study on exploring core subject area academic vocabulary instructional strategies for middle school English learners will use the direct instruction framework for effective and efficient teaching theory as a framework, Iqbal and Komal's (2017) exploration of activities that aid in the academic vocabulary enrichment of middle school ELL students will provide additional support for this research. In addition to the Academic vocabulary Knowledge Scale, Kirby teamed with other researchers in a study focusing on different ways middle-grade science teachers implemented ESL strategies using observation protocol (Kirby & Bowers, 2018). The writers emphasized the importance of teachers creating opportunities for ELL students to learn content-specific academic vocabulary. In their study findings concerning the education of ELLs, Johnston et al. (2018) suggested that incorporating more academic vocabulary instruction strategies has positive effects on reading, particularly when teachers generate strategies on academic vocabulary acquisition and function, use academic vocabulary to develop knowledge and become masters at utilizing academic vocabulary to improve reading. ELLs must receive explicit instruction that helps them develop their reading comprehension skills, such as using the context to establish meaning and finding text-based evidence to support any conclusions they have drawn after reading content-specific text (Braden et al., 2016; Lindahl, 2019). Being able to target those key components will allow teachers to provide more effective academic vocabulary instruction.

Direct exposure to content-area academic vocabulary is essential to the success of ELLs in the classroom. When deciding which words to teach ELLs, teachers should base their decisions on words found in academic and domain-specific contexts (Richards-Tutor et al., 2016). Using embedded academic vocabulary has also been suggested, where students are consistently exposed to user-friendly definitions of target academic vocabulary words (August, 2018). This could occur during incidental use of academic vocabulary, particularly when students produce oral language. Walqui and Heritage (2018) suggested that teachers pay attention to oral language usage to identify opportunities to introduce new terminology. For example, suppose ELL students use certain words or phrases multiple times during an oral exchange. In that case, the teacher can introduce alternative words that the student can add to their academic vocabulary (Walqui & Heritage, 2018). If students use a word incorrectly, teachers should immediately intervene to provide correction and explanation of correct terminology (Walqui & Heritage, 2018).

Academic Vocabulary Learning Strategies

Academic vocabulary learning strategies are not developed in isolation, as academic vocabulary learning strategies are interwoven with linguistic learning strategies. Wright and Cervetti (2017) conducted a study that reviewed academic vocabulary interventions that impact reading comprehension. When students are taught academic word meanings, they are better able to read and understand those texts that contain the academic words they have learned. Actively engaging students as they are learning new content academic vocabulary was determined to be more effective for
supporting the comprehension of texts containing academic words than having students only write definitions of the words. According to Viswanathan and Sultana (2019), English as a second language and English as a Foreign Language, Indian students find it challenging to learn the content in their disciplinary classes because of their limited knowledge of content academic vocabulary. Specific academic vocabulary learning strategies that focus on cognitive methods using etymology, semantics, and affixes are supported (Laufer, 2016; Viswanathan & Sultana, 2019). Independent academic vocabulary-building strategies for adolescents and beyond, along with comprehensive direct teacher instruction, had an impact on academic vocabulary achievement. A VLearn learning platform was designed and implemented to support a needed increase in the academic vocabulary size of Hong Kong adolescent students (Tang et al., 2016). VLearn, as explained by Tang et al. (2016), is a virtual self-pace platform focused on academic vocabulary, with an objective to teach students to develop academic vocabulary learning strategies for acquiring new words. Tang et al. (2016) concluded that most Hong Kong adolescents had not acquired the level of academic vocabulary to understand English academic texts effectively, where English is the adapted language. As a specific form of a learning strategy, self-directed academic vocabulary learning is supported by Tang et al. (2016) to expand academic knowledge and academic vocabulary skills. It is necessary to understand the relationship between academic vocabulary skills and reading. Comprehensive academic vocabulary knowledge is a prerequisite for reading and all learning (Sibanda & Baxen, 2016). Sibanda and Baxen (2016) suggested that words taught directly should coincide with the English learners' core academic vocabulary

needs. Their studies of South African ELLs supported that the implementation of gradespecific core academic vocabulary lists comprised of curriculum-specific context-based words ultimately generate strong large-scale academic vocabulary knowledge (Sibanda & Baxen, 2016). Students acquire academic vocabulary knowledge to analyze complex words in context and build on that knowledge to learn unfamiliar words.

As they build their academic vocabulary knowledge, ELL students have an opportunity to become "vocabularians," or proficient users of academic vocabulary. Chai and Welz (2019) emphasized the importance of learners becoming "vocabularians" by teachers creating active and engaged learners. They supported using content-specific strategies (i.e., social studies) focused on the methods of exploring, practicing, and applying to produce a classroom of learners actively using and recognizing words (Chai & Welz, 2019). Focusing on content-specific strategies and guiding the use of those strategies will likely increase their ability to acquire academic vocabulary skills that will allow them to understand and use content-area academic vocabulary in a meaningful way.

Content-area learning for ELLs focuses on the academic skills and instructional pedagogies needed for students to flourish across core academic courses. Each subject content area has its own academic vocabulary, knowledge base, pedagogies, and specific strategies for teaching and learning. Schneider and Ming (2019) supported that content-area learning becomes progressively essential for reading, writing, and speaking tasks. Multisensory structured metacognitive language (MSML) instruction is suggested for adolescent learners who acquire, memorize, and use academic vocabulary across

disciplines (Schneider & Ming, 2019). MSML focuses on direct instruction that includes content academic vocabulary knowledge that offers students with learner-centered opportunities to incorporate direct and structured learning experiences while allowing them to engage in academic vocabulary knowledge growth (Schneider & Ming, 2019).

While all students need to develop academic vocabulary strategies that will help them achieve academically, the teacher must also focus on the role of the teacher in developing quality lessons that focus on content-specific academic vocabulary knowledge. One method for teaching content-specific academic vocabulary is word generation. Rimbey and Kucan's (2018) study examined middle school teacher implementation of a word generation strategy focused on content-area academic vocabulary words. Word generation focused on an interdisciplinary method of academic vocabulary instruction, with all core-subject area teachers teaching learners the same academic vocabulary across language arts, math, science, and social studies. The outcome suggested that with a proper understanding of the academic vocabulary strategy, teachers were able to make a clear sense of the implementation of the academic vocabulary and effectively improve student learning of academic vocabulary (Rimbey & Kucan, 2018). Understanding and using appropriate academic vocabulary strategies show promise in bridging the gaps between teaching and learning.

While teachers in the elementary grades are expected to prepare students to become successful readers, content area teachers in middle schools are predominately focused on teaching students how to acquire new content-specific academic vocabulary instruction. Students who lack basic reading skills will likely have a reduced capacity to understand what they are reading (Rasinski et al., 2017), which will impact their academic experiences. As students will gain higher engagement with content-area academic vocabulary in the school setting; therefore, the educator has a greater responsibility to help students master new academic vocabulary while teaching content knowledge (Rasinski et al., 2017). To identify specific direct instructional strategies that may increase the chances of forty foreign language learners' academic vocabulary learning, Rahimi and Allahyari (2019) conducted a study using multimedia-assisted pretaught direct academic vocabulary learning strategies. The development and implementation of teaching strategies were found to be an advantage for Englishspeaking students while also bridging the gap with non-English speaking students as they learned content academic vocabulary (Rahimi & Allahyari, 2019).

For many ELLs, limited academic language academic vocabulary was instrumental in their inability to understand grade-level texts and the literacy tasks expected of them (Coates, 2016). Research suggests that ELLs require direct academic vocabulary language proficiency; therefore, it is even more important for them to consistently be exposed to effective and explicit instruction throughout middle school that will allow them to develop their language and academic vocabulary proficiency by allowing them multiple opportunities and contexts to use the words they have learned (Crosson et al., 2019a). Factors contributing to second language development are considered in two broad categories - the mastery of L2 academic vocabulary and structures and language-specific knowledge (Ardasheva et al., 2019). Davis et al. (2017) conducted a qualitative study to explore the need to understand the instructional intervention focused on ELL strategies that middle school readers need to comprehend and make sense of science texts, focusing on academic vocabulary. In this study conducted by Davis et al., several measures, expository comprehension, deliberate knowledge and awareness, English-language academic vocabulary proficiency, thinkaloud protocol, and previous content knowledge, were randomly assigned to 83 middle school students. The outcome of the study showed that students outperformed in measures of English-language academic vocabulary proficiency, suggesting that more specific strategies that assist ELL adolescents comprehend and gain knowledge from content texts in the discipline of science is recommended (Ardasheva et al., 2019; Davis et al., 2017). The studies suggested that when direct academic vocabulary instruction is executed, whether multi-media or conventional, it positively impacts foreign language learners' academic vocabulary retention and cognitive strategies.

Research on ELL Students' Perspectives of Learning Experiences

Although my study will not include direct contact with students, it is important to understand research studies completed on learning from the students' perspectives. Perceived communication deficits may have a negative effect on many ELL students, decreasing their confidence as learners and causing them to experience academic difficulties (Alfano-Cooper, 2017). Providing the perspectives of adolescent learners may be important when identifying various instructional approaches that are supportive of their learning (Oliver & Azkarai, 2017). Collecting and analyzing data from both teachers and students provides "multiple realities, or interpretations" (Thompson, 2019, p. 22) of best practices for teaching ELLs, as well as bridging the cultural gap between ELLs and

their teachers (Shim & Shur, 2018). Shim and Shur used this approach in their own students as they investigated how middle and high school ELL students' perspectives of their learning experiences compared with the views of their teachers. Second language research must consider that a direct study of ELL children is necessary for more understanding of language acquisition (Lumbreras, 2016; Oliver & Azkarai, 2017). After exploring different perspectives that focus on making meaning, Krashen (2015) offered a new theory about how second language is acquired, and language learners engage in the learning process. Academic vocabulary was described in Krashen's research as an important variable when individuals are learning a new language, in addition to identifying specific strategies that are most effective for ELLs as they are developing their new academic vocabulary skills. Teachers will be asked how they use data to analyze their student's needs based on best practices that have been identified through research. Finding and implementing academic vocabulary instruction aligned with best practices is the goal of this study by investigating core subject teachers' views about how they are employing specific instructional model strategies to improve academic vocabulary building for ELL students.

Student-centered learning is among the best practices that may be considered when finding and implementing academic vocabulary instruction. Student-centered learning supported by the teacher's use of direct instruction was found by Shim and Shur (2018) to provide a more stable foundation from which teachers could improve the academic outcomes of ELL students. The findings helped establish a positive outcome when teachers closed the gap in practice to help ELLs develop academic vocabulary knowledge. Uccelli and Phillips Galloway (2017) supported promoting learning practices that engage students and teachers in the expansion of content knowledge and conceptual understanding while paying attention to language, and academic vocabulary is essential. Direct instruction with video viewing may be a valuable resource for students in English as a foreign language, exposing them to large quantities of input to improve their academic vocabulary and content comprehension (Jerotijević-Tišma, 2016; Suárez & Gesa, 2019). When considering the effectiveness of direct instruction with video viewing, individual differences such as aptitude, listening skills, and academic vocabulary size should be considered relevant factors in determining such effectiveness (Crosson et al., 2019a). In fact, students found captioned videos provided a significant benefit even with only one viewing, regardless of educational level or language background (Suárez & Gesa, 2019). Therefore, it may prove beneficial for teachers to use student-centered strategies, such as captioned videos, when providing direct instruction on academic vocabulary.

Additional studies have explored the effectiveness of student-centered direct instruction for ELL students. Garner and Allan (2019) examined adolescent Chinese learners' feelings about the teaching and building of academic vocabulary knowledge. Participants in the study were asked to reflect on their learning outcomes after being taught to guess the meaning of a content-area word before checking the definition. Students reported that they benefited from direct teaching methods that gave them the ability to develop and build academic vocabulary in context. Responses also suggested that students felt that they benefited from using context to build word meaning, specifically synonym knowledge, through an inquiry-based approach (Garner & Allan, 2019). The findings from Garner and Allan's (2019) study were similar to those in Chou's (2018) research. Chou (2018) identified academic vocabulary knowledge as being vital to second and foreign language learners' abilities to acquire new words, primarily because insufficient academic vocabulary is a significant problem in their attainment of second language (L2) learning. Chou's (2018) study showed that students had positive attitudes towards direct academic vocabulary instruction that enhanced their ability to learn and use new vocabulary. Teachers' use of direct instruction methods may provide the level of support needed to help their ELL students acquire academic vocabulary skills needed in the core content areas.

Educator Preparation and Beliefs

Educator preparation in teaching ELL students and teachers' beliefs in their ELL students' abilities to succeed is at the heart of effective teaching. The Office of English Language Acquisition (2020) reported that ELLs represent 10% of the nation's total K–12 student population. According to Quintero and Hansen (2017), 55% of all public-school teachers teach ELL students in their classrooms, while only one-third have some modest training to support ELLs. The Education Commission of the States (2020) revealed in 2014 that over 30 states do not require any ELL training for core subject area teachers beyond that mandated by federal law. Research supported the idea that teachers skilled and equipped to work with ELL students can effectively enhance ELL students' development (Quintero & Hansen, 2017). These studies support that effective teacher learning and professional development are imperative for student success. Middle school

ELLs face challenges that show the importance of teaching academic vocabulary practices in the middle grades through content academic vocabulary and knowledge (Duguay et al., 2016). To access content-area texts and subsequent content knowledge, instructional practices should extend beyond the development of basic reading skills and be specific to the needs of ELL students (Master et al., 2016; Vaughn et al., 2017). Teachers' efficacy and ability to implement strategies to increase content academic vocabulary, and knowledge play a significant role in student achievement (Vaughn et al., 2017) at Middle School 55. Truong (2017) explored the ineffectiveness of current educational models for ELL students. Specifically, Truong addressed two areas that were the most under-developed when it came to teaching ELLs: academic content vocabulary and limited educator preparation; of the two areas, the academic content area vocabulary will be the focus of the research at Middle School 55. According to Truong, only onethird of district-level leaders believe educators in their schools are prepared to teach ELL students effectively. Moreover, educators are often lacking the appropriate training in ELL learning methods.

With the growing number of ELL students in public schools across the country, including the school targeted for this study, it is important that teachers understand and use evidence-based teaching methods that are specific to the learning needs of ELL students. Ideally, teachers should reflect on their practices and continue to explore resources and methods that promote equitable learning for diverse student populations (Hong et al., 2018; Montero, 2019). However, many educators are unprepared to provide appropriate instruction to ELLs (Jackson & Durham, 2016). Furthermore, teachers'

attitudes and beliefs about teaching and learning for ELLs will have an influence on their ability and willingness to provide high-quality instruction for ELL students (Alfano-Cooper, 2017). Research has identified teacher beliefs about their students as the highest indicator of student achievement (Lumbreras, 2016). Zhang (2017) supported that academic text, such as social studies text, is challenging for ELL students, and teachers face challenges in educating these students. She supports that all content teachers should have strategies that address the linguistic demands in core subject areas to increase content academic vocabulary mastery. Uribe (2019) supported that core subject area teachers of ELLs are challenged to teach grade-specific standards and curricula to students with varying abilities of language proficiency. This concern warrants the need for ELL instructional strategies to make language and content academic vocabulary accessible to all students. When teaching ELLs who are still developing academic language proficiency, it is imperative to provide instructional strategies and incorporate essential reading, academic vocabulary, and language skills across all content areas (Turkan & de Jong, 2018; Uribe, 2019). Curriculum-based reading strategies that focus on reading fluency and academic vocabulary development are a consistent approach for teaching ELLs (Uribe, 2019). Theories such as cognitive–academic language proficiency (CALP) have allowed researchers to explore ways in which to bridge the gap in academic vocabulary achievement among English as a Second Language Learners and non-ELL in secondary courses based on teachers' time allocation (Tong et al., 2017). It was found that after teachers participated in professional development that included how to teach and implement CALP strategies like expressive academic vocabulary, oral reading

fluency, there was a notable increase in their ELLs' academic vocabulary development (Tong et al., 2017). Garza et al. (2017) emphasized the importance of teachers having the cognitive skills needed to effectively deliver the academic vocabulary content to students to ensure the best possible outcomes for student success. Garza et al. focused on the importance of teacher collaboration and reflection and how these academic vocabulary practices can ultimately affect how teachers teach and continue growing as educators. The goal is to provide core subject teachers with resources and strategies that have been identified as most effective when working with ELLs (Garza et al., 2017; Tong et al., 2017). As the ELL student population in many school districts increases, so does the need to prepare teachers to use appropriate strategies to support ELL students effectively.

Implications

This doctoral study aims to investigate how content area teachers at Middle School 55 perceive their abilities to effectively use specific instructional model strategies to support direct academic vocabulary building for ELL students. The implications of this project study are that the local district can effectively use direct instructional strategies and implement specialized professional development. With the findings from my study, core subject teachers may increase their knowledge and skills to support direct academic vocabulary building for ELL students in the core subject classroom. If core subject teachers have the needed knowledge and skills to support academic vocabulary building for ELL students, the chance of helping the ELLs to be successful throughout the school will be higher. Core subject teachers must be highly skilled in ELL pedagogy to successfully deliver appropriate direct instructional strategies to increase academic vocabulary building for ELLs and increase student achievement. The conclusions of this doctoral project study could be advantageous to teachers, administrators, policymakers, and others in the field of education. Consideration should be for the ELL student population should be included when developing educational goals and strategies to build academic vocabulary development. These ELL students come from diverse backgrounds. As educators continue to develop and revise educational practices, teachers must consider and understand the student population's various learning styles and cultural differences, focusing on academic vocabulary development that may ultimately build reading fluency.

Educators and parents also play valuable roles in the development of educational goals for students. Educators and parents can work together to ensure that ELL students have the necessary instruction and resources to become academic masters, responsible citizens, valued workers, and continuous learners. When supporting ELL learners, a significant challenge is using the common educational goals to reach students because of the barriers faced and brought to the classroom setting. Delivering solid academic vocabulary development knowledge and understanding all types of learners must be accomplished (Correll, 2016). Not only are the educators invested in this effort, but also the school and district administrators. The goals and strategies that are implemented may inevitably determine school success among local schools and states, as plans are made to build programs and foster student growth. The findings of this study could theoretically help and direct school administrators in creating professional development where

teachers enhance their knowledge and skills to effectively help ELLs build their vocabularies.

Additionally, when properly delivered, direct instructional strategies and professional development can potentially assist beginner teachers in becoming masters in supporting academic vocabulary building for ELLs. If teachers are educated to teach ethnically and linguistically diverse students, student success among ELLs may grow. The implications of this doctoral project study will be to construct a professional development that will increase core subject teachers' knowledge and skills on direct strategies that will increase ELL academic vocabulary building as a project based on the findings of this study.

Summary

To promote effective teaching, professional development and training should be explored. Core subject classroom teachers lack the necessary training to plan and implement direct academic vocabulary instruction for ELL students (Correll, 2016). Direct academic vocabulary instruction involves systematic methods (August et al., 2018). Prior research suggests that such systematic methods may include a connection to academic content (Brandes & McMaster, 2017). Within an academic content area, teaching academic vocabulary would target teaching word parts, using context clues, and self-check activities were documented as effective methods (Haager & Osipova, 2017). ELLs at this suburban southeastern middle school in the United States are reading below grade level, based on World-Class Instructional Design and Assessment (WIDA) Assessing Comprehension and Communication in English State-to-State (ACCESS) Reading scores (WIDA Consortium, 2019). The southeastern American school district is the fourth-largest school district in the state and the 81st largest in the nation. ELLs make up 25% of the approximately 54,000 student population within the district. A review of local data was undertaken to understand the problem better. According to the North Carolina Justice Center (2019), schools in the southeastern United States are not appropriately preparing ELL students for success in the classroom and beyond. Although interventions, such as Dual Language Programs and Sheltered Instruction Observation Protocol (SIOP), have been suggested as means to support ELL elementary children in the learning environment (Ali et al., 2021), the frequency and depth in which districts use these programs vary. Without the implementation of programs that provide focused support to middle school ELL students, teachers are limited in their ability to provide the instruction necessary for them to succeed in school (North Carolina Justice Center, 2019). While research has shown there are more effective ways than concentrating on learning word meaning and word structure to support language learners in the classroom; few studies have explored the barriers that prevent middle school ELLs from adequately developing academic vocabulary skills instruction. Yoon (2021) supported that directly teaching word meanings will improve reading comprehension. Still, more specifically, knowing what a word means, knowing how to define a word, understanding when and how to use the word in context, and the ability to decode that academic vocabulary support reading comprehension (Yoon, 2021). Words taught through direct instruction of word meanings, as well as through discussions about word parts, are especially critical for the academic vocabulary development of ELLs (Kessler et al., 2018). August et al.

(2018) agreed that English learners at the secondary level need consistent academic vocabulary instructional support to access grade-level content and to promote academic vocabulary acquisition and reading comprehension skills. There is value in providing academic vocabulary instruction to develop foundational skills of reading, especially for ELLs in the middle grades (Crosson et al., 2019b). Finding what works will be important if ELLs in the focus school of this study are to have any opportunities to become successful readers.

This project study investigates the perceptions of classroom core subject teachers at Middle School 55 about how they are implementing specific instructional model strategies to support direct academic vocabulary building for ELL students. This doctoral study will be used to address the local problem regarding classroom core subject teachers at Middle School 55. The problem is that teachers at Middle School 55 are struggling to implement specific instructional model strategies to support direct academic vocabulary building for ELL students. Without direct teacher academic vocabulary instruction, ELL students who have trouble with academic vocabulary will likely not understand what they are reading in their language arts, science, social studies, or math classes (Haager & Osipova, 2017). When teachers are not offering the appropriate supportive direct instruction, the difference in proficiency in academic vocabulary among ELLs and their classmates assessed with the same standards will persist (Alshahrani, 2019; Richards-Tutor et al., 2016). Investigating the direct instructional academic vocabulary building practices core subject area teachers are using to support the academic demand of ELLs to foster student achievement is essential for meeting the student's needs. In Section 2, I will expound on the process of how the research study will be conducted. Specifically, the section will have detailed identification of the research design and approach, descriptions of participants and their relevance to the study, and an account of methods that will be used to collect and analyze data.

Section 2: The Methodology

In this section, I explain the doctoral study research methodology, which consists of the research approach design, standards for selecting participants, rationalization of the number of participants, measures for gaining access to participants, description of establishing researcher-participant relationships, protecting participants' rights, data collection, trustworthiness and credibility, data analysis results, emerging themes, and a conclusion. In this study, a basic qualitative research design was used to understand how classroom core subject teachers implement specific instructional model strategies to support explicit vocabulary building for ELL students.

Methodology Overview

This study is qualitative in nature. Qualitative research methods allow researchers to analyze data in the form of natural language and explanations of experiences and social interactions (Levitt et al., 2018). The goal of qualitative analysis is to help organize data into meaningful themes that best represent the experiences and understandings of study participants (Hennink et al., 2020). This methodology was suitable to address the purpose of this study, which was to explore an existing local real-world problem, help collect information pertaining to this problem, and provide strategies that will potentially help reduce or eliminate the problem in this setting.

Qualitative Research Design and Approach

In this section, I discuss how I used a qualitative design to understand perceptions of classroom core subject teachers at Middle School 55 regarding their ability to implement specific instructional model strategies to support direct academic vocabulary building for ELL students. I collected data from core subject area teachers who teach or have taught ELLs and are struggling to implement specific instructional model strategies to support explicit academic vocabulary building for ELL students. I analyzed data to understand core subject teachers' roles in implementing specific instructional model strategies to support direct academic vocabulary building for ELL students. The research questions are:

RQ1: How do core subject area teachers at Middle School 55 effectively implement teaching strategies to support ELL students' academic vocabulary acquisition, retention, and application in math, social studies, and science?

RQ2: What academic resources do core subject teachers perceive they need to effectively provide explicit academic vocabulary instruction for ELLs?

A basic qualitative project study design is suitable when the literature includes limited information about the phenomena and needs further exploration (Erickson, 2018). Thus, a basic qualitative project study design was appropriate.

Description of the Qualitative Tradition

Consideration was given to using both qualitative and quantitative research methods for this study. Researchers use quantitative research to explain events that occur among a targeted group of people (Creswell, 2014). When researchers use quantitative research methods, they usually do so because they are interested in the numerical value of data that is collected (Rana et al., 2021). Qualitative methods are used to explain complex phenomena, as well as evolve and create theories and provide results that are explainable through extensive research (Denzin & Lincoln, 2013). Establishing connections between attitude and behavior makes qualitative research unique. Qualitative research lends itself to constructivist views that involve how humans make meaning concerning interactions between their experiences and ideas. More specifically, qualitative studies are a framework for social constructivism, whereby individuals seek to understand their world and develop meanings that correspond with their experiences (Ramalho et al., 2015). These connotations do not occur naturally but instead happen when individuals begin to interact with each other (Denzin & Lincoln, 2013). Language predates concepts and defines how individuals structure the way their world is experienced (Ravitch & Carl, 2019).

Justification for Research Design

For this doctoral study, a qualitative design was applicable. Quantitative methods were considered during the initial planning phase of this study. However, quantitative methods were not appropriate for this study for several reasons. Given the small participant sample, it would be challenging to generalize any numerical data collected for analysis.

Other possible qualitative choices were considered and not chosen, including phenomenology, ethnographies, grounded theory studies, case studies, and narrative inquiry. Those choices were determined to be less appropriate than a basic qualitative project study.

Phenomenology

The phenomenological approach involves exploring a phenomenon in participants' experiences, actions, or reactions from a first-person perspective (Guillén &

Elida, 2019; Nimehchisalem, 2018). Using phenomenology, researchers can focus on single or multiple cases without more rigid requirements (Qutoshi, 2018). There is also the opportunity for the researcher to analyze the phenomenon from a philosophical viewpoint, with an appropriate understanding of how philosophy inherently influences phenomenology (Smith, 2016). Using a purely phenomenological approach was considered to understand participants' experiences in my study. However, this method did not align with the purpose or focus of this study. The study did not intend to solely describe the experiences and outcomes of participant teachers but also explain how teachers use instruction to support the academic vocabulary of ELL students.

Ethnography

The ethnographic model is grounded in anthropology and involves the study of culture and social norms, experiences, and events that are common within a specific community (Kapofu, 2021). More specifically, an ethnographical study design is used to explore meanings that evolve from people's behaviors via social and cultural perspectives (Cortés et al., 2019). The researcher often embeds him or herself in a community to learn dynamics specific to the people in the community (Nimehchisalem, 2018). When considering ethnography, the researcher is directly involved with study participants during their instructional time to identify patterns of behavior that participants shared (Hill, 2017). This study's purpose was not to understand patterns of shared behaviors among participants, so an ethnographic study design was inappropriate.

Grounded Theory

Researchers use grounded theory to collect and analyze data that is used to

develop theories relative to social behaviors, practices, and norms (Rutberg & Bouikidis, 2018). Such theories are, therefore, grounded in the data collected. The development of theories after data collection, instead of before data is collected, is one distinction that sets the grounded theory apart from other research methods (Dunne, 2011). Researchers using grounded theory understand that the data will constantly evolve based on the ever-changing nature of society. The present study does not attempt to build a theory regarding teachers' perception of academic vocabulary instruction. In this study, the specific problem addresses the need to explore the instructional practices of middle school core content teachers of ELLs regarding implementing specific instructional model strategies to support academic vocabulary instruction. Grounded theory was not utilized in this qualitative study. The study's purpose is not to create a theory about teachers' perceptions regarding direct academic vocabulary instruction in core subjects.

Case Study

When using the case study methods, researchers focus on a single individual, group, or phenomenon within a specific context (Rashid et al., 2019). Data collected during a case study is collected from various sources and organized to make more significant generalizations. The case study model allows researchers to look at real-life events to understand any patterns that emerge and, possibly, predict how trends will continue to emerge from the patterns (Noor, 2008). Questions are based on theoretical ideas to then test the conjecture for possible variations (Yin, 2018). While the case study method does have some aspects that align with the goals of my study, I did not look to generalize about participants; instead, I looked for solutions specific to participants in

their individual roles as teachers of ELL students.

Narrative

A narrative model is used to study people or events over expanded periods, with data being collected in real-time. Stories that are created from narrative research are told from the perspective of a select group of people, focusing on their ideas regarding identity, commonly accepted gender roles, religious principles and practices, socioeconomic status, familial relationships, and ethnic or cultural identities in their own words (Ntinda, 2019). It often uses chronological time to record the starting points and situations throughout the experience (Bhattacharya, 2017). A narrative design was not applicable as my data collection did not expand over a significant period and did not focus on chronological time.

My current work did not fit into the qualitative methodology categories identified. Based on the methodology research, I have also found that my study did not fit the quantitative methods criteria. I used a basic qualitative project study design that allowed the investigation of core subject teachers' perceptions of their ability to implement specific instructional model strategies to support direct academic vocabulary building for ELL students (Lowell et al., 2020; Wyche, 2020). A basic qualitative research design allowed me to capture the human experience perspective in my research through interviews with core subject teachers without having to triangulate the data (Babbie, 2017; Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018).

Population and Sample

The setting for the study was an urban public middle school in North Carolina.

This school is considered to be low performing based on state and local data, with under 50% of students passing the end-of-grade test in reading (Middle School 55, 2018, 2019a). According to state and local assessment data, I selected the target school because ELL students were below the 40th percentile for reading proficiency (Middle School 55, 2019b). Assessment data included district benchmarks, end-of-grade assessment reports, and the School Report Card issued by the state's public education agency. Furthermore, the target teachers responded in a school survey that they felt underprepared to teach ELLs (Middle School 55, 2019b).

I purposefully sampled the participants, as they were intentionally chosen to participate in the study. The sample group consisted of twelve teachers in grades 6-8 who met the selection criteria, which are: (a) they are core subject area teachers, (b) who are or have taught ELL students, and (c) assert they are underprepared to provide appropriate instruction for their ELL students. By comparing classroom core subject teachers from math, science, and social studies at different grades, varying views could capture different dimensions of academic vocabulary building instructional strategies with ELL students (Etikan et al., 2016).

Number of Participants Justification

No concrete guidelines were developed to determine what is considered an appropriate sample size in qualitative research (Vasileiou et al., 2018). The goal was to select two teachers in each content subject area from sixth, seventh, and eighth grades. Sixth, seventh, and eighth-grade core subject teacher participants from math, science, and social studies were invited to participate in the study to show validity in the research.

Procedure for Gaining Access to Participants

This proposed qualitative study was made feasible through a collaboration agreement between Walden University and the local school district. I contacted the Salem Public Schools' human resources administrator to seek approval to access participants and conduct the study. The human resources administrator for Salem Public Schools has the authority to approve the study. A copy of the consent form was hand-delivered to the Salem Public Schools' central office human resources administrator, requesting participant access and site approval to conduct the study. I also attached with the approval request an outline and overview of the study, the purpose of the study, and the methodology that was used to collect data. When the human resources administrator granted full approval, a formal request for teachers' participation in the study was made via email invitation. To maintain confidentiality and protect teachers' identity as study participants, I distributed a link to a JotForm, through which the participants privately accepted my invitation to participate in the study. In the form, an explanation was included that confidentiality would be maintained by using the specific alphanumeric code SP that would be followed by two-digit numbers starting with 01 so that direct attribution cannot be applied to any study participant or the school from which data was being collected.

Upon the participants understanding of the process for maintaining confidentiality, I also distributed a consent form for teachers to sign, scan and return to me via e-mail if they were willing to participate. Follow-up communication via email or telephone was conducted with teachers who returned a signed consent form to me to schedule a meeting at their chosen location. Each participant met with me via a Zoom meeting after their formal work hours ended. The purpose of the study, how data was collected, and the significance of the problem that I was researching were discussed. Prior to the interview, I reviewed the contents of the consent form to ensure participants understood their rights during the study, including the right to revoke consent or decline to continue participating in the study at any time. Participants received an overview of the research study written in simple terms so that participants have some idea of what to expect in the interview, making the interview less formal by asking participants about their perspectives and interests regarding a variety of topics and constructing questions in a way that was more conversational rather than rigid (McGrath et al., 2019). Participants were interviewed separately to maintain the highest levels of confidentiality.

Establishing Rapport

I intended to make each participant's interview session as comfortable as possible. The rapport between the researcher and the participants was imperative during the research interview (Sivell et al., 2019). Participants would likely give more forthcoming, genuine responses if they connected closely with the researcher (McGrath et al., 2019; Wa-Mbaleka et al., 2019). To be candid about my role as the researcher, a thorough explanation was given to the participants that I would be the primary data collection instrument as the principal researcher for this study. This required me to primarily listen to their responses, ask relevant follow-up questions, and take notes. Each participant understood that my reason for using an interview protocol during the interviews was to promote the fidelity of the data that I was collecting. I told the participants of their immeasurable value as interviewees in the study and how their responses would hopefully inform changes that would benefit ELL students by supporting their teachers. Professionalism and respect were maintained throughout the interview to help facilitate a positive relationship between the researcher and the study participants. At the end of the interview session, each participant was thanked for their willingness to be involved in the study. With the inclusion of each of the steps mentioned to build the researcher-participant relationship, participants hopefully felt greater ease about giving an unrestricted account of how they provide direct instruction for ELLs in their classrooms.

Participants' Rights and Protections

Research ethics were always maintained during the study and after the study had been completed. A review of the contents of the consent form was given to provide insurance that participants understood their rights during the study, including the right to revoke consent or decline to continue participating in the study at any time. The second review of the consent form was done during my meeting session with participants after receiving a signed consent to participate form from them. Each participant was asked to affirm that their involvement would be voluntary. The integrity of the data collected was maintained through confidentiality of participants' identities, participants' responses, and the name of the school from which I collected data.

Training on research protocols was completed prior to submitting my study to the Internal Review Board (IRB) for approval. The training, *Protecting Human Research Participants*, is designed by the National Institutes of Health so that researchers understand the legal, ethical, and moral responsibilities of conducting research. I demonstrated my commitment to protecting the participants in my study by reiterating to each study participant that their participation was voluntary and that they could withdraw from the study at any time. Explanations were given to each participant on how their identities, the identity of the study site, and all information collected would be protected before, during, and after the study was conducted. Such protection included assigning a unique alpha-numeric code to each participant, preceded with the letter SP for the study participant. A double-digit number followed the SP, indicating the order in which I collected data from each teacher. An example of a code I used was SP01, referring to the first study participant and SP03 for the third participant, with a number assigned accordingly until all participants were interviewed. Names were not used in any manner or in any discussions with school administrators, district personnel, or anyone else.

I met my responsibility to further protect participants by electronically storing all study-related materials, including interview transcripts. The data is a password-protected file on my home-based computer. Data files stored on my computer are also encrypted, ensuring no one else would have access to the data. Any paper or non-electric data is stored in a secure lockbox with a copy of the combination secured through password protection and encryption on my home computer. Data will be kept secure for five years, per the protocol of Walden University. After five years, I will destroy all data collected.

Data Collection

Data collected were from core subject teachers who teach ELLs using a basic qualitative design. Each participant was interviewed using a 45-60 minute semistructured interview that encouraged the participants to directly answer the open-ended questions posed and offer additional insights that would provide richer insights for their responses (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019; Robinson, 2014). The collected data focused on these teachers' perceptions regarding their ability to implement specific instructional model strategies to support direct academic vocabulary building for ELL students. During the interviews, I used the open-ended interview protocol (see Appendix B). To guarantee the validity of the questionnaire, the interview protocol was submitted to a committee of experts for review. All review panel members are experts with 10-15 years of experience providing instructional support for ELL students. They asserted that the questions on interview protocol were appropriate and aligned with the conceptual framework and the research questions for this qualitative study.

The qualitative research interview is an important data collection tool for an assortment of methods used within the wide-ranging spectrum of educational research (Bowen, 2009; Rule & John, 2015). Using a semistructured interview approach allowed teachers to share the ways in which they are increasing their pedagogic knowledge and instructional strategies for the teaching and learning of ELLs (McGrath et al., 2019). As a result, responses were believed to be more authentic and less restrictive. I recorded participants' responses to the interview questions in a research journal, the contents of which were not shared with anyone else. Names of participants were not included in the

journal, as codes were used to correctly match participants with their responses later in the data analysis process. Notes were made in the journal throughout the interview of any themes or ideas that were noticeably repetitive throughout the individual interviews as well as common among participants' responses. Using a semistructured, one-on-one interview approach and a research journal added to the descriptive nature of this qualitative study analysis (Creswell, 2014). I wanted to keep the participants informed of progress throughout the study by notifying them by email once I began data analysis and after data analysis was concluded. Each participant had my contact information, including my email and phone number, in the event that they had questions about their involvement in the study. A scheduled time was set for each participant to review transcripts from the interviews that had been conducted with them for the purpose of member checking. During the member checking process, participants were allowed to review only their individual interview transcripts and audio recordings for accuracy.

Data Collection Instrumentation

Semistructured interviews were the foundation of the data collection instrumentation. Interviews were the only means of data collection for this basic qualitative study. Participants were provided access to the interview protocol (see Appendix B) that I used in my study. The semistructured questions were used because these types of questions allowed participants to respond to the questions without being restricted by pre-determined answer choices (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). Predetermined choices are common in closed questions, where participants can select their responses from a list or rating scale (Allen, 2017; Moser & Korstjens, 2018); however, semistructured interviews allow the researcher to use more autonomy when phrasing and replying to the interview questions (Merriam, 2014). I consulted with ELL administrators and veteran teachers to create questions that would encourage reliable and valid responses from the study participants.

Before conducting the interview, I discussed the rights to confidentiality with participants, including the omission of any information that would identify them in the study. The goal was to encourage an in-depth, meaningful interview with the participants without fearing their identities would be at risk of exposure in the study. Participants were also reminded that they could withdraw from the study at will without consequences (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). The interviews were recorded with an audio recording device via Zoom with the permission of each participant. Recording the interview using an audio-recording device allowed me to engage more with the interviewee rather than being distracted by taking extensive notes (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). Each participant had the right to object to being recorded before, during, and after the interview. No participant voiced any objection to being interviewed or recorded during the data collection.

Sufficiency of Data Collection

Purposeful sampling was used to gain a deeper understanding of the opinion and perceptions provided by each participant (Ames et al., 2019). This intentional sampling allowed me to gather quality, meaningful data from a select group of individuals (Ames et al., 2019) who had provided instruction for ELL students. I was certain that rich data was collected from the chosen sample of participants. After interviews had been

conducted, responses were transcribed, and member checked. When duplicated responses amongst participants without any new data had been found, I concluded that: (1) saturation had been reached, (2) sampling could end, and (3) data that had been collected from the interviews is a solid representation of which relevant conclusions could be drawn (Sebele-Mpofu, 2020). Once the transcribed data was organized, the data analysis process to identify emerging themes began.

As a doctoral candidate at Walden University, I partnered with an urban school district in the Southeast to investigate classroom core subject teachers' perceptions of their ability to implement specific instructional model strategies to support direct academic vocabulary building for ELL students. Data was collected from interviews conducted with 12 middle school core subject teachers. Each core subject teacher participant was asked to complete one interview about instructional practices that build academic vocabulary for ELLs, and a second interview would not be needed. The interview duration was 45-60 minutes, with the time spent determined by the extensiveness of participants' responses. Prior to the commencement of each interview, teachers were informed of their right to ask for clarification if needed. They were asked if clarification was needed periodically during the interview process. At the end of the interviews, reflective follow-up questions were asked that allowed participants to provide additional thoughts or elaborate on previous responses. Zoom interviews were recorded and then transcribed. Before conducting the interviews, the participants were notified of the processes on the remote consent forms. I instructed participants to respond to 12

interview questions. The interview questionnaire (see Appendix B) included various questions to obtain information, ideas, thoughts, feelings, and reactions.

Qualitative Data Analysis (QDA) Miner is a data analysis software that can be used to analyze and code data from qualitative studies (George Mason University, 2021). The QDA Miner data analysis software was utilized to organize the data collected and code responses to the research questions (Sechelski & Onwuegbuzie, 2019). After completing the interviews, I began the work of reading and transcribing the recorded interviews (Creswell, 2014). The data collected during the study was solely used for the purpose of the project study. During this process, information about the researcher's background could be shared, including teaching experiences, trainings obtained, and how the interviews would be structured. In my role as the researcher, I am the only individual who will have access to these materials during the five-year period.

After I received written approval (Approval #: 01-05-22-0637900) to conduct my study from the Institutional Review Board at Walden University, I gained access to 12 middle school core subject teachers. An application form written to the district's review board was completed, and an email was sent directly to the school district's evaluation program supervisor in the research department to request permission to conduct my study formally. The request included a comprehensive description of the study. I asked the district to provide a preliminary letter stating approval to conduct the research once Walden University approved my request. The document was submitted to Walden University's IRB for final approval upon receiving district consent. Once final approval was obtained from Walden IRB, the district's superior notified middle schools willing to

participate in my study. The appropriate principal received an email expressing gratitude for allowing me to conduct my study, including the remote interview consent form for their review. I requested participation in my study via email invitation with permission from the principal of Middle School 55. After explaining the study's purpose, teachers who are interested in participating were invited to contact me via email. After presenting my request to participate, I waited one week for sufficient responses. After the first week, I did not receive sufficient responses. At that point, I used publicly listed email addresses in the district database and sent a reminder invitation email to teachers at Middle School 55 to participate in the study. Teachers who were eligible based on the selection criteria and who agreed to participate in the study signed the consent forms electronically and returned them via email. If a reply was not received from the potential participants after one week, I sent a follow-up email and an additional invitation. This process was repeated until a sample of twelve core subject teachers responded and agreed. The interview consent form described the study's purpose, participant expectations, data collection procedures, and confidentiality methods. The interview consent form also included clear indications that their research involvement was solely on a volunteer basis. I also assured them that their identity would remain confidential through the complete data collection and reporting process. Consenting participants received a follow-up email that allowed them to choose from a list of times to schedule the Zoom interview and used a different email for contact. Accommodations were made for the participants if offered times were not feasible. Before each interview, I explained the participants' rights and offered them an opportunity to ask questions for clarification.

Role of the Researcher

My role as a middle-school teacher allowed me to build a rapport with the study participants. My part did not influence my ability to collect reliable and valid data because I did not have a professional or personal relationship with the teacher participants. Additionally, my role as the researcher in this project study was to select and interview the participants, record the responses, document the transcripts, and analyze the data and participants' perceptions (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). I asked questions that helped answer the research questions and interpret the responses by identifying emergent themes (Ames et al., 2019). The emerging data themes were used to understand what conclusions surfaced from the interviews and revealed and discussed possible new directions for further data collection.

Data Analysis

With a qualitative approach, it is possible to analyze data as it is being collected as opposed to waiting until after data collection has occurred (Lowell et al., 2020). In my analysis of the data, I began identifying any commonalities in participants' responses to the interview questions. Finding commonalities was useful for identifying and understanding additional themes that were not previously considered. For example, a common theme in ELL students' literature was teachers' attitudes and beliefs about teaching students who speak other languages (Castaneda, 2020; Rizzuto, 2017; Warren, 2018). During the interview process, many teachers may express that they lack the appropriate training to teach ELL students effectively and are interested in receiving such training (Castaneda, 2020; Warren, 2018). Additionally, teachers may predominately point to a lack of parent involvement as a barrier to ELL students' success (Warren, 2018). As a result, a preliminary analysis of the data did not show a lack of interest in training and a lack of parent support as possible themes or subthemes in the research.

I analyzed the data from my transcription and looked for any common themes presented in the interviews. Coding was used to identify issues established in the literature and knowledge about the direct instruction framework (Male, 2016). Coding is a way for the researcher to sort through the data and make sense of it concerning the research questions (Elliott, 2018). A priori, open, and axial coding were used to identify, analyze, organize, describe, and report themes found within the data set (Nowell et al., 2017). The data analysis was completed by analyzing the protocol questions developed before the interview and by employing questions directed by the coding process. I used a priori coding aligned to the conceptual framework; then, open coding was used that included all data collected. The coding process was finalized with axial coding to interpret the results of the interview responses. The recorded interview transcriptions were downloaded and saved on my password-protected computer in a word document. Data from the protected word document was coded and analyzed within two days of completing the interviews. The transcribed audio Zoom recordings were sent to the participants for their review to confirm the accuracy of the response recorded in the transcripts (Sutton & Austin, 2015).

A Priori Coding of Interview Data

The initial stage of the analysis involved reading all the interview transcripts twice to acquaint myself with the data responses without writing any notes or creating any codes. My next step was to re-read each transcript. During the second step, I re-read the data and recorded my preliminary impressions. A priori codes were used first, which were developed based on the conceptual framework. The a priori codes consisted of the constructs of direct instruction. Before examining the data in detail, I discovered the following a priori codes: (a) including planning and design, (b) delivery and management, and (c) evaluation and assessment (Engelmann, 1980). I coded these constructs in every transcribed interview. The transcriptions' margins were annotated to interpret various details about the a priori coding (Linneberg & Korsgaard, 2019). I used a priori codes because they were instrumental in distinguishing patterns and themes that aligned with the conceptual framework while incorporating middle school core subject teachers' instructional academic vocabulary practices for ELLs. I expected the data examined to be aligned with a priori codes already existing as they relate to instructional vocabulary instructional strategies.

Open Coding of Interview Data

I began looking for emerging codes during my third reading of the data. After I finished the a priori coding, my readings of the data continued while I used open coding to organize the results. These results identified additional themes as they evolved from the data (Cho & Lee, 2014). Examples of these themes were: teacher belief in their knowledge/strategies for ELL vocabulary building completed professional development/training and the need for specific training for ELLs. During the next level of coding, I used my journal to continue organizing the data, which allowed me to assess the transcripts easily and quickly. Displaying prominent information such as participants'
assigned identification, their applicable content area, and grade level was beneficial in my development of themes. One of the techniques identified for discovering research themes that were used in my analysis was reading and re-reading the data, with emerging codes added to existing codes (Wolff et al., 2018). Next, after listening to the transcriptions, my next step was coding the themes and concepts (Creswell, 2014). The a priori code were compared with the open codes created from the data. The open coding was organized into categories that developed into themes.

Axial Coding of Interview Data

After completing a priori and open coding, I used axial coding because it was important to generate categories and examine connections found in the data (Scott & Medaugh, 2017). Axial coding offered an opportunity for the research questions to be addressed by producing a picture of what academic vocabulary instructional practices, from the teachers' perspective, correlate with the improved ELL academic performance in the core academic subjects. After the categories became apparent, axial coding was used to distinguish relationships within each category. The axial coding resulted in themes that revealed the content teachers' sentiments about academic vocabulary instructional practices and their understanding of which practices foster core subject academic vocabulary building. Some of those themes included: basic ELL strategies used and collaboration with colleagues. Axial coding allowed me to record and identify responses from the interviews linked by a common theme or idea, thus allowing the results to be categorized based on their commonalities (Assarroudi et al., 2018).

Evidence of Quality of Procedures

After I analyzed the data, each participant received a copy of their interview transcript to review for accuracy. Having participants review their individual transcripts helped establish my study's findings' trustworthiness, validity, and credibility.

Trustworthiness

According to Stahl and King (2020), trustworthiness is defined as the degree of confidence in data, interpretation, and methods that are used to ensure the quality of the study. To establish trustworthiness, if a participant identified any response errors in the transcription, the error was corrected in a collaborative effort. The participants were allowed an additional opportunity to review a revised copy of the transcript and audio recordings. The member checking process was used to ensure that what I wrote was what the participants intended to say. Member checking allows the researcher to verify participant responses by asking questions to clarify different aspects of the study (Creswell, 2014). Trustworthiness is also about establishing validity and credibility, which are described in more detail below.

Credibility

Credibility is confirmed when the research findings represent believable information depicted from the participants' original data and is an accurate interpretation of the participants' original views and thoughts (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). I also ensured credibility through member checking. Member checking can decrease researcher biases to ensure that the participant's views are recorded truthfully (Stahl & King, 2020). I also used peer debriefing to establish credibility. Peer debriefing is using a scholar or scholars who are outside the context of the study but have a general grasp of the nature of the study and with whom you can review perceptions, insights, and analyze the data (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). Using peer debriefing helped uncover bias and assumptions in the research study. I ensured that each participant had my contact information if they needed to ask questions or make any comments. Moreover, the participants' review of the data was used to confirm that my personal biases were not represented in the study and ensured that their ideas and experiences were reflected appropriately in the results.

Validity

Validity refers to how precisely an instrument measures what it is intended to measure (Mustafa, 2021). I created an interview questionnaire to use for the study. To guarantee the validity of the interview questions and the study findings, the interview protocol was presented to a committee of professionals for review. All review team members are experts with 10-15 years of experience providing instructional support for ELL students. They contended that the questions on the interview protocol were appropriate and aligned with the conceptual framework and the research questions for this qualitative study. They ensured that the instrument method and measurement technique were high quality and on target to measure exactly what it was intended to measure.

Discrepant Cases

Discrepant cases were addressed by searching for patterns discovered within the data coding. Researchers must understand the importance of identifying and analyzing

data inconsistencies within a data set to establish the validity of the testing in qualitative research (Collins & Stockton, 2018). Discrepant cases can also consist of deviations or inconsistencies with the originally developed categories, research questions, or themes (Rose & Johnson, 2020). I addressed discrepant cases in my study by looking for patterns found in the coding and themes of the data. All perspectives and possibilities were discussed in the research outcomes, as some participants had contrasting interpretations of the same topic.

Assumptions

The study site was a suburban southeastern middle school in the United States for this project study. There were various middle schools in the district with core subject teachers teaching ELLs. I assumed that teaching ELLs in the core content areas requires specific strategies as they have limited vocabulary in most content core subjects. I also assumed that ELLs are learners who bring diverse cultural experiences and language learning barriers to the learning process and who may benefit from specific direct instruction.

Data Analysis Results

The problem explored through this study is that content area teachers (math, social studies, and science) at Middle School 55 are struggling to implement specific instructional model strategies to support explicit content area academic vocabulary building for ELL students. The implications of this project study were that the local district could effectively support the use of direct instructional strategies by

implementing specialized professional development. To find evidence of themes, the project study was guided by the following research questions:

RQ1: How do core subject area teachers at Middle School 55 effectively implement teaching strategies to support ELL students' academic vocabulary acquisition, retention, and application in math, social studies, and science?

RQ2: What academic resources do core subject teachers perceive they need to effectively provide explicit academic vocabulary instruction for ELLs?

I analyzed data to identify core content subject area-specific instructional model strategies to support direct academic vocabulary building for ELL students. Content area teachers, in general, believed they had not received enough training to support ethnically and linguistically diverse students. Consequently, teachers in the content areas may not have knowledge of instructional strategies that support specific instructional model strategies for direct academic vocabulary building for ELL students. With the findings from my study, core subject teachers may increase their knowledge and skills to support direct academic vocabulary building for ELL students in the core subject classroom. If core subject teachers have the needed knowledge and skills to support academic vocabulary building for ELL students, the chance of helping the ELLs to be successful throughout the school will be significantly increased.

Review Process for Data

The data provided for this study was collected over a 4-week period. I interviewed 12 classroom core subject teachers via Zoom who currently work or have worked with ELL students in math, science, or social studies at an urban middle school in a southern state. It is my assertion that these teachers may be under-prepared to provide appropriate research-based instruction for their ELL students. I ensured participants' privacy by conducting the Zoom sessions in a private location to prevent interviews from being overheard by others. Before beginning the interview, I discussed with each participant the procedures I would take to ensure their privacy was maintained. The participants were assured they would not be named. To ensure anonymity, each participant would be assigned letters or numbers to maintain confidentiality.

The data collected for this doctoral study was recorded, transcribed, organized, analyzed, and coded for themes based on the constructs of the framework of direct instruction (beliefs about vocabulary instruction for ELLs in the core subject areas). According to Herzog et al. (2019), data analysis should contain excerpts of interview quotes that most effectively represent distinct themes that surface from the analysis. As I started collecting data, I began by writing down participants' recordings from interviews into a Microsoft Word Document within days of conducting the interview. Cassell and Bishop (2019) suggested that unprocessed data collected in a qualitative case must be transcribed before they are accessible for analysis. I conducted my data analysis personally, by hand, so that I had a deep understanding of the information I collected. For teacher's interviews, I used an interview protocol (Appendix B). The interview questions focused on participants' experiences with ELL students and any training provided for vocabulary instruction for ELL students in core content areas.

The first step in my data analysis process was to read each interview's transcripts at least three times over the course of several days. I decided to read transcripts over an extended period so that I could have a fresh analysis during each reading. After reading each transcript, I began analyzing using the a priori themes from the conceptual framework with the constructs of direct instruction: (a) including planning and design, (b) delivery and management, and (c) evaluation and assessment (Engelmann, 1980). I physically coded the constructs in each participant's script from every transcribed interview as planned. I began arranging codes into potential themes, and the highlighted themes developed from the coding process. Throughout the coding process, I organized all data into small chunks to clearly handle the coding process. The transcripts were thoroughly analyzed for developing themes throughout the data analysis. As a part of the process, I noted any words or phrases that appeared consistently throughout the interviews, recognizing specific quotes that strengthened the codes (Elliott, 2018).

After evaluating all the data, I began with different codes that were later used to develop the major themes for this doctoral study. The themes were specific to the perceptions of classroom core subject teachers of their ability to implement specific instructional model strategies to support direct academic vocabulary building for ELL students. The discoveries included any emerging (open) themes and the constructs from the framework. During this process, I arranged the data by detecting patterns, similarities, and themes relevant to this doctoral study's focus. The data were analyzed through multiple readings to look for possible themes applicable to the constructs of the framework and research questions of this study.

Procedures to Ensure Accuracy and Credibility of Findings

To ensure data was accurate and credible in this doctoral project study, participant data were collected from interviews and recorded via zoom. Ravitch and Carl (2019) supported that a research study is valid when the data has been collected and interpreted accurately to reflect and represent the participants' responses. The information was gathered through interviews to confirm and establish credibility. The data was collected and analyzed most accurately to embody the teacher participants' feelings, thoughts, and ideas effectively and correctly. Nassaji (2020) noted that credibility is contingent upon how researchers can truthfully represent what participants believe, feel, and carry out during the data collection process.

My efforts to prevent biases in this doctoral project study included the utilization of an open-ended interview protocol (see Appendix B) so that participants were given the opportunity to provide extended responses to the questions asked throughout the interview. Additional action was taken to ensure validity, an essential component in a research project study, by utilizing member checking. A scheduled time was allotted for each participant to review the transcriptions from the interviews that had been conducted with them for the purpose of member checking. During the member checking procedure, participants were allowed to review only their individual interview transcripts and audio recordings for truthfulness. During this process, participants had the chance to add or remove anything they believed did not precisely represent their responses (Candela, 2019) and provide practical feedback on the initial codes and themes. The participants in the interviews agreed that the codes and themes from their respective interviews were valid. Member checking allowed me, as the researcher, to ensure the research met the standards of credibility.

The explicit instruction framework for effective and efficient teaching developed by Becker and Engelmann (1973a, 1973b, 1976)'s conceptual framework was used to guide this study. This framework aligns with this study to understand how teachers implement specific instructional model strategies to support explicit vocabulary building for ELL students. The framework exemplifies six research-based principles and functions as a catalyst for structuring meaningful vocabulary connections regularly throughout the academic year. The explicit instruction framework is intended as a tool to support teacher participants in this study, helping them identify the most effective practices for helping ELL students develop content area vocabulary.

The overall results of this doctoral project study revealed that core subject area teachers had not received adequate professional development focused on improving the use of specific instructional strategies to support direct academic vocabulary building for ELL students effectively. Some of the interview participants felt more confident about teaching ELLs because they had obtained more ELL-specific training and the foundation of a higher education, which required reading more educational research articles that included the education of ELLs. However, most of the teachers were not confident about the strategies they used when working with ELLs. Even participants who felt self-confident in their abilities to work with ELLs revealed a need for a more differentiated and personalized professional development that focuses solely on ELLs' vocabulary instruction. Some teachers expressed that they had never had a professional training that

focused on ELL, even though they have taught ELL in some capacity for six or more years.

Themes and Descriptions

In this doctoral project study, I utilized a basic qualitative study research design to attain an in-depth understanding of how core content subject area teachers are executing specific instructional model strategies to support direct instruction for content area academic vocabulary building for ELL students. All participants were selected to participate in the doctoral study based on specific criteria. I emailed invitations to teachers to volunteer to participate in the study who were a) middle-school core subject teachers in one of the following areas: math, science, or social studies, b) are presently teaching or have taught ELL students, and c) assert they may be under-prepared to provide appropriate research-based instruction for their ELL students. The data collection process relied on one-on-one interviews. All interviews used a semistructured interview protocol which allowed me to stay concentrated throughout the interview process to gain a deep understanding of what type of specific vocabulary instructional strategies middle school core subject teachers may have implemented to support the academic vocabulary needs of ELLs and their perceptions of their capabilities to teach ELL students in content area classes, and how professional trainings have offered support in teaching vocabulary to ELLs. After meticulously analyzing the data, I created a table for the emerging themes and codes. In Table 2 below, I cataloged the themes aligned with the research questions or the conceptual framework. The number of occurrences identified the various themes and codes from the data.

Table 2

Themes	Codes	Number of
		Occurrences
Teacher belief in their	Proficient	8
knowledge/strategies for ELL		
vocabulary building		
	Developing	3
	Accomplished	1
Completed professional	None	5
development/training		
	Sit & Get Information	2
	SIOP Model during Learning	3
	Teams	
	Interactive PD focused solely	2
	on ELL	
Basic ELL strategies used	Technology Games	1
	Buzz words from SIOP	1
	Realia	6
Collaboration with colleagues	District Specialists	2
	School Personnel	4
Need for specific training for	Vocabulary	10
ELLs		
	Cultural awareness	3
Teachers' beliefs of ELLs	All students can grow	12
learning ability	academically	
	Students learn differently	12

Codes and Themes and Occurrences from Interviews

Table 2 helped me organize and analyze the data more truthfully and effectively, connecting the themes with the framework and research questions. When each transcript was coded, the codes from each transcript were combined and categorized into themes based on similarity, reducing the codes into a smaller number of categories to be analyzed. The themes included teacher belief in their knowledge/strategies for ELL

vocabulary building, completed professional development and training, basic ELL strategies used, collaboration with ESL colleagues, need for specific training for ELLs, and teachers' beliefs of ELLs learning ability.

Findings from RQ1

This doctoral study aimed to investigate how content area teachers at Middle School 55 perceived their abilities to effectively use specific instructional model strategies to support direct academic vocabulary building for ELL students. I analyzed the interview responses to align with Becker and Engelmann's (1978) principles of direct instruction. The principles include: (1) optimize engaged time/time on task, (2) promote high levels of success, (3) increase content coverage, (4) scaffold instruction, (5) more time in instructional groups, and (6) address different forms of knowledge (Engelmann, 1999). Three findings emerged from the data analysis from research question one. First, participants stated their belief in their knowledge of ELL vocabulary-building strategies. Second, participants reported their current trainings on instructional strategies to meet ELLs' academic vocabulary needs. Third, teachers reported the types of basic ELL strategies they currently use in the core classroom.

Theme 1

The first theme that emerged from the data related to the teacher's self-assessment regarding their knowledge of evidence-based instructional strategies for ELLs. Additionally, the first emerging theme connected participants' confidence levels when providing vocabulary instruction to ELL students. Most participating teachers believed they required more skills to support ELLs in core content area subjects. The data revealed that three out of twelve teachers stated they were developing in this area; eight out of 12 teachers expressed they were proficient, and one teacher revealed that they were accomplished. The developing teacher agreed that they might exemplify the skills anticipated of a teacher who may be new to the profession, a veteran teacher who is working in a brand-new content area or grade level, or who requires a new skill to be competent at the next level. The teachers that disclosed that they were proficient believed that they inconsistently demonstrated basic competence with the implementation of strategies but required more work to practice and support a consistent implementation. The accomplished teacher expressed that they had an above-average foundation, was knowledgeable of, and consistently implemented vocabulary strategies for their ELL students. The self-identified accomplished teacher continued reading articles on effective researched-based strategies. Moreover, they participated and sought their own professional development outside of those offered in the local district, which provided them with ELL instructional strategies they need to become an effective teacher.

For the purpose of this study, anonymity and confidentiality were accomplished by assigning each teacher the letters SP (study participant) along with a number that was unique to each participant. The accomplished teacher, SP08, who teaches science, believed that education on academic strategies, specific professional development, collaboration with their ELL colleagues and specialists, as well as connections with parents of ELLs prepared them to become highly successful core content teachers. Teachers who reported that they believed in their proficient abilities to work with ELL students on vocabulary building reported that they have participated in one to three professional development trainings provided by the local district. However, the teachers felt that the district-sponsored professional development had little influence on the way they implement vocabulary strategies to ELLs. As SP12 (study participant) stated,

In the past 5 years...I would say I have attended maybe two PDs and that focused on best teaching practices to support EL vocabulary development. Both were at different sites. The PD was more informational (sit-and-get). I have read one or two research based articles other than the professional development offered.

SPO7, also a social studies teacher stated:

Although I have had five-six professional training and education, most of the trainings focused primarily on exceptional children's strategies with an insert of vague strategies that may be used to support vocabulary development in the core content areas.

Through their responses to the interview questions, SPO2, a math teacher, affirmed that they have had five professional development that involved specific strategies to implement for ELLs. The trainings were facilitated by English as a Second Language (ESL)specialists during professional learning team meetings. During these meetings, the ESL specialists involved attending teachers in interactive strategies that support ELL vocabulary building. SPO2 stated,

I am very assured in my capability to meet the needs of the ELL students I teach due to the specific ELL training, experience, and education I have completed. I have taught middle school ELL students for many years and have attended a variety of ELL PD that helps me become effective in teaching our ELLs.

Theme 2

After analyzing the teacher's interview responses, the data revealed that all core content area teachers benefitted from education, training, and experiences that focused specifically on research-based strategies to support ELLs in the classroom. The accessibility of professional development opportunities could positively change the perspectives of all content area teachers about their ability to implement content area vocabulary for ELLs. Research suggests that ELLs in secondary grades will struggle in all content area classes, regardless of content, if they do not have adequate vocabulary skills. Reflectively, teachers of all core content areas need to implement similar vocabulary acquisition and instructional strategies to promote academic growth among ELLs that matches the growth of their non-ELL peers (Elleman et al., 2019; Gallagher et al., 2019).

Furthermore, some of the teachers who stated they were proficient in their teaching abilities asserted that they were persistent in seeking professional growth and additional professional development opportunities whenever possible. They realized that training and professional development could enhance their knowledge and skills in implementing ELL content vocabulary. The findings suggested that professional development programs that engaged teachers in comprehensive, direct instruction strategies for core vocabulary could improve students' learning experiences in the core content subject area classroom.

On the one hand, teachers believed that explicit vocabulary instruction was beneficial for all students, with ELLs having a greater need for such instruction. However, responses in data revealed that many teachers do not believe in their abilities to implement vocabulary strategies for ELL in the core classroom. Participating teachers agreed that focusing on content-specific vocabulary development and modified instructional practices significantly improves ELL academic success.

Three out of twelve teachers rated themselves as developing in their abilities to provide core academic vocabulary instruction to ELLs in regular education. These twelve teachers related their "developing" abilities to 0 - 1 professional training during their teaching career. Teachers who were not confident in their abilities to implement vocabulary strategies stated that they had not received any ELL-focused PDs in the last five years. This likely impacted how participants rated their abilities to provide core content vocabulary instruction to ELLs. Participants stated that having access to professional development and professional learning teams that focused on ELL strategies would provide much-needed guidance on how they should teach and incorporate content area vocabulary strategies that effectively support the growth of the ELLs. For instance, SP06, another math teacher, stated:

I believe that I have not been sufficiently trained or prepared to teach ELLs specifically. I frequently pay no attention to their needs because I am unfamiliar with the strategies to implement with them or where to start, nor do I have time to seek strategies to implement. Participant SP01 was a math teacher that also affirmed that they had not received any ELL PD or training in the last five years, and as a result may be affecting the way strategies are implemented to ELL in the core content areas of math.

Theme 3

Additionally, teachers who felt proficient or accomplished in their abilities to teach ELLs in regular education, discussed the types of basic instructional strategies they implemented to support the academic vocabulary needs of their ELLs. Participants stated that they felt confident and prepared to work with ELLs. However, their strategies were not specifically for ELL students. Participants cited restraints on time and planning as barriers to implementing specific strategies for ELL students. For example, SP11 stated:

The strategies I use are for all students, which include exceptional students, ELLs, and students not on grade level. Those strategies include, buzz words, scaffolding, pre-teaching, guided practice, and gradual release based on individualized needs of students.

The data also revealed that many teachers' basic strategies used for ELLs in conjunction with all other students may not be adequate to help vocabulary building of ELLs. Strategies such as word walls, illustrations or realia, roots words, cognates, and modifying assignments are basic strategies that ultimately meet ELL students' needs. SP12 also stated, "Yes, I work with other EL teacher to modify assignments and grading practices based on the level of the individual students."

One participant revealed that they used SIOP strategies for ELLs in the past but did not find it effective as the model focuses on single-culture classrooms where students are second and foreign language learners. SIOP (Sheltered Instruction Observation Protocol) is an instructional model that is implemented to address the academic needs of English learners. SP03 stated,

I have used some examples from SIOP however, I have not found many of them useful, so I revert to what I have used to include strategies in my classroom. Using technology interactive games as a resource was a reported by nine of 12 teachers.

Teachers revealed that they used interactive websites as tools for students to practice vocabulary independently, outside of direct instruction. Platforms such as PearDeck, Google Docs, and iReady, Kahoot, Quizlet were used for notes, translating dictionaries, and some core lessons. These were reported as supplemental tools that ELLs use as learning independent resources that are not individualized for the needs or levels of the ELL's language or vocabulary ability. SP07, a science teacher, stated:

I use games that help students learn English, but they focus on different skills, not just vocabulary. Student are given a time to work independently on these skills. I also use Wizer and Quizziz for assessments for all students.

Another theme that emerged from the results was the use of generally applied strategies when teaching ELLs. The term generally applied was used to identify strategies that were used for everyone in the classroom regardless of students' individual needs. These strategies may be beneficial for the overall classroom objective; however, the ELL students were not showing significant growth in comparison to their non-ELL peers. Participants were candid in their responses, admitting that the generally applied strategies they used to build students' vocabulary skills were ineffective for their ELL students. According to participants' responses, their ELLs did not show any growth in their vocabulary skills when generally applied strategies were used.

Many ELL students enter classrooms with strong vocabulary skills in their home language. However, this does not necessarily mean that they will successfully acquire vocabulary in the second language (Hunt & Feng, 2016). The differences in their home language and English language conventions may pose remarkable challenges to ELLs' abilities to acquire second language vocabulary skills. In fact, ELLs enter school with more limited English-language vocabularies compared to non-ELL students (Gallagher et al., 2019). ELLs in secondary grades will struggle in their core subject area classes if they do not have adequate vocabulary-building strategies.

Findings from RQ2

Like RQ1, I analyzed interview responses based on the principles of direct instruction. The findings provided an understanding of what academic resources core subject teachers perceive they need to effectively provide explicit academic vocabulary instruction for ELLs. Three findings from research question two also emerged from the interview responses. First, participants stated that collaboration with colleagues was a key component in ELL vocabulary development. Second, the participants said that there a need for more specific training for ELL's instructional strategies. Third, participants expressed that all students have the capacity to learn, despite factors that may be present.

Theme 1

All twelve teacher participants believed that positive collaboration between ESL and classroom teachers could encourage core content area classroom instruction by implementing strategies offered by ESL teachers. This theme is supported by Green (2019), who suggested that educators would better serve their diverse student populations by learning about and accommodating students' cultural heritage and evolving students' traditional ways of interacting with others. Cultural competence can be encouraged by providing professional development opportunities and assisting in the positive collaboration between teachers, faculty, and culturally knowledgeable professionals will improve the quality of instruction and the overall success of students. D'Haem and Griswold (2017) agreed, emphasizing that partnerships and collaboration among educators are critical. The challenges that must be overcome include barriers to teaching and learning caused by the diverse backgrounds and experiences among teachers and students. Further challenges will likely occur with teachers' abilities to effectively educate while understanding cultural diversity.

Giles and Yazan, 2019 found that ESL and content teachers' collaboration was still not a continual teaching practice, mainly in core subject area classrooms. The authors reported critical need areas, including challenging teacher beliefs, schedule conflicts, and school-based support. Giles and Yazan supported the idea that ESL and core content subject area teachers needed to engage in more collaboration as a pathway towards impartial learning outcomes for ELL students. It is imperative for school-based and district-based stakeholders to share a common mission and vision for the teaching and planning of ELL students.

All participants agreed that there was a need for collaboration between ESL teachers and core content subject area teachers to discuss, reflect, share and combine

teaching methods. According to participants SP01, SP03, SP04, and SP07, collaboration was needed; however, they did not work in partnership with the ESL teachers or specialists. All the participants believed that time constraints, scheduling, and how teachers prioritize student needs were major factors when it came to providing an appropriate education for their ELLs. Participant SP04 stated:

I do not get an opportunity to collaborate with the ESL teacher for support because of different schedule conflicts. The priority that is placed on the focus of exceptional children population when it comes to teacher collaboration. I wish that there was opportunity for co-teaching with the ESL teachers.

The responses revealed that teachers believed collaboration was especially advantageous in science, math, and social studies, where students were exposed to core content-specific vocabulary that could be more challenging. Peercy (2018) supported that ELLs would achieve more success if core content subject area teachers and ESL teachers made efforts to collaborate. A collaborative partnership would potentially provide a space to challenge instructional strategies as well as offer and provide constructive feedback.

As reported by participants SP02, SP06, SP10, SP011, and SP012, teacher collaboration strategies with ESL teachers occurred mainly when ELLs showed major challenges in the core content classroom. Participant SP02 described how support was given from the ESL teacher:

The ESL teacher will sometime pull out the students or they may join the content area class for 30 to 40 minutes. She helps students with their current assignment,

however we do not collaborate prior to her visit to my classroom, so there is not focus on vocabulary.

Participant SP08 added that the ESL teacher was used for small group instruction focusing on current skills; however, there was seldom any collaboration to discuss the current content or focus on vocabulary-building strategies. Participants SP05 and SP09 agreed in their responses that consistent collaboration with ESL teachers led to noticeable student achievement. The collaborative sessions discussed cultural competence and scheduled times for ESL teachers to conduct class observations. Collaborative sessions were also used to provide insight on student levels, understand students' abilities to acquire a new language, and address the student's vocabulary needs. Vintan and Gallagher (2019) also highlighted the importance of academic success and cultural competency in the classroom. The authors noted that collaboration allowed teachers to learn new and contemporary teaching practices. Moreover, core content subject area teachers could widen their knowledge of culturally competent instruction, likely positively influencing their students' abilities to learn content area vocabulary.

Theme 2

Another theme that developed from the results was the lack of specific training for ELLs. All teachers stated that the lack of specific training for ELLs was a barrier to teaching ELLs effectively in the core content classrooms of math, science, and social studies. According to all participants, professional development and training played a vital part in their abilities to teach ELLs. Participants who believed that they could successfully teach ELLs constantly participated in professional development to enhance their abilities to provide effective content vocabulary instruction for their ELLs. Eight out of twelve participants stated they did not feel confident in supporting ELLs in the core content subject area classroom largely due to a lack of appropriate professional development opportunities. The teacher participants stated they wanted additional guidance to support the ELLs' academic vocabulary needs in the core content subject areas.

Teachers attested that they had not participated in any specific ELL professional development that provided appropriate instructional strategies to meet the academic vocabulary needs of ELLs; therefore, professional development was necessary to increase their knowledge, skills, and abilities to implement direct instruction strategies for ELLs. Participants felt that the most beneficial professional development would focus solely on ELLs and vocabulary building. Professional development sessions that focused broadly on the support of all students, with only a marginal mention of ELL instructional support, were considered least beneficial. It is necessary to have professional development that specifically focuses on meeting the academic needs of ELL students so that teachers can learn effective vocabulary strategies in core content subject areas. Participants SP09, SP11, SP01, and SP05 all stated that they had not attended any professional development workshops or trainings that focused on best teaching practices to support ELL vocabulary development. Participant SP11 stated:

My ELLs oftentimes need more than I can provide them with. I believe that the district needs to provide teachers with effective professional development and would offer teachers more teaching strategies to help ELLs.

Many teachers agreed that they used the same strategies for all students; however, they believed if they had more specific strategies for ELLs, they would be able to help their ELL students acquire the vocabulary necessary to be successful in the core content subject areas.

Based on the district demographics report, many ELL students were categorized as high risk for academic failure based on their low socioeconomic status and the lack of educational resources at home. Without appropriate access to instructional resources and technology, teachers may find it difficult to implement methods and strategies to help ELL students. Some teachers believed that using basic strategies would have more impact on ELL's achievement than if they did not use any strategies at all. Participant SP04 stated:

I have been teaching 7 years, and I have not received any trainings to ELLs. The challenges I face are using generic strategies for all students, and not have tools and resources to implement true vocabulary strategies for ELLs in social studies.

Some teachers revealed that they had to develop their own resources, hoping they would be effective, which was very time-consuming. I found that many resources were not suitable for ELLs. Lack of suitability was determined by whether academic resources and strategies were on the appropriate level for ELL students or if the instruments on how to implement were too vague. It is important to note that teachers who self-assessed themselves as developing in their abilities to instruct ELLs on the core content classroom agreed that the lack of specific training in vocabulary building might affect their teacher abilities of ELLs; however, not all students collectively. Guler (2020) highlighted support

for teachers to gain knowledge in ELL education. He supported that core content subject area teachers may have negative cultural perceptions of ELLs and, therefore, may be using inaccurate teaching strategies to teach ELLs. Researchers showed that content-area teachers were generally unfamiliar with ELL strategies because they had not received extensive professional development on meeting the needs of ELLs, particularly within the context of their subject areas (Besterman et al., 2018).

Theme 3

Another theme that emerged from the results was teachers' beliefs in the abilities of all ELL students to show growth or demonstrate proficiency regardless of factors such as language barriers. All the teacher participants believed all students have the capacity to learn. It was agreed that students do not learn at the same rate or with the same methods or strategies, but it is certainly possible for students to learn and grow. Education is not exclusively academic; the teacher must also teach their students mentally by teaching them the skills to develop a growth mindset. Teachers believed that circumstances such as parent support, teacher strategies, and student attitude play a vital role in the ELLs' success; however, student growth is possible. The consensus was that teachers needed to use a variety of methods/approaches in order to reach all students. They understood that not all students learn in the same way. Understanding ways to vary methods of teaching ELLs will help to foster not only learning but growth in all ELLs. The perspectives were consistent that teachers play a significant role in learning, particularly in facilitating ELL students' feelings, connection to school, and self-efficacy as learners. Participant SP12 stated:

I believe that all students will learn and grow if the instruction is not at -or abovefrustration level and the students are motivated to do the work.

Teachers agreed that ELL students could progress in all subjects and could learn based on their individual development and abilities. Participant SPO9 agreed,

I am confident ELLs are capable of learning and growing and reaching their full potential. The way they learn will look different, but consistency and student selfbelief play a factor in student success.

Research from Shim and Shur (2018) supported the sentiments of this theme. The authors agreed that ELLs' learning experiences have largely focused on teacher and student views. Further findings indicated there is a necessity to understand ELLs' perspectives of their own learning experiences and to make efforts to foster their growth based on their beliefs. In this regard, the researchers were firm in their beliefs that there is not enough emphasis on the student's abilities to acquire adequate necessary language and vocabulary skills, nor are there sufficient learning opportunities for teachers who support ELLs.

Discrepant Cases

I took into consideration all discrepant cases. Some of the participant's responses to the interview questions did not clearly answer the research questions for the study. The discrepant cases were utilized in the final project study. I explored the responses for discrepant cases as I coded my data from the interview transcripts. Although participants had comparable experiences, challenges, and perspectives, there were only two responses that could be interpreted as a discrepant case. Participants SP1 and SP11, when asked in the last five years, how many PD workshops or trainings have you attended that focused on best teaching practices to support EL vocabulary development? How were they structured; both answered that they had not participated in any workshops or trainings. These participants were noted as a discrepant case because their responses shared differed significantly from the other participants. Those discrepancies did not alter the findings but established support for the need for training for middle school content teachers to implement specific instructional model strategies to support explicit academic vocabulary building for ELL students. These discrepant cases could help district and school administrators as well as teachers of ELLs when making decisions on trainings that will benefit ELLs in all classrooms, which may not focus on vocabulary building.

Evidence of Quality

Member checking ensured establishing the integrity of the research study's findings. This member-checking process guaranteed that the findings were accurate and honest, as the interviewees approved my interpretation of their open-ended responses, which offered them an awareness of the findings of this study (Candela, 2019). To safeguard the quality and validity of the collected data, my findings were presented to the participants for member checking. The participants did not identify any errors or see any need for modifying the presentation of the findings as written. The participants were pleased with the transcribed data and decided that the transcripts were correct.

Conclusion

This qualitative study's aim was to investigate how classroom core subject teachers at Middle School 55 perceive their ability to implement specific instructional model strategies to support explicit academic vocabulary building for ELL students. Through teacher interviews, I deeply understood core subject teachers' perceptions of supporting ELLs' vocabulary building in the core classroom. A basic qualitative study design provided me with an opportunity to interview to gather data to answer the research questions. The school location where the doctoral study took place was Middle School 55, with many ELL students. There were twelve participants in this doctoral project study who were middle-school core content subject area teachers in one of the following areas: math, science, or social studies, presently teaching or have taught ELL students.

Additionally, the participants emphasized that they felt under-prepared to provide appropriate research-based instruction for their ELL students. To protect participants' identities, I utilized a letter-number system for each participant, with the assigned letter combination of SP. I met my responsibility to further safeguard the teacher participants by electronically storing all study-related materials, including interview recordings and responses. The data will be a password-guarded file on my computer, ensuring no one else will have access to the data. Any paper or non-electric data will be kept in a secure box. Data will be protected for five years, per the procedure of Walden University. After five years, I will destroy all data and shred all journals or notes accompanying the research. The data from my interviews reveal some common threads.

While vocabulary learning is one of the essential skills needed for language learning (Wei, 2021), it remains difficult for teachers to help students who are learning the English language (Williams et al., 2019). For students to successfully understand the core content, teachers must understand and implement direct instruction for vocabulary learning and be able to offer their ELL students effective strategies to learn the vocabulary (Moody et al., 2018). Targeted vocabulary instruction involves using systematic methods that intentionally focus on students' critical needs for the content area (Valley, 2019). The exploration of teachers' perceptions suggested a need for professional development to learn strategies and instruction that are useful and effective for vocabulary development. It will require a connection to be made between academic and content-specific vocabulary word meaning if such teaching is to have any impact on the language success of ELL students.

This study will provide information that helps fill the gaps in the field of education by identifying evidence-based vocabulary strategies and instructional facilitation not only in the local school but across districts. The research will encourage implementing vocabulary-building strategies geared toward direct instruction for ELLs. This research will also provide teachers in the local district with innovative methods for teaching student vocabulary strategies that will ultimately result in the continuous application of effective teaching methods that will benefit ELLs. The outcomes to be considered are the enhancement of students' abilities in academic vocabulary, the consistent implementation of direct instruction as an instructional strategy and enhancing students' vocabulary independence.

Implications for positive social change take some journey as educators discover ways to implement instructional strategies for building vocabulary for ELLs. These outcomes may affect administration, principals, teachers, parents, and students as instructional strategies are implemented for continuous student improvement, increasing vocabulary skills, and optimistically offering a society of learners equipped for their educational success. Based on the findings of this research, the goal is to establish professional development that focuses on effective vocabulary strategies for middle school students and to help link the educational missions of parents, community, and school to provide core content vocabulary strategies that will enhance student skills and offer an avenue of growth across core content disciplines.

After evaluating the data, the results of this doctoral project study were the basis for my decision to build a professional development workshop for all teachers who provide instructional support to ELLs. Based on the data evaluation, some of the teachers feel unprepared in their abilities to instruct vocabulary to ELLs in the core content areas because they lack the knowledge and skills of effective instructional strategies to support their ELL students in vocabulary building. Furthermore, some teachers had not received any professional development focused on teaching ELLs. By understanding the essential knowledge and developing the skills to teach ELLs, teachers could increase student achievement in vocabulary among ELL students in the core content areas. In section 3, I will explain the intent and advantages of the project.

Section 3: The Project

This project will be a 3-day professional development training program that involves how vocabulary and reading development occurs in the brain and assists middle school content area educators in helping ELLs to increase their vocabulary. The first session discusses the components required to successfully develop reading skills. Attendees will be educated on the effectiveness of differentiation when supporting their ELL students. Reading skills will be organized into two functions: language comprehension and word recognition. Each function will be discussed in terms of where each reading skill develops, the importance of each reading skill, and how language learning may impact the development of appropriate skills. Participants in the second session will explore research-based vocabulary instruction for ELLs with the goal of introducing research-based instructional strategies that will support the development of vocabulary skills in core content areas. The objective is for session participants to write a lesson plan that includes differentiation for ELLs throughout the session. During the third session, research-based vocabulary instruction for ELLs will be modeled through case studies, role play, and coaching. This session aims to introduce research-based instructional strategies that will support the development of vocabulary skills in core content areas for ELLs. The objective is for attendees to be able to identify and use research-based strategies to support vocabulary instruction of ELLs.

Theoretical Foundation

Engelmann's direct instruction framework for effective and efficient teaching was used as the foundation for my research study, and Krashen's theory of second language acquisition was used as support for the project plan. Monitoring in second language acquisition refers to more formal and explicit approaches to language teaching. Krashen's definition of acquisition relates to ways for ELLs to develop language skills. Academic vocabulary teaching and learning were explored in my dissertation as deliberate and structured processes in which specific strategies were suggested to support ELLs in middle school. Academic vocabularies are non-general concepts that are typically consistent over time, following definitive rules regarding spelling and meaning. They may be defined specifically for use within a specific content area to explain content-specific ideas and concepts. Because content area teachers at Middle School 55 are generally not well-prepared to teach ELLs in their classrooms. Using a more structured and formalized approach to teaching vocabulary will hopefully mitigate the fact that content area teachers at Middle School 55 lack significant experience with ELL education.

Project Rationale

The rationale for this project was developed as I conducted my research. Teacher professional development was the most identified area of need in ELL education (Ritchie, 2020). Based on my research, I concluded that effective vocabulary teaching strategies implemented by core content subject area teachers would be advantageous for ELLs as they are learning academic vocabulary. Explicit teaching of vocabulary is essential to students who are learning a second language. ELLs experience fewer academic successes than their English-speaking peers (Roesler, 2022). The population of ELLs served in public schools across the United States is estimated to be over four million students

(NCTE, 2020). The range of needs among ELL students is so diverse that it is difficult for districts to create and implement educational programs that accommodate the individualized needs of each student. Students who lack proficiency in English are more likely to be viewed negatively in classroom environments, isolated from their Englishspeaking peers, and receive little support from their teachers (Giatsou, 2019).

This professional development project could potentially be used as a model for other districts and schools as they plan their own trainings that focus on effective teaching practices for ELL students. Using my professional development model, administrators and content core subject area teachers can formulate plans of action to help teachers meet their ELL students' needs. As they explore this project, districts and schools should take the opportunity to identify strengths and weaknesses of their own curriculum and design for ELL education and create an improvement plan to capitalize on strengths while identifying ways to eliminate any weaknesses. Topics and activities in my professional development model can be redesigned to reflect a district, school, or classroom's unique ELL population and district and school resources.

Review of the Literature

A review of literature and responses to interview questions highlighted a need for core content subject area teachers to be made aware of how language acquisition occurs for ELLs as well as more training for teachers regarding how to provide vocabulary instruction for middle school ELL students. The challenge was trying to scaffold core content area vocabulary for students with limited or no English language exposure. While ELLs in middle grades may develop social language quickly, this does not necessarily mean that they easily develop academic vocabulary skills (University of Florida, 2018).

Although social language communication is important for ELLs' peer-to-peer communication, lack of formality disqualifies social language communication from being a predictor of whether ELLs will master middle school core content subject area academic vocabulary (Sandoval, 2018). Explicit instruction of vocabulary should be multifaceted, and a one size fits all approach will not meet the needs of all ELLs. Learning opportunities should include direct instruction as well as incidental learning (University of Florida, 2018).

Successful development of academic vocabulary is essential to students being able to comprehend core content area texts. ELLs may find it difficult to learn academic vocabulary because of significant language barriers that they experience (Krashen, 1991). Language barriers can include difficulty with expressive and recessive language, difficulty reading transit words, difficulty understanding nuances of grammar and composition in a second language, and limited exposure to conventions of the second language outside of academic learning environments (Krashen, 1982). Specifically, if ELLs struggle to acquire second language skills and are not exposed to the second language outside of school settings, they may experience delays in terms of acquisition of core content area vocabulary (Sandoval, 2018). However, with explicit vocabulary instruction, ELLs have a greater chance of experiencing academic success (Texas Center for Learning Disabilities, 2020)

Phonological and Phonemic Awareness

All literacy learning begins with phonological and phonemic awareness. Without adequate development of these skills, children struggle to develop reading and writing skills. The achievement gap for ELLs is widening, particularly those in middle and high schools. The problem has been linked to ELLs' lack of early literacy skills essential to developing other literacy skills like reading comprehension and vocabulary. For ELLs to progress towards reading proficiency, teachers require an understanding of how ELLs' native languages differ from the English language, thus impacting ways second language literacy skills (Lems et al., 2017). As such, when creating learning opportunities for ELLs, consideration should be given to previous literacy experiences as well as levels of English language proficiency (Alberta Education, 2022). Adolescent ELLs who have not received instruction involving early literacy in the English language, notably how to match letters to sounds, will likely struggle with reading comprehension (Lems et al., 2017).

Although early literacy skills are generally taught in elementary school, ELLs in middle school may benefit from early literacy instruction to facilitate their learning of academic vocabulary. Teachers are encouraged to include basic literacy instruction with vocabulary instruction so that ELL students can develop and use their language skills in their core content subject area classes (Kaplan, 2019). Integrating phonics instruction with vocabulary instruction would allow ELLs to develop both word fluency as well as an understanding of a word's meaning (Staveley, 2021).

Phonics instruction has been cited as an important component in the literacy and learning of all students, but perhaps even more so for ELLs. The ability to decode will help students identify letters and letter sounds in isolation(segmenting), then blend the letters together to form a word. This skill would provide ELLs with evidence-based strategies to identify unfamiliar words they encounter when reading. Decoding activities should include presenting the ELL student with a decodable word. To be decodable, a word must follow regular spelling and sound conventions. For example, the word "you" would not be considered a decodable word because the "o" and the "u" would not be pronounced in isolation because they are consonant blends. However, a word like "cat" is decodable because each letter has its own unique sound. Once each sound has been articulated, the student would blend all sounds together to form a word.

Word attack refers to the explicit nature in which strategies are taught to help students identify unfamiliar words. Word-attack strategies may be effective for ELLs (Brooke, 2017), as they would be able to recognize unfamiliar words by finding familiar letter chunks. Letter chunks would include prefixes, suffixes, root words, letter-sound combinations, and smaller words embedded with the unfamiliar word. Read each chunk by itself. Then blend the chunks and sound out the word.

Explicit Vocabulary Instruction

Explicit vocabulary instruction refers to using a comprehensive approach to teaching vocabulary specific to each core content area subject matter. The importance of explicit content subject area vocabulary instruction for all students is noted. However, the importance of explicit vocabulary instruction for ELLs becomes critical due to their
limited exposure to written and spoken English outside the school environment, coupled with the fact that it could take ELLs 10 years to reach proficiency in English compared to their non-ELL peers (Giatsou, 2019), though the length of residency nor prolonged exposure to the second language are reliable predictors of language acquisition (Krashen, 1982).

For instruction to be explicit, the instructional and content design should be rigorous and include research-based strategies that have been proven effective in the development of literacy skills for ELLs (Brooke, 2017). Teaching strategies such as modeling, reading aloud, thinking aloud, questioning, guided practice and students' independent practice are used to help ELLs identify unknown words as they are reading. For example, Total Physical Response (TPR), Language Experience Approach (LEA), and Incidental Vocabulary Instruction have been identified as effective strategies that may be useful during vocabulary instruction.

TPR

The TPR strategy encourages students to look at the word holistically, using physical reactions to help teach students new vocabulary. The teacher models the physical action while teaching the vocabulary. For example, when teaching students about protests, a social studies teacher may use fist-pumping motions to indicate word meaning. Once the word has been used systematically, the social studies teacher would have students' fist-pump whenever the word "protest" was mentioned (Ferlazzo, 2022). The next step would be for the social studies teacher to have the students say the word and fist pump as they are doing so. Finally, the teacher would write the word "protest" so that students are able to see the word and associate it with the physical action (Bilingua, 2022).

LEA

ELL instruction must be rigorous, relevant, differentiated, and individualized for ELLs, with the understanding that students who are learning on different levels are developing their literacy skills, particularly in reading, writing, and speaking (Brooke, 2017). As a research-based method, the Language Experience Approach (LEA) allows teachers to scaffold literacy and language instruction through a series of reading, writing, speaking, and listening activities that can be differentiated and individualized based on students' learning levels. Because students will use their own experiences and ideas in their writing, it allows teachers to focus their instruction on vocabulary and writing (State of Victoria, 2022).

The LEA lesson can be created as a whole group, small group, or intervention activity. A lesson could be structured so that students are writing about firsthand experiences, or students may collectively be involved in an activity, such as a scavenger hunt or game-based application, after which the teacher guides students in the process of writing about it. Sentences could be simple, no more than three to five words in length or sentences could be more complex and expanded in length to include adjectives, adverbs, and other higher-order grammar skills (State of Victoria, 2022). Sentence structure would depend on students' literacy and language abilities.

Incidental Vocabulary Instruction

Incidental vocabulary instruction occurs within the natural learning environment of a student. This type of instruction happens spontaneously and is usually framed around a topic already being discussed in the classroom or could occur as teachable moments that have no relationship with the topic of discussion in the classroom. Using incidental vocabulary instruction allows ELLs the opportunity not only to understand word meaning but to use that word both in and out of context. A study conducted by Aka (2020) and Singer (2022) explored ways in which incidental learning could be used to support ELLs during their language acquisition journeys. Aka (2020) explored the idea that Japanese high school students could learn a specific grammatical convention through repetitive exposure to the same grammar structure in their reading. Based on the study's findings, Aka (2020) established a positive link between incidental learning and an ELL's ability to successfully develop their linguistic abilities by having multiple encounters with targeted vocabulary. Singer (2022) researched the use of cartoons as an effective means of learning unfamiliar words, theorizing that incidental exposure to cartoon dialogue could prove instrumental to ELL children's success in learning a second language.

Teacher Preparedness

Preparing teachers to deliver effective research-based instruction to second language learners is critical to the success of such instruction (Guler, 2020). Lack of appropriate professional development was a repetitive theme in the research literature (Cannady, 2020; Zhang et al., 2021); either districts were not offering any professional development as it relates to ELLs, or the professional development offered by the district did not address many of the issues that teachers felt had impacted the teaching and learning of ELLs (Mitchell, 2019). Throughout my dissertation, I explored teacher preparedness to address the academic needs of their ELLs. Most participants in my study felt underprepared, lacking the foreknowledge to create learning opportunities for ELLs.

Professional Development

School districts must provide their teachers with multiple opportunities to effectively oversee the teaching and learning of ELL students (NCTE, 2020). The rate at which the ELL population is increasing in public schools should be alarming since many teachers are either minimally addressing the needs of ELLs or not addressing their needs at all (Cannady, 2020). There have been suggestions that teachers have negative attitudes about ELL students due to the frustration of not knowing how to integrate ELLs into the academic environment (Guler, 2020).

Teacher Preparation Programs

The potential for developing positive teaching and learning experiences for ELL education could begin as early as a teacher candidate's enrollment in a university preparation program. Because the structure of teacher preparation programs may vary amongst universities across the country, it is not uncommon for some teacher candidates, more than others, to have more knowledge about how to support ELL students (Ritchie, 2020). The idea of preparing teachers for ELL education at the university has been explored in recent studies, with results supporting the effectiveness of this approach (Giatsou, 2019). However, it should be understood that teacher preparation programs are only a foundation for preparing candidates to work with ELLs; as such, it is impossible to prepare teacher candidates for every situation that may occur in ELL education (Fober, 2020).

Teacher Background

Although ELL student populations have grown exponentially over the past decade, the teaching force has not changed to reflect student diversity. As such, approximately 90% of teachers in the United States are white females (Tardy et al., 2022), whose experiences with teaching ELL students range from no experiences to significant experiences. Where a teacher falls within this range will determine their understanding of ELL educational needs, their belief in their abilities to teach ELLs, and the importance of identifying and using best practices for the teaching and learning of ELLs (Ritchie, 2020). Teachers' attitudes and beliefs about ELLs' education could be shaped by their personal and professional backgrounds.

Race and culture in public schools across the United States have been researched from various perspectives, with researchers extensively highlighting the intentional and unintentional impact of a teacher's race on student learning (Abacioglu et al., 2020; Gunn et al., 2021; Puzio et al., 2020). Teachers with limited exposure to other races and cultures outside of their own may have a negative attitude and hold low expectations for students who do not embody their ideas of an ideal student (Shim, 2019). As a result, teachers with Eurocentric values and beliefs may not understand how race, culture, socioeconomics, and linguistic differences may limit a student's ability to access the learning environment without low to moderate accommodations and modifications put in place by the teacher (Rizzuto, 2017). The contrast between student and teacher demographics is important to understand when planning educational opportunities for racially, culturally, ethnically, and linguistically diverse students.

Project Reflection

Reflection on the project study will be done at least twice a week through analysis of study data, a review of recurring themes, and any participant feedback from postworkshop surveys. I will take the time to reflect on ways to enhance the professional development I have proposed, using the research I will gather from similar professional development training that focuses specifically on instructional strategies that have been proven effective for ELLs.

Project Outline

Day 1: Language Acquisition

The rationale for selecting the topics in this session is based on the idea that teachers need to understand how ELLs acquire language so that lesson plans can be created and implemented with research-based practices for ELLs (Fober, 2020). Goal: Attendees will create action plans for ELLs based on best practices for language acquisition.

Objectives: To identify gaps in the teaching and learning experiences in ELL education and design an action plan to address the gaps that have been identified.

Attendees will learn about:

- 1. Brain-based processes involved in language acquisition.
- Factors that influence the acquisition of language. Krashen's Theory of Second Language Acquisition.

- 3. How language and learning are impacted by the development of the different areas of the reading brain.
- 4. Understanding the various strands of reading development that are important as ELLs develop English-language literacy skills. Strands are background knowledge, vocabulary, language structures, verbal reasoning, literacy knowledge, phonological awareness, decoding, and sight word recognition.
- 5. Common instructional mistakes that impact an ELL's literacy development.
 - Handout of "The Reading Brain," which is essentially a drawing of the brain, the various cortexes, and their functions.
 - Handout of the Reading Rope is an infographic of a rope that shows the strands that make up skilled reading and how those strands are interwoven.
 - Prezi presentation of reading development includes: (a)individual slides for each cortex of The Reading Brain. Individual slides for each cortex will be used to explore its function in developing appropriate reading skills. (b) individual slides for the processes (language comprehension and word recognition) involved in the Reading Rope, and its function in developing appropriate reading skills. (c) Factors that may affect the development of reading skills. These factors include:
 - > Development of reading skills in the native language.
 - ➤ Presence of a disability.
 - Environmental influences such as the predominant language spoken in the home.

 Challenges with developing a new language while simultaneously learning academic vocabulary.

Day 2: Identifying Research-Based Vocabulary Instruction for ELLs

The rationale for the selection of the topics and activities in this section is based on the recommendation that teachers should be involved with more professional development workshops that will give them hands-on experiences with creating lesson plans that align with the needs of ELL students based on evidence-based practices (Roesler, 2022).

Goal: To introduce research-based instructional strategies that will support the development of vocabulary skills in the core content areas.

Objectives: Attendees will write a lesson plan to include differentiation for ELLs.

- Handouts to include two example lesson plan templates and one blank lesson plan template. The first lesson plan template will be a basic lesson that includes all of the basic components of the curriculum and instruction from one of the core content subject areas. The example will be used to show the foundation for a lesson that does not include opportunities for differentiation, diversified learning, or individualization.
- The second version of the lesson plan will be more extensive, including researchbased differentiated resources and strategies that support the teaching and learning of vocabulary for ELLs. In groups of 3-4 people, attendees will analyze the components and new additions that have been added to the lesson plan from Day 1. They will discuss the importance of the new additions as well as ways in which

they intend to approach literacy instruction for students who are not English language speakers at home. Each group will share at least one idea from their discussion.

- The third version of the lesson plan will be a blank template that attendees will use to create their own core content subject area lesson plan that includes all of the necessary components to support ELLs in the classroom. The second lesson plan template can be used as a model for attendees as they are completing this activity.
- A fourth handout will be a graphic chart outlining ELLs' five levels of language proficiency.

Day 3: Modeling of Research-Based Vocabulary Instruction for ELLs

The rationale for the selection of the topics and activities in this section is based on two findings. One, that ELL students benefit from explicit academic vocabulary instruction, and two, core content subject area teachers have not been properly prepared to teach ELLs. The goals and objectives identified for Day 3 will address both findings. Goal: To introduce research-based instructional strategies that will support the development of vocabulary skills in the core content areas for ELLs. Objectives: Attendees will identify and use research-based strategies to support the vocabulary instruction of ELLs.

Attendees will learn about:

1. Additional factors to be considered when identifying appropriate vocabulary instruction for ELLs.

- 2. Appropriate strategies that have been identified as effective when providing ELLs vocabulary instruction.
- Additional resources (e.g., technology, intervention programs) will help facilitate ELLs' vocabulary instruction.
- 4. What appropriate vocabulary instruction should look like for ELLs?
 - Participants will watch a 5-minute video about strategies that teachers in other areas of the country have found effective for supporting ELLs.
 - Participants will view a 5-minute video featuring two case study students, one who received explicit vocabulary instruction, and one who did not, and how their academic experiences impacted their outcomes.
 - During instructional modeling and role-playing activities, participants will note any positive and negative behaviors the teacher and student exhibited after each activity. The observation worksheet will be distributed before the activities begin.
 - A reflection sheet will be distributed so that participants can document how their attendance in the workshop may help them revise their current practices for teaching ELL students.

Project Implications

Core content area teachers who teach ELLs will benefit from the 3-day PD sessions. These teachers will learn strategies to successfully teach ELLs to improve their vocabulary knowledge in the core content areas. Professional development with hands-on activities will help content core teachers to help ELLs learn academic vocabulary.

Core teachers will benefit from the findings by learning how to write effective lesson plans and focus on specific objectives to help build academic vocabulary for ELLs. The project was created to meet the needs of middle school core content area teachers who teach ELLs. The 3-day project should be utilized by school and district administrators for decision-making processes to support teachers who teach ELLs at all levels of language ability. The project may also encourage school and district administrators to provide more professional development opportunities for core subject teachers who teach ELLs to increase their vocabulary knowledge of ELLs. This professional development has implications for positive social change because the professional development is specific and relevant to increasing teachers' knowledge and skills where they can learn the necessary and appropriate instructional strategies to work with ELLs. The professional development is focused explicitly on strategies that support ELLs. It can directly meet the need of the teachers, stakeholders, and students as they gain vocabulary knowledge that will benefit them long-term in their academic future.

Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions

Introduction

The objective of this qualitative study was to investigate how classroom core subject teachers at Middle School 55 perceive their ability to implement specific instructional model strategies to support explicit academic vocabulary building for ELL students. Low achievement on vocabulary assessments led to an investigation of the perspectives of middle school core subject teachers regarding instructional strategies to support the academic vocabulary needs of ELLs in the regular educational classroom. In this section, I discuss the strengths and limitations of the qualitative project study. I explain recommendations for professional development for teachers and administrators. I also discuss the significance of this project study, implications and suggestions for future researchers, and my conclusion.

Project Strengths and Limitations

Strengths

This professional development program was developed to help instructional coaches, school leaders, and core content teachers increase their knowledge and skills regarding strategies to improve the vocabulary development of ELLs. ELLs' achievement can increase by focusing on the professional needs of core content area teachers who teach ethnically diverse students. Through professional development, content area teachers can learn to plan effective and appropriate lesson plans and learning activities that target content vocabulary and implementation through the content area discipline. Data demonstrated that core content area education did not have strong background

knowledge of evidence-based instructional strategies for ELLs. Therefore, they require knowledge of effective instructional strategies and self-confidence in terms of working with linguistically diverse students. A strength of this project is that content area teachers can learn the necessary knowledge and skills to effectively teach content area vocabulary to ELLs by attending this professional development program. Teachers' experience, skills, and self-efficacy can positively influence how they assess students' vocabulary knowledge as well as plan and implement core content area instruction. Another strength of professional development sessions is that they improve the overall quality of teaching and learning at Middle School 55. By knowing ELLs' academic and linguistic needs, content area teachers can challenge each student academically. Implementing appropriate vocabulary learning activities and strategies for ELL students as it relates to their English proficiency will result in core academic growth. While many ELL students enter classrooms with solid vocabulary skills in their home language, this does not necessarily mean they successfully acquire vocabulary in the second language (Sa'd & Rajabi, 2018).

ELLs enter school with more limited English-language vocabularies than non-ELL students (Gallagher et al., 2019). ELLs in secondary grades struggle in content area classes if they do not have adequate language and literacy skills. Teachers may become more engaged in student learning and delivering instruction for students to practice problem-solving skills and critical thinking techniques. Teachers' content knowledge and changes in teacher practices affect student achievement. Popova et al. (2022) said content area teachers support the need for professional development of student-centered mathematics pedagogies to increase student vocabulary achievement and students' understanding of algebraic concepts. Data from this research suggests that teachers with proper professional development can make pedagogical changes, consequently improving student learning outcomes. The strength of this project is that professional development can provide content area teachers with practical knowledge and skills to support the academic vocabulary needs of ELLs and increase teachers' capacity to implement quality teaching and learning.

Limitations

While the professional development project can be advantageous to instructional coaches, school leaders, core content teachers, and parents, this project has some limitations. One limitation of this project is that only twelve middle school teachers were interviewed during the data collection process. The limited number of participants was not representative of middle school content area teachers. This professional development is designed to be implemented for a particular group of teachers; therefore, the results of this doctoral project study may not be applicable on a larger scale as results may vary. Another limitation involves the deliverability of the professional development program. Even though it is outlined in detail, instructional coaches or school leaders may not be knowledgeable about ELL instruction. Because of this limitation, experts with a background in ELLs may need to be used to instruct training, which may be an issue if school funds are unavailable.

The 3-day timeframe for professional development could also be a limitation of this project study. The training was created to be executed at the beginning of the

academic year. Teachers may feel pressure and voice objections to adding a task at the start of the year along with their other responsibilities, which may weaken the buy-in and effectiveness of the training. Professional development is designed to be meaningful yet timely. Time may be limited for content area teachers and school leaders to engage in meaningful discussions and collaboration for vocabulary support of ELLs.

Recommendations for Alternative Approaches

The problem explored through this study is that math, social studies, and science content area teachers struggle to implement specific instructional model strategies to support explicit content area academic vocabulary building for ELL students. To effectively execute this, an alternative approach could be that teachers need to agree to training and be willing to do work to learn instructional strategies that promote and foster ELL students' academic vocabulary in core content areas. Instructional coaches and school leaders need to explain to content area teachers the advantages of attending professional development and how knowledge will effectively benefit ELLs in content area classrooms. A second alternative approach is to offer it once monthly during professional learning teams. Professional learning teams are designed to build and extend capacity of teachings and how they meet the needs of students (Wallace, 2021). Teachers can work in collaborative teams focusing on vocabulary strategies in a specific core content area using curriculum units and research-based processes.

Scholarship, Project Development, and Leadership and Change Scholarship

Scholarship, to me, represents a learning approach that facilitates growth and positive change. As I conducted this qualitative study, I learned much about basic qualitative research. My objective was to answer the research questions and to discover themes that will help core content area teachers with ways to implement effective vocabulary strategies for ELLs. I also learned how to collect and analyze interview data effectively. During the project study, I learned a valuable understanding of how to conduct research. I increased my knowledge of what a good research experience can be in my role as an educator, instructional coach, and research practitioner. Throughout my data collection, I realized that participants need a platform to be heard and understood by giving feedback to enrich educational programs and school policies. While completing the study, I increased my communication skills as a teacher and instructional coach with my colleagues. Using my research skills to pinpoint details has informed decisions that impact the whole community as a collective body and not solely one individual. As a scholar, I now use my experiences of using research-based vocabulary instructional strategies to make educated decisions that will benefit my colleagues and my students simultaneously. My time spent in this doctoral program has given me an increased passion for learning and meeting the need of my diverse students.

Project Development

When I developed the professional development for my doctoral project study, it was my goal to create training that supported teachers and best offered them effective

strategies. The objective was for this professional development to be specific to core content area teachers and achievable outcomes for vocabulary-based strategies. The objective was for the professional development to also be relevant to the needs based on the interview responses from core content area teachers of math, science, and social studies, and lastly, to be time-bound to allow for effective outcomes and collaboration for better implementation. Defining these factors as they pertain to the professional development goal ensures that the objectives are attainable within a specific time frame, ultimately reducing generalities and guesswork but providing specific research-based strategies that can be implemented effectively (Fullan & Kirtman, 2019). I am currently working as a math and science instructional facilitator. This professional development has offered me a hands-on tool I plan to use to train core content area teachers who educate ELLs as a future leader.

The professional development is a learner-centered approach that focuses on the ELL student's learning and how they achieve vocabulary. This approach is attentive to meeting students' learning styles, not just educators or other stakeholders. With a learner-centered approach, the efforts are to grasp the students' interests and keep them engaged. When the student's interests are considered, it allows for further learning and intake of material. With success, students will improve the amount of vocabulary knowledge they acquire from their learning efforts. In this curriculum, students will clearly understand core content area vocabulary. Students are staying engaged and active in the learning process. They have transitioned from being passive learners to taking a proactive role in their education and appreciating the process (Payaprom & Payaprom, 2020). This

engagement raises the student's fulfillment of the educational atmosphere for the future and the world around them.

Leadership and Change

Gümüş et al. (2021) explain the variance between assigned and emergent leadership. Assigned leaders derive their authority from their company or organizational chain of command positions. The titles they are given carry weight and expectations with the employees they lead. With this type of leadership, the leader must demonstrate wisdom, critical thinking skills, and the ability to motivate employees to maintain a leadership position. However, emergent leaders arise from taking on tasks voluntarily, helping others complete their tasks better, and encouraging consensus among coworkers; this person is a developing leader.

My leadership philosophy is supported by Gümüş et al. (2021) in that this doctoral program taught me that my role as a leader would offer the grand challenge, create the environment for the challenge and invest in the individual to encourage successful leadership in others. I am responsible for inspiring groups of individuals with an achievable common goal.

In the educational setting, I am a leader committed to serving teachers, students, parents, and the community and sharing the school's and its district's vision. My philosophy on leadership is defined by the ability to work within an organization and seek their input on how to improve it. Influential leaders embody the traits that respect the needs of teachers and students to be influenced by the shared goals of the school based on the demographics therein. Gümüş et al. (2021) support my assertion by

explaining that leadership is a process that offers buy-in to groups of people to work towards a common goal or priority, all qualities I have gained in this doctoral process.

Reflection on the Importance of the Work

This doctoral project study has prepared me to become an effective educator and future school leader because of the research-based strategies and data-driven skills I studied and learned through my doctoral journey. As an educator, I have often taken the path of least resistance and taken creativity out of the learning process. However, as time progressed, I began to create an environment that fosters creativity in learning and allows students to explore their talents. I now understand the influence research-based strategies can have on the learning process. Implementing these strategies can help students discover their potential and learning styles. During this journey, I discovered the importance of using data to enhance instruction and make educated decisions about effective vocabulary strategies for ELLs. As I completed the doctoral study, I learned how to utilize research to foster awareness of a local school problem and develop solutions based on that research.

I have learned to be a transformative leader who creates a vision to facilitate and follow through with the change. As a transformational leader, I will work to enrich administrators' and core content teachers' motivation, morale, and job performance. I have learned how to connect the identity of the stakeholders to admonish groups to raise their interest in common goals. I have learned how to influence members to take more ownership of their work while accepting the strengths and weaknesses of group members and using those traits to enhance their performance when meeting the needs of ELLs. In the middle school setting, educators are consistently reflective and focused on student growth and ways to close achievement gaps through leadership and cultivate collaboration and best practices.

As the number of ELLs continues to grow across the country, it is essential to obtain effective instructional vocabulary strategies to stimulate ELL student achievement. School leaders can use professional development to increase teachers' skills in implementing effective vocabulary strategies, self-efficacy, organization, and cultural acceptance of varying backgrounds. The most challenging phase of this doctoral study was obtaining approval for the prospectus. I understand that the prospectus sets the foundation for the overall alignment of the entire study. I learned the importance of focusing on detail and aligning all sections. With the assistance of my committee members, I found clarity and cohesiveness in my writing in the data collection process. I was able to interview middle school core content area teachers who teach or have taught ELLs. I learned a great deal of understanding from the interviews and perspectives of teachers and their need for support of ELLs in the core content areas.

Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research

Implications for Social Change

This study provides findings regarding middle school core content teacher perspectives of vocabulary instructional practices of ELLs and how there is a need for more professional development. Therefore, the study's findings and professional development can promote positive social change and provide insights into how the local districts can meet the needs of ELLs who struggle with vocabulary in core content area classrooms. The implications for positive social change consist of a clearer understanding of what vocabulary instructional practices middle school core content teachers use and still need to support ELL learning and what strategies are observed to be associated with improved ELL academic vocabulary performance. The rising ELL student population makes it vital for school districts to generate positive social change by employing effective instructional vocabulary strategies (Hellman, 2018). Many ELL students live in households where English is not their first language. Over the last seven years, linguistic isolation has increased in schools, where ELL populations are highly concentrated in schools, and high levels of linguistic isolation highlight the dual challenges of teaching ELL students, which calls for more focused academic vocabulary strategies (de Jong & Gao, 2019).

Applications

Through the results of my data collection, I created a professional development that will benefit core content area teachers in their knowledge and skills of academic vocabulary strategies. The number of ELL students continues to grow locally and nationally. When employed to core teachers, this professional development can promote social change by helping teachers feel more confident in their capacity to instruct ELL students in the core content areas. The professional development created for this project study can help close the gaps among ELLs and other subgroups. The application of this professional development will provide an increase in self-efficacy among teachers as well as students. Teachers must strive to learn as much as possible to become effective educators. Applying this professional development can influence how educators are prepared with the knowledge and skills to help ELLs grow academically and socially. The journey of learning about adequate vocabulary instructional strategies to support the academic needs of diversity continues to be a catalyst for social change and improvement.

Directions for Future Research

In this study, I focused on middle school core content area teachers' perceptions of their ELL instructional practices. One recommendation for future research is the need for more in-depth perspectives from high school core content area teachers and non-core content area teachers. As I completed my data analysis, one of the themes appeared during the analysis of data that should be examined in more intensity. The study participants agreed that cultural awareness affects the methods used to teach ELLs at the middle school level. Another recommendation is that an intense study on the need for culturally responsive teaching can impact the middle school level. Florian and Beaton (2018) define cultural competence as having a conscious awareness of one's cultural individuality and perceptions about differences as well as the cultural diversity of others. For educators, it is the ability to learn, appreciate, celebrate, and build on all students' diverse cultures and community customs and practices. Understanding culture, gender, language abilities, and socioeconomic status can foster more effective educators by providing appropriate strategies that focus on vocabulary in the core content areas. Each of the recommendations stated above for further research will improve the expanding collection of research on teachers' vocabulary instructional practices of ELLs.

Conclusion

This study's aim was to investigate how classroom core subject teachers perceive their ability to implement specific instructional model strategies to support explicit academic vocabulary building for ELL students. As supported in research, there is a need for vocabulary instructional strategies that language arts and content area teachers must implement to build word consciousness of middle school ELL students (Brandes & McMaster, 2017).

A look at teacher preparation as it relates to ELLs has been the focus of this study. This research focuses on the needed changes in how ELL students are taught vocabulary in the content area and how they learn as it corresponds to teacher-implemented strategies. The increase in ELLs in the local district and the United States supports the need for a teacher capacity and effectiveness shift. The teacher responses in the doctoral project study suggest that there is a need for teachers to have substantial knowledge and effective vocabulary strategies to meet the demand of ELLs. This research shows that core content area teachers must be well versed in ELLs' academic language and cultural needs. The findings indicate an ongoing need for teacher education through detailed professional development that focuses on explicit strategies that increase ELLs' core content academic vocabulary. With the increase in varied demographics among students, it is crucial to have a toolbox of academic vocabulary strategies that will not only be beneficial to teachers but also foster the academic growth of ELLs. As a result, it is imperative that teachers, instructional coaches, and school leaders continue to work diligently to educate other teachers and administrators on the diverse population that

attend the local schools and truly provide strategies to assist the academic growth of the ELL population. It is essential to have an array of effective vocabulary strategies that will be simultaneously constructive for teachers and students. As leaders and educators continue to want the best for students, changes must be made to facilitate ways to teach ELLs and evolve how vocabulary strategies and responsiveness are implemented.

References

Abacioglu, C. S., Volman, M., & Fischer, A. H. (2020). Teachers' multicultural attitudes and perspective taking abilities as factors in culturally responsive teaching. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 90(3), 736-752.

https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12328

- Abbas, I. S. (2017). Effect of metacognition concerning: Identifying planning, monitoring, and evaluating on second language learning. *Journal of The Iraqi University*, 38(1), 576-596. <u>https://www.iasj.net/iasj?func=fulltext&aId=139891</u>
- Aka, N. (2020). Incidental learning of a grammatical feature from reading by Japanese learners of English as a foreign language. *System*, 91, 1-14.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2020.102250

Alberta Education. (2022). Instructional supports by level of English-language proficiency: Organizing for instruction.

https://www.learnalberta.ca/content/eslapb/organizing_for_instruction_instruction al_supports.html

 Alfano-Cooper, M. (2017). Understanding English language learners' social experiences in a United States suburban high school (Unpublished doctoral dissertation).
 Ashland University.
 https://etd.ohiolink.edu/!etd.send_file?accession=ashland1499443115557272&dis

position=inline

Al-Ghazo, A. (2016). The effect of explicit instruction of meta cognitive learning strategies on promoting Jordanian language learners' reading competence. *Journal*

of Education and Practice, 7(10), 170-177.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1099460.pdf

- Ali, H., Afzal, H., & Basri, R. (2021). Effect of sheltered instruction observation protocol
 [SIOP] model on eighth-grade students' academic achievement in English.
 Review of Applied Management and Social Sciences, 4(4), 909-919.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.47067/ramss.v4i4.196</u>
- Allen, M. (2017). *The Sage Encyclopedia of Communication Research Methods* (Vols. 14). SAGE Publications. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781483381411</u>
- Alshahrani, H. A. F. (2019). Strategies to improve English academic vocabulary and spelling in the classroom for ELL, ESL, EO and LD students. *International Journal of Modern Education Studies*, *3*(2), 65-81.

https://dergipark.org.tr/en/download/article-file/897655

- Ames, H., Glenton, C., & Lewin, S. (2019). Purposive sampling in a qualitative evidence synthesis: A worked example from a synthesis on parental perceptions of vaccination communication. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*. 19(26). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0665-4
- Ardasheva, Y., Newcomer, S. N., Firestone, J. B., & Lamb, R. L. (2019). Contributions of language-specific and metacognitive skills to science reading comprehension of middle school English learners. *Bilingual Research Journal*, 42(2), 150-163. https://doi.org/10.1080/15235882.2019.1597774

- Assarroudi, A., Nabavi, F. H., Armat, M., Ebadi, A., & Vaismoradi, M. (2018). Directed qualitative content analysis: The description and elaboration of its underpinning methods and data analysis process. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 23, 42-55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987117741667</u>
- August, D. (2018). Educating English language learners. *American Educator*. <u>https://www.aft.org/ae/fall2018/august</u>
- August, D., Artzi, L., Barr, C., & Francis, D. (2018). The moderating influence of instructional intensity and word type on the acquisition of academic vocabulary in young English language learners. *Reading and Writing*, *31*(4), 965-989.
 http://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-018-9821-1
- Babbie, E. (2017). Basics of social research. (7th ed.). Cengage Learning.
- Babinski, L. M., Amendum, S. J., Knotek, S. E., Sánchez, M., & Malone, P. (2018).
 Improving young English learners' language and literacy skills through teacher professional development: A randomized controlled trial. *American Educational Research Journal*, 55(1), 117-143. <u>http://doi.org/10.3102/0002831217732335</u>
- Baecher, L., Knoll, M., & Patti, J. (2016). Targeted observation of ELL instruction as a tool in the preparation of school leaders. *International Multilingual Research Journal*, 10(3), 201-216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19313152.2016.1185910</u>
- Becker, W. (1977). Teaching reading and language to the disadvantaged—What we have learned from field research. *Harvard Educational Review*, 47(4), 518-543. <u>https://doi.org/10.17763/haer.47.4.51431w6022u51015</u>

 Becker, W. C., & Engelmann, S. (1973a). Summary analyses of five-year data on achievement and teaching progress with 14,000 children in 20 projects. Technical Report. 73-2. Preliminary Report. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED096781.pdf</u>

Becker, W. C., & Engelmann, S. (1973b). Program description and 1973 outcome data: Engelmann-Becker follow through model.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED096780.pdf

- Becker, W., & Engelmann, S. (1978). Analysis of achievement data on six cohorts of low-income children from 20 school districts in the University of Oregon Direct Instruction Follow Through Model. (Technical Report 78-1). University of Oregon. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED145922.pdf</u>
- Becker, W. C., & Engelmann, S. (1976). Analysis of achievement data on six cohorts of low-income children from 20 school districts in the University of Oregon direct instruction follow through model.

https://darkwing.uoregon.edu/~adiep/ft/becker.htm

- Bereiter, C., & Engelmann, S. (1966). Observations on the use of direct instruction with young disadvantaged children. *Journal of School Psychology*, 4(3), 55-62. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-4405(66)90008-2
- Besterman, K., Williams, T., & Ernst, J. (2018). STEM teachers' preparedness for English language learners. *Journal of STEM Education*, 19(3).

file:///C:/Users/tnwaller/Downloads/elzaba,+STEM19-3+%232264RC%20(1).pdf

Bhattacharya, K. (2017). Fundamentals of qualitative research: A practical guide. Taylor& Francis.

Bilingua. (2022). 9 Total Physical Response activities for language learning. https://bilingua.io/9-total-physical-response-activities-for-language-learning

- Bloomberg, L. D., & Volpe, M. (2018). *Completing your qualitative dissertation: A road map from beginning to end.* SAGE Publications.
- Bowen, G. A. (2009). Document analysis as a qualitative research method. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 9(2), 27-40. <u>https://doi.org/10.3316/QRJ0902027</u>
- Braden, S., Wassell, B. A., Scantlebury, K., & Grover, A. (2016). Supporting language learners in science classrooms: Insights from middle-school English language learner students. *Language and Education*, *30*(5), 438-458.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/09500782.2015.1134566
- Brandes, D. R., & McMaster, K. L. (2017). A review of morphological analysis strategies on academic vocabulary outcomes with ELLs. *Insights into Learning Disabilities*, 14(1), 53-72. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1165732.pdf</u>
- Brooke, K. (2017). Understanding the unique instructional needs of English Language Learners. https://ncsoe.org/res_files/ELL_Pedagogy_Best_Practices.pdf
- Candela, A. G. (2019). Exploring the function of member checking. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(3), 619-628. <u>https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3726</u>
- Cannady, C. (2020). Preparing mainstream teachers to support English Language Learners. *School of Education Student Capstone Projects*. 455. https://digitalcommons.hamline.edu/hse_cp/455.
- Carnine, D., Granzin, A., & Becker, W. (1988). Direct instruction. *Alternative* educational delivery systems: Enhancing instructional options for all students,

http://cecs6200.pbworks.com/w/file/fetch/69251838/Short%20Description%20of %20direct%20instruction.pdf

Casey, J. E., Mireles, S. V., Viloria, M. D. L., & Garza, E. (2018). Literacy & arts integration in science: Engaging English language learners in a lesson on mixtures and solutions. *Texas Journal of Literacy Education*, 6(1), 51-69. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1183981.pdf

- Cassell, C., & Bishop, V. (2019). Qualitative data analysis: Exploring themes, metaphors and stories. *European Management Review*, 16(1), 195-207. https://doi.org/10.1111/emre.12176
- Castaneda, A. (2020). Factors that contribute to teachers' attitudes and beliefs toward teaching English language learner. *California State Polytechnic University*. <u>https://search.proquest.com/openview/0adcddc3530a1383d939272f9dce1fc0/1.pd</u> f?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y
- Chai, H., & Welz, V. L. (2019). Creating vocabularians: Sharing strategies to support social studies academic vocabulary instruction. *Ohio Social Studies Review*, 55(1), 6971. <u>https://ossr.scholasticahq.com/article/6971.pdf</u>
- Chen, C. H., Hung, H. T., & Yeh, H. C. (2021). Virtual reality in problem based learning contexts: Effects on the problem solving performance, vocabulary acquisition and motivation of English language learners. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 37(3), 851-860. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12528</u>

- Cho, J. Y., & Lee, E.-H. (2014). Reducing confusion about grounded theory and Qualitative content analysis: Similarities and differences. *The Qualitative Report*, 19(32), 1-20. <u>https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol19/iss32/2</u>
- Chou, I. C. (2018). Exploring Taiwanese students' perceptions of active explicit academic vocabulary Instruction: A case study in an English medium course. *International Journal of Education and Literacy Studies*, 6(1), 17-26. http://www.journals.aiac.org.au/index.php/IJELS/article/view/4180/3320
- Cirocki, A., & Farrell, T. S. (2019). Professional development of secondary school EFL teachers: Voices from Indonesia. *System*, 85, 102-111. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2019.102111
- Clayton County Schools. (2021). Explicit instruction. A systemic and systematic approach to effective instruction.

https://www.clayton.k12.ga.us/common/pages/UserFile.aspx?fileId=1910065

Coates, P. W. (2016). Clinical model highlighting the importance of innovative ESL strategies in early field placement classes teaching ELL middle level students. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, *6*(3), 445-451.

http://dx.doi.org/10.17507/tpls.0603.01

Collins, C. S., & Stockton, C. M. (2018). The central role of theory in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17(1), https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918797475.

Colorin Colorado. (2019). ELL Basics. https://www.colorincolorado.org/ell-basics

Correll, P. K. (2016). Teachers' preparation to teach English language learners (ELLs):An investigation of perceptions, preparation, and current practices. *Theses and Dissertations-Curriculum and Instruction*. 19.

https://uknowledge.uky.edu/edc_etds/19

- Cortés, S., García, M. R., De la Fuente, J., Martínez, R., & Lacasa, P. (2019). Young creators in open spaces: digital ethnography. *Digital Education Review*, 33. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1183655.pdf</u>
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Research design: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches.* Sage Publications
- Creswell, J., & Creswell, D. (2017). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches*. Sage Publications
- Crosson, A. C., McKeown, M. G., Moore, D. W., & Ye, F. (2019a). Extending the bounds of morphology instruction: Teaching Latin roots facilitates academic word learning for English learner adolescents. *Reading and Writing*, 32(3), 689-727. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-018-9885-y
- Crosson, A. C., McKeown, M. G., Robbins, K. P., & Brown, K. J. (2019b). Key elements of robust academic vocabulary instruction for emergent bilingual adolescents. *Language, speech, and hearing services in schools*, 50(4), 493-505. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/2019_LSHSS-VOIA-18-0127</u>
- Crosson, A. C., & Moore, D. (2017). When to take up roots: The effects of morphology instruction for middle school and high school English learners. *Reading Psychology*, 38, 262-288. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02702711.2016.1263699</u>

Davis, D. S., Huang, B., & Yi, T. (2017). Making sense of science texts: A mixed □ methods examination of predictors and processes of multiple □ text comprehension. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 52(2), 227-252. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.162</u>

de Jong, E., & Gao, J. (2019). Taking a multilingual stance: A continuum of practices. *MinneTESOL Journal*, 35(1). <u>https://minnetesoljournal.org/wpcontent/uploads/2019/05/de-Jong-Gao-Taking-a-Multilingual-Stance_-A-Continuum-of-Practices.pdf</u>

- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semistructured interviewing in primary care research: A balance of relationship and rigour. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2). http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057
- Denne, M. (2017). The effects of pre-teaching academic vocabulary, along with peer collaboration, on student comprehension of social studies texts at St. Cloud Tech High School. https://sophia.stkate.edu/maed/228
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2013). The landscape of qualitative research: The discipline and practice of qualitative research (4th ed.) Sage Publications. <u>http://www.sagepub.com/sites/default/files/upm-binaries/17670_Chapter1.pdf</u>
- D'Haem, J., & Griswold, P. (2017). Teacher educators' and student teachers' beliefs about preparation for working with families including those from diverse socioeconomic and cultural backgrounds. *Education and Urban Society*, 49(1), 81-109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124516630602</u>

Duguay, A., Kenyon, D., Haynes, E., August, D., & Yanosky, T. (2016). Measuring teachers' knowledge of academic vocabulary development and instruction. *Reading and Writing*, 29(2), 321-347. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-015-9598-4</u>

Dunne, C. (2011). The place of the literature review in grounded theory research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology 2*(14), 111–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2010.494930</u>

Education Commission of the States. (2020, November). What ELL training, if any, is required of general classroom teachers?

http://ecs.force.com/mbdata/mbquestNB2?rep=ELL1415

- Elleman, A. M., Oslund, E. L., Griffin, N. M., & Myers, K. E. (2019). A review of middle school vocabulary interventions: Five research-based recommendations for practice. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 50*(4), 477-492.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/2019_LSHSS-VOIA-18-0145</u>
- Elliott, V. (2018). Thinking about the coding process in qualitative data analysis. *The Qualitative Report, 23*(11), 2850-2861.

https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol23/iss11/14

Engelmann, S. (1980). Direct instruction. Prentice Hall.

Engelmann, S. (1999). The benefits of direct instruction: Affirmative action for at-risk students. *Educational Leadership*, 57(1), 77-79. http://people.uncw.edu/kozloffm/benefitsdi.pdf Engelmann, S. (2015). *Basic philosophy of direct instruction*. National Institute for Direct Instruction.

https://www.nifdi.org/15/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=52&I temid=27

- Engelmann, S., Becker, W. C., Carnine, D., & Gersten, R. (1988). The direct instruction follow through model: Design and outcomes. *Education and treatment of Children*, 11(4), 303-317. <u>https://andymatuschak.org/files/1988-Engelmann.pdf</u>
- Erickson, F. (2018). The SAGE handbook of qualitative research: A history of qualitative inquiry in social and educational research. Sage Publications.
 https://kwaracails.edu.ng/library/resources/[Norman_K._Denzin,_Yvonna_S._Lin_coln]_The_SAGE_Han(z-lib.org).pdf
- Etikan, I., Musa, S. A., & Alkassim, R. S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5, 1-4. http://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11

Faraj, I. R., & Kiliç, M. (2018). The relationship between language learning strategies and vocabulary size among Iraqi EFL university students. *Journal on English Language Teaching*, 8(4), 21-35. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1208683.pdf</u>

Ferlazzo, L. (2022). The six most effective instructional strategies for ELLs—According to teachers. Education Week.

https://www.edweek.org/teaching-learning/opinion-the-six-most-effectiveinstructional-strategies-for-ells-according-to-teachers/2021/06

- Ferlazzo, L., & Sypnieski, K. H. (2018). *The ELL teacher's toolbox: Hundreds of practical ideas to support your students*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Florian, L., & Beaton, M. (2018). Inclusive pedagogy in action: getting it right for every child. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 22(8), 870-884. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2017.1412513
- Fober, K. M. (2020). *English language learning professional development for K-12 teachers*. Northwestern College.

https://nwcommons.nwciowa.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1235&context=edu cation_masters

Freeman, L. (2017). The importance of explicitly teaching language and literacy to English language learners. *Practical Literacy*, 22(2), 37-39. <u>https://searchebscohostcom.lopes.idm.oclc.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ehh&AN=122939605&site=e</u>

<u>ds-live&scope=site</u>.

- Fullan, M., & Kirtman, L. (2019). Coherent school leadership: Forging clarity from complexity. ASCD.
- Gallagher, M. A., Barber, A. T., Beck, J. S., & Buehl, M. M. (2019). Academic vocabulary: Explicit and incidental instruction for students of diverse language backgrounds. *Reading & Writing Quarterly*, 35(2), 84–102. https://doi.org/10.1080/10573569.2018.1510796
Garner, J., & Allan, T. (2019). Learner perceptions of a "guess and check" approach to academic vocabulary learning. *Language Research Bulletin*, (33), 1-9. <u>http://id.nii.ac.jp/1130/00004532/</u>

Garza, T., Huerta, M., Lara-Alecio, R., Irby, B. J., & Tong, F. (2017). Pedagogical differences during a science and language intervention for English language learners. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2017.1302913

- Giatsou, E. (2019). Teacher preparation and English language learners: The negotiation of teaching identities in communities of practice. *Dissertations*. 3335. *Miami University*. <u>https://ecommons.luc.edu/luc_diss/3335</u>.
- Gibson, C. (2016). Bridging English language learner achievement gaps through effective academic vocabulary development strategies. *English Language Teaching*, 9(9), 134-138. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5539/elt.v9n9p134</u>
- Giles, A., & Yazan, B. (2019). ESL and content teachers' collaboration. *Indonesian Journal of English Language Teaching*, 14(1), 1-18. http://dx.doi.org/10.25170%2Fijelt.v14i1.1342
- George Mason University. (2021). Qualitative research and tools. *University Libraries*. <u>https://library.gmu.edu/tutorials/quantitativequalitative</u>

Green, J. (2019). Teacher leadership and communication among diverse colleagues: Why cultural competence counts. *Journal of School Leadership*, 29(3), 210-228. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1052684619836822</u> Guillén, F., & Elida, D. (2019). Qualitative research: Hermeneutical phenomenological method. *Journal of Educational Psychology-Propositos y Representaciones*, 7(1), 217-229. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.20511/pyr2019.v7n1.267</u>

Guler, N. (2020). Preparing to teach English language learners: effect of online courses in changing mainstream teachers' perceptions of English language learners.
 Innovation in Language Learning and Teaching, *14*(1), 83-96.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17501229.2018.1494736</u>

Gümüş, S., Arar, K., & Oplatka, I. (2021). Review of international research on school leadership for social justice, equity and diversity. *Journal of Educational Administration and History*, *53*(1), 81-99.
https://doi.org/10.1080/00220620.2020.1862767

Gunn, A. A., Bennett, S. V., Alley, K. M., Barrera, E. S. IV, Cantrell, S. C., Moore, L., & Welsh, J. L. (2021). Revisiting culturally responsive teaching practices for early childhood preservice teachers. *Journal of Early Childhood Teacher Education*, 42(3), 265-280. https://doi.org/10.1080/10901027.2020.1735586

Haager, D., & Osipova, A. V. (2017). Enhancing academic instruction for adolescent
English language learners with or at risk for learning disabilities. *Insights into Learning Disabilities, 14*(1), 7-26. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1165739.pdf</u>

Hackathorn, J., Solomon, E. D., Blankmeyer, K. L., Tennial, R. E., & Garczynski, A. M. (2011). Learning by doing: An empirical study of active teaching techniques. *Journal of Effective Teaching*, *11*(2), 40-54.
https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1092139.pdf

Hammond, L., & Moore, W. M. (2018). Teachers taking up explicit instruction: The impact of a professional development and directive instructional coaching model. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 43(7).

http://dx.doi.org/10.14221/ajte.2018v43n7.7

Hellman, A. B. (2018). Teaching/developing academic vocabulary at diverse linguistic levels. *The TESOL Encyclopedia of English Language Teaching*, 1-11. <u>http://doi.org/10.1002/9781118784235.eelt0739</u>

Hennink, M., Hutter, I., & Bailey, A. (2020). *Qualitative research methods*. SAGE Publications Limited.

Herzog, C., Handke, C., & Hitters, E. (2019). Analyzing talk and text II: Thematic analysis. *In the Palgrave handbook of methods for media policy research*. 385-401. <u>https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Christian-Herzog-6/publication/321197933_Analyzing_Talk_and_Text_II_Thematic_Analysis/links/5cc2ae89a6fdcc1d49af1754/Analyzing-Talk-and-Text-II-Thematic-Analysis.pdf
http://doi.org/10. 10.1007/978-3-030-16065-4_22
</u>

Hilgenkamp, J. A. (2019). How does pre-teaching of academic vocabulary and the use of technology increase student learning in science? *Theses, Student Research, and Creative Activity: Department of Teaching, Learning and Teacher Education.*110. https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/teachlearnstudent/110

Hill, M. P. (2017). A qualitative, exploratory case study of self-reported influences affecting the decision of homeless sexual-minority students to leave home.
Electronic Theses and Dissertations. 143. <u>https://scholarworks.sfasu.edu/etds/143</u>

- Hong, J., Pi, Z., & Yang, J. (2018). Learning declarative and procedural knowledge via video lectures: Cognitive load and learning effectiveness. *Innovations in Education and Teaching International*, 55(1), 74-81.
 http://doi.org/10.1080/14703297.2016.1237371
- Hughes, C. A., Morris, J. R., Therrien, W. J., & Benson, S. K. (2017). Explicit instruction: Historical and contemporary contexts. *Learning Disabilities Research* & *Practice 32*(3), 140–148. <u>https://doi-org.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1111/ldrp.12142</u>
- Hughes, C. A., Riccomini, P. J., & Morris, J. R. (2018). Use explicit instruction: High leverage practices for inclusive classrooms, 215-236. Routledge.

Hunt, M., & Feng, J. (2016). Improving the academic vocabulary of English Language
 Learners through direct academic vocabulary instruction. *Presentation at Chinese American Educational Research and Development Association Annual Conference, April 7-8, 2016.* Washington, D.C.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED565637.pdf

- Iqbal, S. A., & Komal, S. A. (2017). Analyzing the effectiveness of academic vocabulary knowledge scale on learning and enhancing academic vocabulary through extensive reading. *English Language Teaching*, 10(9), 36-48. <u>http://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v10n9p36</u>
- Irby, B. J., Lara-Alecio, R., Tong, F., Guerrero, C., Sutton-Jones, K. L., & Abdelrahman, N. (2018). Implementation of research-based ESL strategies with lower grade middle school ELLs in the science classroom: Findings from an Experimental Study. *TESL-EJ*, 22(1), n1. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1178995.pdf</u>

Jackson, J., & Durham, A. (2016). Put your walls to work: Planning and using interactive word walls to support science and reading instruction. *Science and Children*, 54(3), 78. <u>http://www.thesciencetoolkit.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/Put-</u> your-walls-to-work-Science-and-Children.pdf

 Jackson, J., Wise, E., Zurbuchen, K., & Gardner, N. (2017). Interactive word walls: Visual scaffolds that transform academic vocabulary instruction. *Science Scope*, 40(9), 72. <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/2892/5e59e3ce10e9510d62d07995cd3008b8b396</u>

.pdf

Jerotijević-Tišma, D. (2016). Improving listening comprehension skills relying on metacognitive strategies-focus on academic vocabulary and specific 12 instruction. *Zbornik Instituta za pedagoska istrazivanja, 48*(2), 301-320. https://doi.org/10.2298/ZIPI1602301J

Johnston, L. E., Mercer, S. H., & Geres-Smith, R. (2018). Incorporating academic vocabulary instruction in individual reading fluency interventions with English Language Learners. *Canadian Journal of School Psychology*, 33(1), 63-81. https://doi.org/10.1177/0829573516658855

Kaplan, E. (2019). 6 essential strategies for teaching English Language Learners. Edutopia. <u>https://www.edutopia.org/article/6-essential-strategies-teaching-english-language-learners</u>

- Kapofu, L. K. (2021). Researching the sociocultural: Modelling a responsive focused ethnography. *Methodological Innovations*, 14(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/2059799120987785
- Kenny, D. T. (1980). Direct Instruction: An overview of theory and practice. Journal of the Association of Special Education Teachers, 15(12), 17-22.
 https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Dianna_Kenny/publication/230602063_Direct_instruction_An_overview_of_theory_and_practice/links/553595840cf268fd00_15de0b.pdf
- Keshavarz, M. H., & Taherian, P. (2018). The effect of explicit instruction of collocations on EFL Learners' language proficiency. *Hacettepe University Journal of Education, 33*(4), 987–1001. <u>https://doi-</u> org.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.16986/HUJE.2018038632
- Kessler, J., Wentworth, L., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2018). The *internationals network* for public schools: Educating our immigrant English language learners well. <u>https://edpolicy.stanford.edu/sites/default/files/International%20Network%20v2.p</u> <u>df</u>
- Kim, H. Y., Hsin, L. B., & Snow, C. E. (2018). Reducing academic inequalities for English language learners: Variation in experimental effects of Word Generation in high-poverty schools. *International Journal of Bilingual Education and Bilingualism, 24*(7) 1024-1042. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13670050.2018.1535574</u>
- Kirby, J. R., & Bowers, P. N. (2018). Morphological processing and literacy development. Routledge.

Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part
4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1),
120-124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092</u>

Koura, A. A., & Zahran, F. A. (2017). The impact of sheltered instruction observation protocol model on student teachers' teaching skills and self-efficacy. *Journal of Language Teaching and Research*, 8(4), 704-714.

http://dx.doi.org/10.17507/jltr.0804.09

Krashen, S. D. (1982). *Principles and practices in second language acquisition*. Pergamon Press.

http://www.sdkrashen.com/content/books/principles_and_practice.pdf

- Krashen, S. (1991). Sheltered subject matter teaching. *Cross Currents, 18*(2), 183-189. <u>http://sdkrashen.com/content/articles/sheltered_subject_matter_teaching(1).pdf</u>
- Krashen, S. D. (2015). Remarks on language acquisition and literacy: Language acquisition and teaching, free reading, "test-prep" and its consequences, the use of the first language, writing, and the great native speaker teacher debate. *Indonesian JELT*, 10(1), 1-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.25170/ijelt.v10i1.1505</u>
- Laufer, B. (2016). From word parts to full texts: Searching for effective methods of academic vocabulary learning. *Language Teacher Research*, 21(1), 5-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362168816683118</u>
- Lems, K., Miller, L. D., & Soro, T. M. (2017). *Building literacy with English language learners: Insights from linguistics.* Guilford Publications.

- Le-Thi, D., Rodgers, M. P. H., & Pellicer-Sánchez, A. (2017). Teaching formulaic sequences in an English- Language class: The effects of explicit instruction versus coursebook instruction. *TESL Canada Journal*, 34(3), 111–139. <u>https://doiorg.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.18806/tesl.v34i3.1276</u>
- Levitt, H. M., Bamberg, M., Creswell, J. W., Frost, D. M., Josselson, R., & Suárez-Orozco, C. (2018). Journal article reporting standards for qualitative primary, qualitative meta-analytic, and mixed methods research in psychology: The APA publications and communications board task force report. *American Psychologist*, 73(1), 26-46. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/amp0000151</u>
- Lindahl, K. (2019). Teacher language awareness development and its implications for new educators. *The New Educator*, 15(2), 85-100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1547688X.2018.1526356</u>
- Linneberg, M. S., & Korsgaard, S. (2019). Coding qualitative data: A synthesis guiding the novice., *Qualitative Research Journal*, 19(3). 259-270. https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-12-2018-0012
- Lowell, R., Pender, K. W., & Binder, K. S. (2020). Impact of informative context's meaning consistency during incidental vocabulary acquisition. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 55(4), 679-697. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.295</u>

Lumbreras, R. (2016). Investigating educational experiences of ELL educators: Searching for instructional insights to promote ELL students' learning [Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Texas A & M University]. https://oaktrust.library.tamu.edu/bitstream/handle/1969.1/156921/LUMBRERAS-RECORDOFSTUDY-2016.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

- Male, T. (2016). Analyzing qualitative data. In I. Palaiologou, D. Needham and T. Male (Eds). *Doing research in education: Theory and practice* (pp.177-19) SAGE. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Trevor-Male-2/publication/301788881_Analysing_Qualitative_Data/links/572b0fda08aef5d48d
- Malone, J. (2018). Incidental academic vocabulary learning in SLA: Effects of frequency, aural, enhancement, and working memory. *Studies in Second Language Acquisition*, 40(3), 651-675. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0272263117000341
- Master, B., Loeb, S., Whitney, C., & Wyckoff, J. (2016). Different skills? Identifying differentially effective teachers of English language learners. *The Elementary School Journal*, 117(2), 261-284. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/688871</u>
- McGrath, C., Palmgren, P. J., & Liljedahl, M. (2019). Twelve tips for conducting qualitative research interviews. *Medical teacher*, 41(9), 1002-1006. http://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2018.1497149
- Merriam, S. (2014). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Middle School 55. (2018). Data Report. https://salempublicschools.non
- Middle School 55. (2019a). Data Report. https://salempublicschools.non
- Middle School 55. (2019b). School Report Card. https://falconmiddleschool.non

Mitchell, C. (2019). Overlooked: How teacher training falls short for English-learners and students with IEPs. *Education Week*, 38(33), 17.
<u>https://www.edweek.org/teaching-learning/overlooked-how-teacher-training-falls-short-for-english-learners-and-students-with-ieps/2019/05</u>

Moody, S., Hu, X., Kuo, L. J., Jouhar, M., Xu, Z., & Lee, S. (2018). Vocabulary instruction: A critical analysis of theories, research, and practice. *Education Sciences*, 8(4), 180. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci8040180</u>

Montero, M. K. (Ed.). (2019). It takes a school village: A review of teaching reading to English learners, Grades 6–12: A framework for improving achievement in the content areas. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 62(5), 587-590.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/jaal.946

Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part
3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 9-18. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091

Mustafa, C. (2021). Qualitative method used in researching the judiciary: Quality assurance steps to enhance the validity and reliability of the findings. *Qualitative Report*, *26*(1), 176-185. <u>https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2021.4319</u>

Nassaji, H. (2020). Good qualitative research. Language Teaching Research, 24(4), 427-

431. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362168820941288

National Education Association, [NEA]. (2019). http://www.nea.org/home/30998.htm

National Center of Education Statistics. (2020). English language learners in public

schools. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator_cgf.asp

National Council of Teachers of English. (2020). English Language Learners.

https://ncte.org/resources/english-language-learners/

Newton, J. (2018). Teachers as learners: The impact of teachers' morphological awareness on academic vocabulary instruction. *Education Sciences*, 8(4), 161. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci8040161</u>

Nimehchisalem, V. (2018). Exploring research methods in language learning-teaching studies. *Advances in Language and Literary Studies*, *9*(6), 27-33.

http://dx.doi.org/10.7575/aiac.alls.v.9n.6p.27

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1204697.pdf

- Nisbet, D. L., & Tindall, E. R. (2015). A framework for explicit academic vocabulary instruction with English language learners. *Kappa Delta Pi Record*, *51*(2), 75-80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00228958.2015.1023141</u>
- Noor, K. (2008). A case study: A strategic research methodology. *American Journal of Applied Sciences*, 5(11), 1602-1604.

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Khairul-Baharein-Mohd-

Noor/publication/26517241_Case_Study_A_Strategic_Research_Methodology/li

nks/5462bd800cf2c0c6aec1b83e/Case-Study-A-Strategic-Research-

Methodology.pdf

North Carolina Department of Public Instruction. (2019). School report cards.

https://www.dpi.nc.gov/data-reports/school-report-cards

North Carolina Justice Center. (2019). Education without barriers: Addressing the needs of NC's English learning students.

https://www.ncjustice.org/publications/education-without-barriers-addressing-theneeds-of-ncs-english-learning-students/

- Northern Illinois Center for Teaching and Learning. (2012). *Instructional scaffolding to improve learning*. <u>https://www.niu.edu/citl/resources/guides/instructional-guide/instructional-scaffolding-to-improve-learning.shtml</u>
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *16*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847</u>
- Ntinda, K. (2019). Narrative research. *Handbook of Research Methods in Health Social Sciences*, 411-423. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-2779-6_79-1</u>
- Nushi, M., & Jenabzadeh, H. (2016). Teaching and learning academic vocabulary. *California Linguistic Notes*, 40(2), 51-70. <u>https://english.fullerton.edu/publications/cln/clncurrentissue/CLN_Nushi_Acade</u> mic%20Vocabulary%20.pdf
- Office of English Language Acquisition. (2020). *Our nation's English learners*. <u>https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/oela/index.html</u>
- Oliver, R., & Azkarai, A. (2017). Review of child second language acquisition (SLA):
 Examining theories and research. *Annual Review of Applied Linguistics*, 37, 62-76. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0267190517000058
- O'Reilly, M. F., Renzaglia, A., Hutchins, M., Koterba-Buss, L., Clayton, M., Halle, J. W.,
 & Izen, C. (1992). Teaching systematic instruction competencies to special education student teachers: An applied behavioral supervision model. *Journal of*

the Association for Persons with Severe Handicaps, 17(2), 104-111.

https://doi.org/10.1177/154079699201700205

Ostayan, J. R. (2016). Early literacy skills and English Language Learners: An analysis of students in a Title I school. *Reading Psychology*, *36*(4), 1-22.

http://doi:10.1080/02702711.2016.1159634

- Paradis, J. (2016). The development of English as a second language with and without specific language impairment: Clinical implications. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 59(1), 171-182.
 https://doi.org/10.1044/2015 JSLHR-L-15-0008
- Payaprom, S., & Payaprom, Y. (2020). Identifying learning styles of language learners: A useful step in moving towards the learner-centred approach. *Journal of Language* and Linguistic Studies, 16(1), 59-72. <u>https://doi.org/10.17263/jlls.712646</u>
- Peercy, M. M. (2018). Mainstream and ESL teacher collaboration. The TESOL Encyclopedia of English Language Teaching, 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118784235.eelt0889
- Peercy, M. M., Sharkey, J., Baecher, L., Motha, S., & Varghese, M. (2019). Exploring TESOL teacher educators as learners and reflective scholars: A shared narrative inquiry. *TESOL Journal*, 10(4), e482. https://doi.org/10.1002/tesj.482

Popova, A., Evans, D. K., Breeding, M. E., & Arancibia, V. (2022). Teacher professional development around the world: The gap between evidence and practice. *The World Bank Research Observer*, *37*(1), 107-136.

https://doi.org/10.1093/wbro/lkab006

Protacio, M. S. (2017). A case study exploring the reading engagement of middle grades English learners. *RMLE Online*, 40(3), 1-17.

https://doi.org/10.1080/19404476.2017.1280586

- Putra, H. E. (2016). Effective strategies for teaching academic vocabulary to young learners. *Ta'dib*, 14(2), 181-188. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.31958/jt.v14i2.209</u>
- Puzio, K., Colby, G. T., & Algeo-Nichols, D. (2020). Differentiated literacy instruction: boondoggle or best practice? *Review of Educational Research*, 90(4), 459-498. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654320933536
- Quintero, D., & Hansen, M. (2017, June 5). *English learners and the growing need for qualified teachers*. <u>https://www.brookings.edu/blog/brown-center-</u> chalkboard/2017/06/02/english-learners-and-the-growing-need-for-qualifiedteachers/</u>
- Qutoshi, S. B. (2018). Phenomenology: A philosophy and method of inquiry. *Journal of Education and Educational Development*, 5(1), 215-222. http://dx.doi.org/10.22555/joeed.v5i1.2154
- Rahimi, M., & Allahyari, A. (2019). Effects of multimedia learning combined with strategy-based instruction on academic vocabulary learning and strategy use. *SAGE Open*, 9(2), <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244019844081</u>
- Ramalho, R., Adams, P., Huggard, P., & Hoare, K. (2015). Literature review and constructivist grounded theory methodology. *Qualitative Social Research*. 16(3). <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-16.3.2313</u>

Rana, J., Dilshad, S., & Ahsan, M. A. (2021). *Ethical issues in research*. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Juwel-

Rana/publication/351341664_Ethical_Issues_in_Research/links/62a62349c660ab 61f8774ec4/Ethical-Issues-in-Research.pdf

Rashid, Y., Rashid, A., Warraich, M. A., Sabir, S. S., & Waseem, A. (2019). Case study method: A step-by-step guide for business researchers. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919862424</u>

 Rasinski, T., Padak, N., & Newton, J. (2017). The roots of comprehension. *Literacy*, 74(5), 41-45.
 <u>https://www.wagnerhigh.net/ourpages/auto/2015/2/2/52792377/THE%20ROOTS</u>
 <u>%200F%20COMPREHENSION.pdf</u>

Ravitch, S. M., & Carl, N. M. (2019). *Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual, theoretical, and methodological* (5th ed). SAGE.

Renaissance. (2020). *Renaissance ed words: English language learner (ELL)*. https://www.renaissance.com/edwords/english-language-learner/

Richards-Tutor, C., Aceves, T., & Reese, L. (2016). *Evidenced-based practices for English Learners*. Ceedar Center. <u>www.ceedar.org</u>

Rimbey, M., & Kucan, L. (2018). Implementation as a dynamic process: A case study of teacher sensemaking of a cross-content area academic vocabulary intervention. *Journal of Education*, *198*(3), 185-201. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022057418811124

- Ritchie, R. B. (2020). English Language Learners in general education classrooms: Ohio educators' preparedness and perceptions. Miami University. http://orcid.org/0000-0001-5084-2650
- Rizzuto, K. C. (2017). Teachers' perceptions of ELL students: Do their attitudes shape their instruction? *The Teacher Educator*, 52(3), 182-202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08878730.2017.1296912</u>
- Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11(1), 25-41. http://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Roesler, M. K. (2022). Supporting English Language Learners: Preparing content area teachers to promote academic achievement among culturally and linguistically diverse learner populations. *Culminating Experience Projects, 122*. <u>https://scholarworks.gvsu.edu/gradprojects/122</u>
- Rose, J., & Johnson, C. W. (2020). Contextualizing reliability and validity in qualitative research: toward more rigorous and trustworthy qualitative social science in leisure research. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 1-20.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2020.1722042

Rosenshine, B. V. (1986). Synthesis of research on explicit teaching. *Educational leadership*, *43*(7), 60-69.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED332259.pdf#page=162

Rosenshine, B., & Stevens, R. (1986). Teaching functions. *Handbook of Research on Teaching*, *3*, 376-391.

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Barak_Rosenshine/publication/230853009 Teaching_Functions/links/564a1ca208ae295f644fb513/Teaching-Functions.pdf

Rule, P., & John, V. M. (2015). A necessary dialogue. International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 14(4), 6-9. http://doi:10.1177/1609406915611575

Rutberg, S., & Bouikidis, C. D. (2018). Focusing on the fundamentals: A simplistic differentiation between qualitative and quantitative research. *Nephrology Nursing Journal*, 45(2), 209-213. <u>http://www.homeworkgain.com/wp-</u> content/uploads/edd/2019/09/20181009143525article2.pdf

Sa'd, S. H. T., & Rajabi, F. (2018). Teaching and learning vocabulary: What English language learners perceive to be effective and ineffective strategies. *Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal*, 8(1), 139-163.

https://doi.org/10.26529/cepsj.492

practices-2018.pdf

Sandoval, M. M. (2018). Teaching academic vocabulary in math classrooms to a diverse group of English language learners: An exploration of best teaching practices.
 (Doctoral dissertation, Otterbein University).
 <a href="https://www.otterbein.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/capstone-project-miriam-sandoval-teaching-academic-vocabulary-an-exploration-of-best-teaching-sandoval-teaching-academic-vocabulary-an-exploration-of-best-teaching-

Schall-Leckrone, L. (2018). Coursework to classroom: Learning to scaffold instruction for bilingual learners. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 45(1), 31-56. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1167873.pdf Schneider, E., & Ming, K. (2019). Masters of morphology: Explicit multisensory structured metacognitive language strategies to foster adolescent learners' content academic vocabulary. *The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas*, 92(3), 101-111.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00098655.2019.1608144

Scott, C., & Medaugh, M. (2017). Axial coding. *The International Encyclopedia of Communication Research Methods*, 1-2.

https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118901731.iecrm0012

- Sebele-Mpofu, F. Y. (2020). Saturation controversy in qualitative research: Complexities and underlying assumptions. A literature review. *Cogent Social Sciences*, 6(1), 1838706. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311886.2020.1838706
- Sechelski, A. N., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2019). A call for enhancing saturation at the qualitative data analysis stage via the use of multiple qualitative data analysis approaches. *The Qualitative Report, 24*(4), 795-821.
 https://www.proquest.com/openview/75f63f6fce344916cbf69c4abf3e7c68/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=55152
- Shim, J. M. (2019). Towards a more nuance understanding of white teachers of English learners: Increasing capacity and capabilities. *Journal of Language Teaching and Research*, 10(1), 1-10. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.17507/jltr.1001.01</u>
- Shim, J. M., & Shur, A. (2018). Learning from ELLs' perspectives: Mismatch between ELL and teacher perspectives on ELL learning experiences. *English Language Teaching*, 11(1), 21-32. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1162483.pdf

http://doi.org/:10.5539/elt.v11n1p21

Sibanda, J., & Baxen, J. (2016). Determining ESL learners' academic vocabulary needs from a textbook corpus: challenges and prospects. *Southern African Linguistics and Applied Language Studies*, *34*(1), 57-70.

https://doi.org/10.2989/16073614.2016.1159521

- Siebert, D. K., Draper, R. J., Barney, D., Broomhead, P., Grierson, S., Jensen, A. P., Neilson, J., Nokes, J., Shumway, S., & Wimmer, J. (2016). Characteristics of literacy instruction that support reform in content area classrooms. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 60(1), 25-33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jaal.526</u>
- Singer, N. (2022). Cartoons as the incidental vocabulary acquisition tool for English Language Learners. Arab World English Journal, 13(1) 330- 341. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.24093/awej/vol13no1.21</u>
- Sivell, S., Prout, H., Hopewell-Kelly, N., Baillie, J., Byrne, A., Edwards, M., Harrop, E., Noble, S., Sampson, C., & Nelson, A. (2019). Considerations and recommendations for conducting qualitative research interviews with palliative and end-of-life care patients in the home setting: a consensus paper. *BMJ Supportive & Palliative care*, 9(1), 14.

https://spcare.bmj.com/content/bmjspcare/9/1/e14.full.pdf

- Smith, J. (2016). *Experiencing phenomenology: An introduction*. Routledge.
- Soland, J., & Sandilos, L. E. (2021). English language learners, self-efficacy, and the achievement gap: Understanding the relationship between academic and social-

emotional growth. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk 26*(1), 20-44. https://doi.org/10.1080/10824669.2020.1787171

Stahl, N. A., & King, J. R. (2020). Expanding approaches for research: Understanding and using trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of Developmental Education*, 44(1), 26-29. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1320570.pdf</u>

State of Victoria. (2022). The language experience approach.

https://www.education.vic.gov.au/school/teachers/teachingresources/discipline/en glish/literacy/readingviewing/Pages/teachingpraclangexp.aspx

- Staveley, Z. (2021). Why phonics instruction is not enough for English learners. *EdSource*. <u>https://edsource.org/2021/why-phonics-instruction-is-not-enough-for-english-learners/661487</u>
- Stockard, J., Wood, T., Coughlin, C., & Khoury, C. R. (2018). The effectiveness of direct instruction curricula: A meta-analysis of a half century of research. *Review of Educational Research*, 88, 479-507.

https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/8a1c/ebf60594a1551f4690c8247d667acbd4df6a. pdf

- Stoller, F. L., & Grabe, W. (2018). Innovative strategies for academic vocabulary development. *The TESOL Encyclopedia of English Language Teaching*, 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118784235.eelt0750</u>
- Suárez, M. D. M., & Gesa, F. (2019). Learning academic vocabulary with the support of sustained exposure to captioned video: Do proficiency and aptitude make a

difference? *The Language Learning Journal*, 47(4), 497-517. https://doi.org/10.1080/09571736.2019.1617768

- Sutton, J., & Austin, Z. (2015). Qualitative research: Data collection, analysis, and management. *The Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 68(3), 226. <u>https://doi:10.4212/cjhp.v68i3.1456</u>
- Swanson, E., Vaughn, S., & Wexler, J. (2017). Enhancing adolescents' comprehension of text by building academic vocabulary knowledge. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 50(2), 84–94. <u>https://doi-org.lopes.idm.oclc.org/10.1177/0040059917720777</u>
- Tang, E., Chung, E., Li, E., & Yeung, S. (2016). Online independent academic
 vocabulary learning experience of Hong Kong University students. *IAFOR Journal of Education*, 4(1), 13-29. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1100577.pdf
- Tardy, C. M., Buck, R. H., Jacobson, B., LaMance, R., Pawlowski, M., Slinkard, J. R., & Vogel, S. M. (2022). "It's complicated and nuanced": Teaching genre awareness in English for general academic purposes. *Journal of English for Academic Purposes*, *57*, 101117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeap.2022.101117</u>
- Texas Center for Learning Disabilities. (2020). *Five research-based ways to teach vocabulary*. <u>https://www.texasldcenter.org/teachers-corner/five-research-based-</u> <u>ways-to-teach-vocabulary</u>
- Thompson, S. (2019). *Perspectives on English language learner programs: A case study*. Linwood University.

https://search.proquest.com/openview/c3923907e92d23668ca29be7e6d22e77/1?p q-origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y

- Tong, F., Luo, W., Irby, B. J., Lara-Alecio, R., & Rivera, H. (2017). Investigating the impact of professional development on teachers' instructional time and English learners' language development: A multilevel cross-classified approach. *International Journal of Bilingual Education and Bilingualism*, 20(3), 292-313. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13670050.2015.1051509</u>
- Truong, N. (2017). Next generation learning models for English Language learners: Promising practices and considerations for teaching and learning. iNacol. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED590503.pdf
- Turkan, S., & de Jong, E. J. (2018). An exploration of preservice teachers' reasoning about teaching mathematics to English language learners. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 45(2), 37-60. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1175525.pdf</u>
- Uccelli, P., & Phillips Galloway, E. (2017). Academic language across content areas: Lessons from an innovative assessment and from students' reflections about language. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 60(4), 395-404. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaal.553
- United States Census Bureau. (2020). Statistics in schools.

https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/sis.html

University of Florida. (2018). Vocabulary strategies across stages of proficiency. College of education, school of teaching and learning.
 https://education.ufl.edu/stellar/files/2018/10/Project-STELLAR-ESOL-Oral-Language-Strategies-Across-Stages-of-Proficiency-1.pdf

Uribe, S. N. (2019). Curriculum-Based Readers Theatre as an Approach to Literacy and Content Area Instruction for English Language Learners. *Reading & Writing Quarterly*, 35(3), 243-260. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10573569.2018.1526726</u>

Valley, V. (2019). The Impact of Math Vocabulary on Conceptual Understanding for ELLs. An Online Journal for Teacher Research, 21(2), 7. https://doi.org/10.4148/2470-6353.1278

- Vasileiou, K., Barnett, J., Thorpe, S., & Young, T. (2018). Characterising and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 18(1), 1-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0594-7</u>
- Vaughn, S., Martinez, L. R., Wanzek, J., Roberts, G., Swanson, E., & Fall, A. M. (2017). Improving content knowledge and comprehension for English language learners: Findings from a randomized control trial. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *109*(1), 22-34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000069</u>
- Vintan, A., & Gallagher, T. L. (2019). Collaboration to support ESL education: Complexities of the integrated model. *TESL Canada Journal*, 36(2), 68-90. <u>https://doi.org/10.18806/tesl.v36i2.1314</u>
- Viswanathan, U. M., & Sultana, A. S. (2019). VLS model for content words: An experimental study on engineering students in India. *GEMA Online Journal of Language Studies, 19*(1). <u>http://doi.org/10.17576/gema-2019-1901-04</u>

- Wallace, H. (2021). Planning in professional learning teams: building trust, common language and deeper understanding of pedagogy. *The Australian Educational Researcher*, 48(2), 377-395. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13384-020-00394-9</u>
- Walqui, A., & Heritage, M. (2018). Meaningful classroom talk: Supporting English learners' oral language development. *American Educator*, 42(3), 18. <u>https://www.aft.org/ae/fall2018/walqui_heritage</u>
- Wa-Mbaleka, S., Zubkov, P., Saban, G. A., & Rosario, A. (2019). Exploring researcherparticipant relationship in qualitative research. Adventist University Panel
 Discussion. <u>https://wcqr.info/wp-</u>

content/uploads/2019/09/Panel4_WCQR2019_Exploring_Researcher-

Participant_Relationship_AQRA.pdf

- Warren, A. (2018). Exploring experienced teachers' constructions of culturally and linguistically diverse students in an online class. *International Journal of Multicultural Education*, 20(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.18251/ijme.v20i2.1586</u>
- Wei, L. (2021). Teaching academic vocabulary to English language learners (ELLs). Theory and Practice in Language Studies, 11(12), 1507-1514.

https://doi.org/10.17507/tpls.1112.01

WIDA Consortium. (2019). The world-class instructional design and assessment: ACCESS for ELLs 2.0 summative assessment.

https://www.wida.us/assessment/ACCESS20.aspx#scoring

Williams, R. T., Pringle, R. M., & Kilgore, K. L. (2019). A practitioner's inquiry into vocabulary building strategies for native Spanish speaking ELLs in inquiry-based science. Research in Science Education, 49(4), 989-1000.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11165-019-9848-6

- Wolff, B., Mahoney, F., Lohiniva, A. L., & Corkum, M. (2018). Collecting and analyzing qualitative data. *Center for Disease Control*. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/eis/field-epi-</u> <u>manual/chapters/Qualitative-Data.html</u>
- Wright, T. S., & Cervetti, G. N. (2017). A systematic review of the research on academic vocabulary instruction that impacts text comprehension. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 52(2), 203-226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.163</u>
- Wyche, S. (2020). African American students' experiences of stress from discrimination in online doctoral education. (Doctoral Dissertation, Walden University). <u>https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=9624&context=diss</u> <u>ertations</u>
- Yin, R. (2018). Case study research: Design and methods (6th ed.). Sage publications.
- Yoon, B. (2021). English language learners' language and literacy development: A brief synopsis of major theoretical orientations for middle school teachers. *Middle School Journal*, 52(1), 23-29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00940771.2020.1840270</u>
- Zhang, Y. (2017). Supporting English language learners in social studies: Languagefocused strategies. *The Social Studies*, 108(5), 204-209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00377996.2017.1354808i</u>
- Zhang, L., Carter, R. A., Jr., Zhang, J., Hunt, T. L., Emerling, C. R., Yang, S., & Xu, F.(2021). Teacher perceptions of effective professional development: Insights for

design. Professional Development in Education, 1-14.

https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2021.1879236

Appendix A: The Project

A Three-Day Workshop to Provide Content Area Teachers with Research-Based Strategies to Support ELLs

To determine an appropriate time for this professional development series, several factors will be taken into consideration. First, there will be a review of the district and school calendars to determine the availability of dates throughout the upcoming school term. Several events will be added to the school's schedule for this coming school year, which means there may be limitations as to when the professional development series will take place. Upon meeting with my principal to discuss scheduling for the PD, I will propose three options:

- Dedicate three consecutive days for teacher training during a remote learning week.
- 2. Allot one day each month for teachers to attend the training sessions.
- Create and upload the PDs to Canvas, allowing teachers to complete each session as self-paced training.

Of the three options, number three is the least effective in terms of the goals, objectives, and delivery of the information that will be passed along during this professional development. I acknowledge that self-paced learning is often utilized by individuals who desire the flexibility of being able to learn when it is convenient (Kocdar et al., 2018). Many school districts, including the district in my study, have opted for selfpaced learning formats to decrease teacher's time out of the classroom, allow teachers to create their own learning environment as opposed to having their learning environment created for them, and to give educators resources that are easily accessible whenever they have the need to sharpen their skills and knowledge. However, self-paced learning is successful only when the learner is able to regulate their own learning and motivate themselves to complete assigned tasks without minimal supervision and support (Kocdar et al., 2018).

I will suggest to the principal that option number three not be given the same level of consideration as the other two options. I will explain to the principal that my suggestion is rooted in research that suggests self-paced learners are not experiencing a great deal of success because they lack the ability to organize and complete online learning assignments (Kocdar et al., 2018). This series of professional development workshops aims to give teachers hands-on training from facilitators who have knowledge and experience working with children who are English language learners. Although selfpaced courses have been utilized quite frequently, especially during the recent school closures, a self-paced model does not seem appropriate. Supporting English language learners is currently a critical issue in education. Teachers need the benefit of learning new material and having someone who can help them navigate through their questions and concerns relevant to the topics being discussed. Using a self-paced model will not give them that direct contact peace, which may even limit the teacher's understanding of why certain strategies are being used. Teachers factor in the need for teachers who are learning something for the first time to have the intimacy of connecting with other colleagues as well as experts in the field. As such, my series of professional development workshop trainings have been created for face-to-face learning opportunities.

Once a decision is made regarding the workshop's schedules, I will reserve a meeting room at the local school district's professional development center. My next activity will be to submit a request to have the workshop advertised on the school district's main webpage. In addition, I will create a flier so that the workshop information can be emailed to teachers through their employee emails. Teachers will be able to register for the event through a link that will be included on the flier as well as included in the advertisement posted on the district's webpage.

Day 1: Language Acquisition

Goal: Attendees will create action plans for ELLs based on best practices for language acquisition.

Objectives: To identify gaps in the teaching and learning experiences in ELL education and design an action plan to address the gaps that have been identified.

162

Session 1: The Science of Reading

8:00-8:15

Brief introduction of the facilitator to include background and relevant experiences.

9:00-10:00

Krashen's Theory of Second Language

Factors that influence the acquisition of language.

8:15-9:00

Brain-based processes involved in language acquisition.

10:25-11:25

How the science of reading connects to ELLs . *Handouts: The Reading Brain The Reading Rope Prezi presentation of reading development.

1:45-2:45 pm

Common instructional mistakes that impact an ELLs literacy development.

Break Times 10:00-10:25 am 12:15-1:30 pm (lunch)

11:30-12:15

Acquisition.

Prezi presentation of reading development.

*Handouts: Prezi presentation

2:45-3:30

Wrap up & reflection

3:30-3:35 pm

Session Survey



Brain-Based Functions for Reading

Adapted from The Reading Brain





Beginning Literacy

A child's journey towards literacy often begins in their early-formative years. Many children will be exposed to some aspects of reading before they enter kindergarten. This includes:

- using symbols or signs to express ideas.
- babbling or using short utterances.
- attempting to read a story in their own "language."

Sample Prezi Slide



EARLY INTERMEDIATE LITERACY

A significant part of literacy is embedded in oral language. It is important to understand the processes students may use to develop oral language skills. Having knowledge of processes related to oral language development will help teachers support their students, particularly students with linguistic diversities or difficulties (Bears, 2022).

Sample Prezi Slide

Gaps in Literacy Skills Development for ELLs



Sample Prezi Slide

Activities for Day 1 will include:

- Whole group discussion of factors that influence the acquisition of language. Krashen's Theory of Second Language Acquisition.
- 2. Discussion of how language and learning is impacted by development in different areas of the reading brain.
- 3. Learning about the various strands of reading development that are important as ELLs develop English-language literacy skills. Strands are background knowledge, vocabulary, language structures, verbal reasoning, literacy knowledge, phonological awareness, decoding, and sight word recognition.

- Identify common instructional mistakes that impact an ELLs literacy development.
- The handout of "The Reading Brain" is essentially a drawing of the brain, the various cortexes, and their functions.
- Handout of the Reading Rope is an infographic of a rope that shows the strands that make up skilled reading and how those strands are interwoven.
- Prezi presentation of reading development includes: (a)individual slides for each cortex of The Reading Brain.
- Attendees will be asked to complete a session survey at the end of the workshop. (Created in *Canva.com*)

Session Survey

Date: ____ / ____ / ____

Session name:



167

Please circle a number at the end of each question.					
Question	q i Not				Extremely
How satisfied are you with the information provided?	1	2	3	4	5
How would you rate the quality of the handouts?	1	2	3	4	5
How well did the facilitator present the information?	1	2	3	4	5
How beneficial was this workshop in terms of increasing your knowledge?	1	2	3	4	5
How likely are you to use the information/strategies/resources in your lesson plans?	1	2	3	4	5

Professional Development History

This is my first ELL workshop.

This is my 2-3 ELL workshop.

This is my 4-5 ELL workshop. I have attended 6 or more ELL workshops.

Questions/Comments/Suggestions:

Day 2: Identifying Research-Based Vocabulary Instruction for ELLs

Goal: To introduce research-based instructional strategies that will support the

development of vocabulary skills in the core content areas.

Objectives: Attendees will write a lesson plan to include differentiation for ELLs.



• Handouts to include 2 example lesson plan templates and one blank lesson plan template. The first lesson plan template will be a basic lesson that includes all of the basic components of the curriculum and instruction from one of the core content subject areas. The example will be used to show the foundation for a
lesson that does not include opportunities for differentiation, diversified learning, or individualization.

- The second version of the lesson plan will be more extensive, including research-based differentiated resources and strategies that support the teaching and learning of vocabulary for ELLs. In groups of 3-4 people, attendees will analyze the components and new additions that have been added to the lesson plan from Day 1. They will discuss the importance of the new additions as well as ways in which they intend to approach literacy instruction for students who are not English language speakers at home. Each group will share at least one idea from their discussion.
- The third version of the lesson plan will be a blank template that attendees will use to create their own core content subject area lesson plan that includes all of the necessary components to support ELLs in the classroom. The second lesson plan template can be used as a model for attendees as they are completing this activity.
- A fourth handout will be a graphic chart outlining the five levels of language proficiency for ELLs (WIDA, 2020).
- Attendees will be asked to complete a session survey at the end of the workshop.

LESSON PLAN TEMPLATE		
GRADE	SUBJECT	DATE
торіс		UNIT
	ESSON GOALS	
MATERIALS/EQUIPMENT NEEDED	LEA	ARNING OBJECTIVES
ACTIVITY		
ASSESSMENT		

Performance Definitions for the Levels of English Language Proficiency in Grades K-12

At the given level of English language proficiency, English language learners will process, understand, produce, or use:

6 Reaching	 specialized or technical language reflective of the content areas at grade level a variety of sentence lengths of varying linguistic complexity in extended oral or written discourse as required by the specified grade level oral or written communication in English comparable to English-proficient peers
5 Bridging	 specialized or technical language of the content areas a variety of sentence lengths of varying linguistic complexity in extended oral or written discourse, including stories, essays, or reports oral or written language approaching comparability to that of English-proficient peers when presented with grade-level material
4 Expanding	 specific and some technical language of the content areas a variety of sentence lengths of varying linguistic complexity in oral discourse or multiple, related sentences, or paragraphs oral or written language with minimal phonological, syntactic, or semantic errors that do not impede the overall meaning of the communication when presented with oral or written connected discourse with sensory, graphic, or interactive support
3 Developing	 general and some specific language of the content areas expanded sentences in oral interaction or written paragraphs oral or written language with phonological, syntactic, or semantic errors that may impede the communication, but retain much of its meaning, when presented with oral or written, narrative, or expository descriptions with sensory, graphic, or interactive support
2 Beginning	general language related to the content areas phrases or short sentences oral or written language with phonological, syntactic, or semantic errors that often impede the meaning of the communication when presented with one- to multiple-step commands, directions, questions, or a series of statements with sensory, graphic, or interactive support
1 Entering	 pictorial or graphic representation of the language of the content areas words, phrases, or chunks of language when presented with one-step commands, directions, WH-, choice, or yes/no questions, or statements with sensory, graphic, or interactive support oral language with phonological, syntactic, or semantic erron that often impede meaning when presented with basic oral commands, direct questions, or simple statements with sensory, graphic, or interactive support

Session Survey lesson plans?

Professional Development History

Questions/Comments/Suggestions:

This is my first ELL workshop. This is my 2-3 ELL workshop. This is my 4-5 ELL workshop.

I have attended 6 or more ELL workshops.

			-0		
Date: / / Session name:					
Please circle a	number at th	ne end of eac	h question.		
Question	J I Not				i b Extremely
How satisfied are you with the information provided?	1	2	3	4	5
How would you rate the quality of the handouts?	1	2	3	4	5
How well did the facilitator present the information?	1	2	3	4	5
How beneficial was this workshop in terms of increasing your knowledge?	1	2	3	4	5
How likely are you to use the information/strategies/resources in your	1	2	3	4	5

Day 3: Modeling of Research-Based Vocabulary Instruction for ELLs

Goal: To introduce research-based instructional strategies that will support the

development of vocabulary skills in the core content areas for ELLs.

Objectives: Attendees will identify and use research-based strategies to support the

vocabulary instruction of ELLs.

Session 3: Modeling of Research-Based Vocabulary Instruction for ELLs 8:15-9:15 8:00-8:30 · Whole group: talk about ways in which previously learned strategies can be Recap of previous session. **Break Times** Discuss lesson plan feedback from previous session. embedded into any content area. 10:00-10:25 am · Identify discuss strategies that have been determined as effective for ELLs. 12:15-1:30 pm 10:25-11:25 9:15-10:00 Video examples of: Video 1-effective Materials Needed • Teaching Role play-modeling of effective and Video 2-ineffective teaching teaching instruction for ELLs. Facilitator strategies. Teacher-Student Role play-modeling of • Debrief videos. effective teaching strategies for students who have little-to-know English proficiency. Teacher & volunteer (attendee). 11:30-12:15 12:15-12:30 · Attendees will work in pairs to Wrap up & reflection practice role playing, taking turns Survey being the teacher and student. • Debrief the activity.



Video 1: Effective Instructional Strategies for ELLs

Video 2: Ineffective Instructional Strategies for ELLs



Day 3 Activities:

- Discuss additional factors to be considered when identifying appropriate vocabulary instruction for ELLs.
- 2. Identify appropriate strategies that have been identified as effective when providing ELLs vocabulary instruction.
- 3. Additional resources (e.g., technology, intervention programs) that will help facilitate the vocabulary instruction of ELLs.
- 4. What appropriate vocabulary instruction should look like for ELLs?
- Participants will watch a 5-minute video about strategies that teachers in other areas of the country have found effective for supporting ELLs.
- Participants will view a 5-minute video featuring two case study students, one who received explicit vocabulary instruction and one who did not, and how their academic experiences impacted their outcomes.
- During instructional modeling and role-playing activities, participants will note any positive and negative behaviors the teacher and student exhibited after each activity. The observation worksheet will be distributed before the activities begin.
- Attendees will be asked to complete a session survey at the end of the workshop.

Session Survey anguage Date: ____ / ____ / ____ Session name: earni Please circle a number at the end of each question. 1 Question Not Extremely How satisfied are you with the 5 1 2 3 4 information provided? How would you rate the quality of the 1 2 3 4 5 handouts? How well did the facilitator present the 1 2 5 3 4 information? How beneficial was this workshop in 1 2 3 4 5 terms of increasing your knowledge? How likely are you to use the 2 3 4 5 1 information/strategies/resources in your lesson plans? **Professional Development Questions/Comments/Suggestions:** History This is my first ELL workshop. This is my 2-3 ELL workshop.

This is my 4-5 ELL workshop.
I have attended 6 or more ELL

workshops.

175

References

Burns, M. (2017). *The reading brain: How your brain helps you read, and why it matters*. <u>https://www.scilearn.com/the-reading-</u>

brain/#:~:text=The%20temporal%20lobe%20is%20responsible,grammar%20in% 20our%20native%20language.

- de Oliveira, L. C., & Westerlund, R. (2021). A functional approach to language development for dual language learners. *Journal of English Learner Education*, *12*(1), 2. https://stars.library.ucf.edu/jele/vol12/iss1/2/
- Duke, N. K., & Cartwright, K. B. (2021). The science of reading progresses: Communicating advances beyond the simple view of reading. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 56, 25-S44.

https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.411

Kocdar, S., Karadeniz, A., Bozkurt, A., & Buyuk, K. (2018). Measuring self-regulation in self-paced open and distance learning environments. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 19(1).

https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v19i1.3255

Westerlund, R., & Besser, S. (2021). Making language visible in content area classrooms using the WIDA English language development standards framework. *MinneTESOL Journal, 37*(1). <u>https://minnetesoljournal.org/wp-</u> content/uploads/2021/05/Westerlund-Besser_Making-language-visible-incontent-area-classrooms-using-the-WIDA-English-language-developmentstandards-framework-1.pdf WIDA. (2020). Can do descriptors by language domain, proficiency level, and key use of language. <u>https://wida.wisc.edu/sites/default/files/resource/CanDo-Booklet-Gr-6-</u>

<u>8</u>

Appendix B: Interview Protocol

Exploring Core Subject Area Vocabulary Instructional Strategies for Middle School English Language Learners

Teacher Interview Questions

1. Self-assessing, how would you rate your knowledge of evidence-based

instructional strategies for English Language Learners?

- **Developing** (having little knowledge)
- **Proficient** (a solid foundation with some implementation in my classroom)
- Accomplished (above average foundation and consistent implementation in my classroom)
- **Distinguished** (superior knowledge and working with teachers outside my classroom with implementation in their classrooms)
- 2. In the last five years, in how many PD workshops or trainings have you attended that focused on best teaching practices to support ELL vocabulary development? How were they structured?
- 3. Do you utilize any strategies, resources, and/or instructional practices that are specific to ELL learners?
 - a. How do you choose any of the specific strategies, resources, and instructional practices that you use with your ELL students?
- 4. In the last year, how many research-based articles have you read that focused on best testing practices to support ELL vocabulary development?
 - a. Of the _____ researched based articles you've read, which practices worked best for the ELs you serve?

- 5. Based on student data (EOGs, EOCs, benchmarks), how would you describe the average growth of your ELL students in the area of ______ (your content area)?
 - Less than non-ELLs
 - Same/Equal to Non-ELs
 - Higher than non-ELLs
- 6. How do you assess the effectiveness of the instruction or strategies that you provide for ELs?
- 7. How would you rate your confidence-level when providing vocabulary instruction and strategies to EL students?
 - **Developing** (having little knowledge)
 - **Proficient** (a solid foundation with some implementation in my classroom)
 - Accomplished (above average foundation and consistent implementation in my classroom)
 - **Distinguished** (superior knowledge and working with teachers outside my classroom with implementation in their classrooms)
- 8. What is your belief when it comes to whether all students have the ability to grow or demonstrate proficiency regardless of factors such as language barriers?
- 9. If an ELL student does not demonstrate growth in vocabulary acquisition, what additional support (e.g., interventions) is provided?
- 10. What supplemental resources, including technology-based resources, do you use to help facilitate vocabulary instruction for ELLs?

- 11. What data do you use to assess ELLs' progress throughout the school year?
- 12. How do you collaborate with the ELL teacher or other ELL professionals to ensure that the resources and strategies that you use are effective for ELL students?